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12 WAYS WE ARE GROWING RESPONSIBLY A

1.

GROWING THROUGH SELECTIVE ACQUISITIONS

2.

FOCUSING ON STRATEGIC BASINS

3.

EMPHASIZING THE CLEANEST-BURNING COALS

4.

BUILDING WORLD-CLASS OPERATIONS

5.

SEIZING OPPORTUNITIES

6.

INVESTING IN OUR PEOPLE

/.

STRENGTHENING QUR PQSITION

8.

EMPLOYING LEADING-EDGE TECHNOLOGIES

9.

* TAPPING QUR EXTENSIVE RESERVE BASE

10.

MAINTAINING A STRONG BALANCE SHEET

11.

MEETING OUR CUSTOMERS’ CHANGING NEEDS

12.

ACTING AS CAREFUL STEWARDS OF THE LAND
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Dear Fellow Shareholders,

As the theme of this report suggests, Arch Coal
grew in every conceivable way during 2004.

We boosted production via strategic acquisitions. We expanded our
coal holdings through reserve additions. We initiated the development
of new mines in key basins. We achieved growth in operating margins,

income from aperations and earnings per share.

Moreover, your company grew in all the right ways. We stuck to what we do best—mining and marketing
coal. We built on our leadership positions in highly strategic basins. We maintained our focus on the clean-
est-burning, lowest-sulfur coals. We grew strategically, opportunistically and—ahave all—respansibly.

Arch pursued such growth only after much preparation. Since completing several major acquisitions
in 1998, we had pursued a disciplined strategy of shoring up our balance sheet and enhancing our
financial flexibility. Thus, when opportunity arose—as it did repeatedly in 2004-—we were ready.

Our timing was impeccable. After climbing throughout 2004, coal prices in many basins ended the
year at near historic highs—and the outlook for U.S. and world coal markets is exceptionally strong.
With each passing year, it becomes increasingly clear that we will build the economy of the future on
coal-fired electricity. I'm pleased to report that—after the excellent progress of 2004—your company

is better positioned than ever to thrive in such an exciting environment.

GETTING STRONGER ON ALL FRONTS

By the time 2004 came ta a close, we had committed—ar announced plans to commit-—3§1.2 billion of
capital on growth initiatives. We expanded our reserve base by 30%, boosted pro-forma sales volume
by approximately 40% via consolidating acquisitions, and faid the foundation for future organic growth.
We also created a wealth of acquisition-related operating synergies that we expect to take to the
bottom line in 2005 and thereafter. We are confident that the initiatives launched during 2004 will
deliver attractive returns and tremendous value for our shareholders in the years ahead.

POWDER RIVER BASIN. In August, Arch augmented its already strong position in the PRB via two
major transactians. First, we acquired North Rochelle, the seventh largest U.S. coal mine, and inte-
grated it into our world-class Black Thunder operation. Then, a month later, we added 719 million tons
of high-quality, super-compliance coal contiguous to Black Thunder with our winning bid for the Little
Thunder federal coal lease. These initiatives greatly strengthen our competitive position in the {argest
and fastest-growing U.S. coal supply region. With its exceptional geology and ultra-low-sulfur coal, the
PRB is poised to capture the lion’s share of new demand growth over the next decade. In 2004, more than
20 U.S. power plants tried PRB coal for the first time—and many more are likely to follow suit in 2005.




“We are confident that the initiatives
launched during 2004 will deliver attractive
returns and tremendous value for our
shareholders in the years ahead.”

WESTERN BITUMINOUS REGION. in July, we solidi-
fied our status as the No. 1 producer in the Western
Bituminous Region through the acquisition of the remain-
ing 35% of our Utah subsidiary. Then, in early 2005, we
announced plans to develop a new mine— with targeted
production of three million tons annuaily—on what we
believe to be one of the region’s best untapped longwall
reserves. Coal from the Western Bituminous Region, once
a niche regional supply source, Is increasingly prized as a
high-Btu, low-sulfur substitute for supply-constrained
Eastern coal. As a result, demand for such coal has
boomed and spot pricing has doubled over the course
of the past year.

CENTRAL APPALACHIA. In 2004, Arch announced
plans to develop a five-million-ton-per-year tangwall
mine in southern West Virginia—the biggest expansion

project in the region in recent years. The new mine

complex, Mountain Laurel, is being established on one

of the few large, undeveloped reserve blocks remaining in Steven F. Leer, President and CEQ

Eastern low-sulfur coal fields. When the mine ramps up to

full production in 2007, we expect it to be the centerpiece of our Central Appalachian operations and one
of the lowest-cost mines in the region. Nowhere are market dynamics stronger than in Central Appalachia,
the principal source of low-sulfur coal east of the Mississippi River. Coal production in the region has
fallen precipitously in recent years as producers grapple with reserve degradation, regulatory challenges

and a labor shortage. As a result, demand is outpacing supply—and prices have soared in response.

MAINTAINING OUR SOUND FINANCIAL FOOTING

Even after our dramatic growth, we ended the year with one of the industry’s strongest balance sheets.
We had built a solid foundation for expansion before the year began and continued to lay that ground-
work into the first half of 2004. We paid down debt, divested non-strategic assets and built a large cash
position. We supplemented those efforts in October 2004 with the sale of 7.2 million shares of stock that
helped us maintain a balanced capital structure, We also completed a $250 miliion bond offering to
replace our non-public debt.

At year end, our ratio of debt to total capitalization stood at 48%—a very manageable level for us,
and 36 percentage points fower than it was just four years ago. Moreover, we lacked in an effective and
highly competitive interest rate of 6.75% on virtually aff of our debt through 2013. We are confident that
we have the financial flexibility to fund our current organic growth plans and to capitalize on any new

opportunities that arise.
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FOCUSING ON IMPROVING RETURNS
But expanding our size and scope was just one of the many achievements of 2004. Of equal importance,
we made good progress across the whole range of financial metrics. Revenues increased 33%, income
from operatians climbed 341%, and EPS rose nine-fold to $1.78. We view these improved results as
a first step in what vve expect to be a sustained period of upward momentum in our financial results.
We expect revenues and margins to increase significantly as the vast majority of our planned produc-
tion resets to market-based pricing over the course of the next three years.

Arch is taking a patient approach in today’s market environment. We have yet to price 60 to 70 million
tons of our planned production in 2008, and 110 to 120 miliion tons of our planned production in 2007.

We expect to have ample opportunity to layer in attractive new commitments in future periods.

CAPITALIZING ON A STRONG INDUSTRY OUTLOOK
Coal has tremendous advantages as a fue! source for electric generation—including its abundance,
reliability and attractive econamics. Those advantages have become even mare pronounced in recent
years as other key fuel sources for electric generation have encountered daunting barriers to future
growth. U.S. nuclear plants are operating at near capacity levels. Natural gas production in North America
appears to be approaching a plateau. The canstruction of new hydroelectric dams is unlikely.

In response, power generators are taking steps to facilitate greater coal use. With the tripling
in the price of natural gas in recent years, utilities already have a powerful economic incentive 1o
maximize output at their existing coal-fired plants. In addition, plans are under way to add as much as
65,000 megawatts of new and ultra-clean coal-fired capacity over the course of the next few years—
additions that would increase the installed base by 20%.

Near-term market fundamentals are equally attractive. In 2004, coal consumption outstripped produc-
tion for the second year in a row and stockpiles at U.S. power plants ended the year roughly 15% below
the five-year average. Furthermore, a resurgence in global steel markets has greatly boosted requirements

for metallurgical coal. Coal producers are struggling to keep pace with this robust demand equation.

PURSUING EXCELLENCE IN SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENTAL STEWARDSHIP
While Arch accomplished great things in 2004, | am most proud of our achievements in safety and
environmental stewardship. We have an unwavering commitment to excellence in these areas that
pervades everything we do.

That commitment was very much on display in 2004. We had a record safety performance, with
1.4 lost-time incidents per 200,000 employee-hours worked. That's a nearly 30% improvement over 2003,
and more than two times better than the industry average. While we are pleased with these results,
we are not satisfied. We remain focused on our ultimate goal: an entirely injury-free workplace.

In recent years, Arch has won dozens of national and state awards for reclamation excellence—
and 2004 was no exception. In September, we were honared by the U.S. Department of the Interior with
the Director's Award —the nation's highest tribute for land reclamation. We also claimed the state of

West Virginia’s top reclamation honor for the fourth year in a row. These accolades are indicative of




our ongoing efforts to mine the {and in the most environmentally responsible manner—and to restore it

to a natural and productive state once mining is complete.

OFFERING A UNIQUE VALUE PROPOSITION

At the writing of this letter, Arch’s stock price had increased by 43% since the beginning of 2004.

Last year was the fifth year in a row that our stock outperformed the S&P 500. We believe there

is potential for even greater value creation in the years ahead. {n many respects, we have built the
ideal company for the current market environment. Arch is positioned to capitalize on each of the core
market opportunities in the U.S. coal sector.

1 DEMAND GROWTH: We are a leading producer in the Powder River Basin, which is likely to be
the epicenter of coal industry growth.

2 SUPPLY PRESSURES: \We have high-quality assets in Central Appalachia, where demand
exceeds supply and pricing has been most robust,

3 LOW-SULFUR PREMIUMS: We are a producer of low-sulfur coal exclusively, and thus are
positioned to capitalize on the quadrupling in the price of sulfur dioxide emission allowances
since the beginning of 2003.

4 METALLURGICAL DEMAND: Nearly one quarter of our Central Appalachian production has the
flexibility to move into metallurgical markets, where tremendous premiums are being earned.

Taken together, these stories add up to a compelling investment proposition.

CREATING SHAREHOLDER VALUE
We believe the U.S. coal industry is at the outset of a long and sustained run. Coal is back in favor with
U.S. power generators, a new generation of coal plants is moving forward, and revoiutionary new com-
bustion technologies are drawing closer to reality. With our innovative workforce, world-class mines
and highly strategic reserve base, Arch Coal is uniquely positioned to excel in such an environment.
Looking ahead, we will focus on what | consider to be the three essential components for success
in the U.S. coal industry: safe operations, environmental stewardship and strong financial performance.
If we can excel in all three areas, | am confident that we will deliver tremendous value for you—our
shareholders. The next few years should be exciting ones for your company. We will continue to strive

every day to earn your support, your investment and your trust.

Sincerely,

 STiow P ey

Steven F. Leer
President and CEQ
February 25, 2005
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EMPHASIZING THE CLEANEST-BURNING COALS

At Arch Coal, we produce only the cleanest-burning coals America has to offer.
That strategic focus is proving to be highly advantageous. In the past two years, the
premium that lower-sulfur coals receive in the marketplace has climbed markedly in response to
a quadrupling in the price of sulfur dioxide emission allowances. Equally significant is the fact
that the use of low-sulfur coals has helped U.S. power generators reduce targeted emissions by

50% over the past three decades, despite a tripling in coal use over that same time frame.
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STRENGTHENING OUR POSITION IN THE FASTEST-GROWING U.S. SUPPLY REGION

Arch further augmented its leading position in the Powder River Basin in 2004,
With the addition of the North Rochelle mine and the Little Thunder federal coal lease,
Arch expanded its PRB reserves by more than 900 million tons and its productive capacity

by more than 25 million tons. Demand for PRB coal has doubled in the past 12 years, and
we expect this rapid growth to continue.

EMPLOYING LEADING-EDGE TECHNOLOGIES

Arch excels at running large, modern mines employing highly
. advanced mining technologies. That focus enables us to run some

of the industry's lowest-cost operations. Arch is a leader in the use of
GPS-enhanced truck dispatch systems, nuclear coal analyzers, highly

efficient longwall mining equipment, and some of the largest land-
based machines in the world.
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MAINTAINING A STRONG BALANCE SHEET

Even after our aggressive growth
initiatives in 2004, we boast one of the

industry’s strongest balance sheets.
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Central Appalachia

Through our geographically diverse portfolio of mines, we are umquely
eguipped to supply our power generation customers

ACTING AS CAREFUL STEWARDS OF THE LAND

Year after year, Arch helps pioneer advances in the
science of land reclamation, During 2004, Arch was honored by the U.S.
Department of the Interior with the Director’s Award, the nation’s most prestigious

award for land reclamation. Since 2000, Arch has planted 1.2 million trees and

created more than 200 acres of new wetlands on its reclaimed Eastern mine sites.




2008 FACTS & FIGURES

Eﬂ@@@fﬁ@m @]@{m@@? {U.5. electricity generation in billions of kilowatt-hours)

BI85
a0 Y ha 1S aenmmas mom oleeified e 11560, @,
2004

1954

U.S. energy resources

B 95% coal T 3% NATURAL GAS B 2% csupcon

Coal is America’s most
abundant domestic fuel source. (source: E1a)

Fuel shares for electric generation

B 50% coal O 20% wuciear W 18% NaTuRAL GAS
O3 7% wvoroeiecraic W 3% mrenewastes (1 2% cRupe oit

Coal is the dominant fuel source for electric
generation in the United States. (source: 1a)

Wewy plemt announeEmERSS (i gigswats)
U.S. power generaies have apneuneed plons

@OO @ %[ﬁ o lboost coal-fired capasity by more then
N U U 0 200N lcomingl.es S FRR

Current Capacity Expanded Capacity * Assumes all 65 gigawatts of new capacity will be completed




2rod @@uﬁ@”@ Tons per employee-shift (roiling 12-month average at 9/30/04)

395 Arelh s one of dhe neiens most produsiiye
GOl [ImInG) COTPEINIES:  (Sowes HRPs)
367 100
- 43
76
34

Arch Coal Industry Average Arch Coal Industry Average Arch Coal Industry Average

Posdar Gves Basp ' GowelAmekeity | Oesem Blominoss

B e — ot L o o e e et

L‘ampeting fuel pr ices {average U.S. generating costs from Jan-0ct 2004 in dollars per megawatt-hour)

Coal is the logical source for additional electric power
due to its compelling economics. (Sourco: Piatts)

$ 14. 09 COAL $47 . 7 8 CRUDE OIL $5 1. 97 NATURAL GAS

Vast low-sulfur reserves

The vast majority of Arch’s 3.7 billion tons of reserves meet
the most stringent standards of the Clean Air Act without the
application of expensive scrubbing technology.

—

W 75% compuiance " 16% Low SULFUR M 9% nicH suLruR

Compliance: < 1.2 Ibs. of S0,/mm Btu Low sulfur: 1.21-1.59 Ibs. of S0,/mm Biy High sulfur: > 1.6 ibs. of §0,/mm Bty

I mi& i ) P S Iy 7
nmn Areh’s saffsty resord ranks
- “ 1 o] A o
-\ A8 s e bestin dhe fadvsigh. -

Industry Arch Coal *Source: MSHA Mine Injury & Worktime Statistics for Q1-03 2004




AC]

ARCH COAL, INC.

One CityPlace Drive, Suite 300
St. Louis, Missouri 63141
(314) 994-2700

March 10, 2005

To Our Stockholders:

You are cordially invited to attend the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Arch
Coal, Inc. which will be held at our headquarters at CityPlace One, One CityPlace
Drive, St. Louis, Missouri, in the lower level auditorium, on Thursday, April 28, 2005,
at 10:.00 a.m., local time. The formal Notice of the Annual Meeting, the Proxy
Statement and a proxy card accompany this letter.

We hope that you will be present at the meeting. Whether or not you plan to
attend, please cast your vote by telephone or on the Internet, or complete, sign and
return the enclosed proxy card in the postage-prepaid envelope, also enclosed. The
prompt execution of your proxy will be greatly appreciated.

Arch Coal's Annual Report for 2004 is contained in this document and begins
on page Ii-1.

Sincerely yours,

o5 1Bopp

James R. Boyp
Chairman of the Board

_wa-q?.zy/fw

Steven F. LEER
President and Chief Executive Officer
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ARCH COAL, INC.

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS
DATE: Thursday, April 28, 2005
TIME: 10:00 a.m., local time

PLACE: CityPlace One
One CityPlace Drive
Lower Level Auditorium
St. Louis, Missouri 63141

Matters to be Voted on:

+ Election of four directors

* Internal Revenue Code Section 162(m) approval for the Arch Coal, Inc. Incentive Compensa-
tion Plan for Executive Officers

* Any other matters if properly raised

Only stockholders of record at the close of business on March 4, 2005 may vote at the meeting.
Your vote is important. Whether you plan to attend the annual meeting or not, please cast your
vote by phone or on the Internet, or complete, date and sign your proxy card and return it in
the envelope provided. If you attend the meeting and prefer to vote in person, you may do so even
if you have previously voted by proxy. Directions toc the annual meeting are on page I-23 of the proxy

statement.

RoBerRT G. JONES
Vice President — Law, General Counsel and
Secretary

March 10, 2005




TABLE OF CONTENTS

Part I. Proxy Statement
Information About the Annual Meeting . ... e -1
Election of Directors ................... e -5
Structure of the Board ... ... I-5
Nominee For a One-Year Term That Will Expire in 2006......................c..... -6
Nominees For a Three-Year Term That Will Expire in 2008.......................... 1-6
Directors Whose Terms Will Expire in 2006 . . ......... oo -6
Directors Whose Terms Will Expire in 2007 .. ... ... e -6
Board Meetings and Committees ................ R -7
Audit Committee RePOM . . ...t e -8
Executive Sessions of the Board of DIreCtors . . .........oouueeeeeeeeee i, -9
Compensation Of DIreCtOrs . ...ttt [-10
Ownership of Arch Coal Common Stock .................... e I-11
Ownership by Directors and Executive Officers .................................... -11
Ownership by Others. . ... e -12
Compensation of Executive OFficers . ....... ..o l-13
Report of the Personnel and Compensation Committee ...................... PR 1-13
Summary Compensation Table ... . i I-17
StOCk OptiION Grants ... ..ottt e e 1-17
Performance Unit AwWards . . ... i i I-17
Performance-Contingent Phantom Stock Awards .......... ..., l-18
Stock Option Exercises and Year-End Values . ....... ... i, [-18
PENSION PlaNS L.t [-18
EmM IOy mMent AQreEmMENTS L. .t -19
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance ....................... ... [-20
Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans................. 1-20
Stock Price Performance Graph ...... ... ... . I-21
Internal Revenue Code Section 162(m) Approval of Arch Coal’s Incentive Compensation
Plan For Executive OffiCers ..o i [-22
Additional Information ... .. ... e e [-22
Information About Stockholder Proposals ........... .o [-22
Directions to the Annual Meeting . .. ...t I-23
Exhibit A— Corporate Governance Guidelings ....... ... i A-1
Exhibit B— Policy for the Provision of Services by the Company’s Independent Auditors .. B-1
Exhibit C — Audit Committee Charter ... .o e C-1

Exhibit D — Arch Coal, Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan for Executive Officers.......... D-1




TABLE OF CONTENTS
(Continued)

Part li. Annual Report ‘

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. .
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data . .......cooii it
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm ....... e
Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting ....................
Report of Management. . ...

Consolidated Statement of Operétions for the Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002 L

Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2004 and 2003 .. .. ... oo,
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity at December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2003
AN 2002 L

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements . ... i i
Selected Financial Information .......... ... ... ... ..... F
Corporate Governance and-Stockholder Information . ........... ... .. ... ... ......




(This page intentionally left blank)




PART I. PROXY STATEMENT FOR THE ARCH COAL, INC. 2005 ANNUAL MEETING OF
STOCKHOLDERS

INFORMATION ABOUT THE ANNUAL MEETING
Why Am I Receiving These Proxy Materials?

Arch Coal's Board of Directors is soliciting proxies to be voted at the 2005 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders. This proxy statement includes information about the issues to be voted upon at the
meeting.

On March 10, 2005, we began mailing these proxy materials to all stockholders of record at the
close of business on March 4, 2005. On March 4, 2005, there were 62,920,425 shares of Arch Coal
common stock outstanding. As required by Delaware law, a list of stockholders entitled to vote at the
annual meeting will be available at the annual meeting and for 10 days prior to the meeting, during
normal business hours, at Arch Coal's offices, One CityPlace Drive, Suite 300, St. Louis, Missouri
63141.

What Am I Voting on?
We are aware of two items to be voted by stockholders at the annual meeting:

* Election of four directors: James R. Boyd, Douglas H. Hunt, A. Michael Perry and Patricia F.
Godley.

* Internal Revenue Code Section 162(m) approval of Arch Coal’s incentive compensation plan
for executive officers.

How Many Votes Do 1 Have?

You have one vote for each share of Arch Coal commen stock that you owned at the close of
business on March 4, 2005, the record date. These shares include:

* Shares held directly in your name as the “'stockholder of record”;

» Shares held for you as the beneficial owner through a broker, bank, or other nominee in
“‘street name'’; and

* Shares credited to your account in the Arch Coal, Inc. Employee Thrift Plan or the Mingo Logan
Savings Plan.

If I Am a Stockholder of Record, How Can I Vote My Shares?

You can vote by proxy or in person.

How Do I Vote by Proxy?

If you are a stockholder of record, you may vote your proxy by telephone, internet, or mail. Our
telephone and Internet voting procedures are designed to authenticate stockholders by using
individual control numbers. Voting by telephone or Internet will help Arch Coal reduce costs.

* Voting Your Proxy by Telephone

In the U.S. and Canada, you can vote your shares by telephone by calling the toll-free
telephone number on your proxy card. Telephone voting is available 24 hours a day, 7 days a
week, up through the day before the meeting. Easy-to-follow voice prompts allow you to vote
your shares and confirm that your instructions have been properly recorded. If you vote by
telephone, you do not need to return your proxy card.
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* Voting Your Proxy By Internet

You can also choose 1o vote via the Internet. The web site for Internet vating is on your proxy
card. Internet voting is also available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, up through the day before
the meeting. If you vote via the Internet, you do not need to return your proxy card.

* Voting Your Proxy By Mail

If you choose to vote by mail, simply mark your proxy card, date and sign it, and return it in
the postage-paid envelope provided.

If you vote by proxy using any of these three methods, the persons named on the card (your
""proxies’’) will vote your shares in the manner you indicate. You may specify whether your shares
should be voted for all, some, or none of the nominees for director. If you vote by telephone or
Internet and choose to vote with the recommendation of Arch Coal’s Board of Directors, or if you
vote by mail, sign your proxy card, and do not indicate any choices, your shares will be voted ““FOR"’
the election of all four nominees for director and 'FOR" approval of the Incentive Compensation Plan
for Executive Officers.

[f any other matter is presented, your proxies will vote in accordance with their best judgment. At
the time this proxy statement went to press, we knew of no matters to be acted upon at the annual
meeting other than those discussed in this proxy statement.

If you wish to give a proxy to somecne other than the persons named on the enclosed proxy
card, you may strike out the names appearing on the card and write in the name of any other person,
sign the proxy, and deliver it to the person whose name has been substituted.

May I Revoke My Proxy?
If you give a proxy, you may revoke it in any one of three ways:
e Submit a valid, later-dated proxy;

» Notify Arch Coal’s Secretary in writing before the annual meeting that you have revoked your
proxy; or

* Vote in person at the annual meeting.

How Do I Vote in Person?

If you are a stockholder of record, you may cast your vote in person at the annual meeting.

If T Hold Shares in Street Name, How Can I Vote My Shares?

You can submit voting instructions to your broker or nominee. In most instances, you will be able
to do this over the Internet, by telephone, or by mail. Please refer to the voting instruction card
included in these materials by your broker or nominee.

How Do I Vote My Shares Held in Arch Coal’s Dividend Reinvestment and Direct Stock Purchase
and Sale Plan?

if you are a participant in the Dividend Reinvestment and Direct Stock Purchase and Sale Plan for
stockholders of Arch Coal, your proxy will also serve as an instruction to vote the whole shares you
hold under this plan in the manner indicated on the proxy. If your proxy is not received, your shares
held in the plan will not be voted.

How Do I Vote My Arch Coal Common Stock Held in the Employee Thrift Plan or the Mingo
Logan Savings Plan?

If you are both a registered stockholder of Arch Coal and a participant in its Employee Thrift Plan
or the Mingo Logan Savings Plan, you will receive a single proxy card that covers shares of Arch Coal
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common stock credited to your plan account as well as shares of record registered in exactly the same
name. Accordingly, your proxy card also serves as a voting instruction for the trustee of the plan. If
your plan account is not carried in exactly the same name as your shares of record, you will receive
separate proxy cards for individual and plan holdings. If you own shares through one of these plans
and you do not return your proxy by Monday, April 18, 2005, the trustee will vote your shares in the
same proportion as the shares that are voted by the other participants in the plan. The trustee will also
- vote unallocated shares of Arch Coal common stock held in the plan in direct proportion to the voting
of allocated shares in the plan for which voting instructions have been received unless doing so would
be inconsistent with the trustee’s duties.

Is My Vote Confidential?
Yes. Voting tabulations are confidential.

What Vote Is Required to Approve Each Proposal?

Election of Four Directors (Proxy Item No. 1) The nominees who receive the most votes for
the available positions will be elected. If you do
not vote for any nominees, your vote will count
equally ““for all nominees. If you vote for at
least one nominee, but do not vote for other
nominee(s), or you indicate “withhold authority
to vote" for a particular nominee on your
proxy card, your vote will not count either
“for'"" or ""against” the unvoted or withheld

nominee(s).
Approval of Arch Coal's Incentive The affirmative vote of a majority of the shares
Compensation Plan For Executive Officers present in person or by proxy at the annual
(Proxy item No. 2) meeting is required to approve the Company’s

incentive compensation plan for executive
officers. If you “abstain”’ from voting, it will
have the same effect as if you voted ""against”
this proposal.

In order to have a valid stockholder vote, a stockholder quorum must exist at the annual meeting.
A quorum will exist when stockholders holding a majority of the outstanding shares of Arch Coal
stock are present at the meeting, either in person or by proxy.

if a broker indicates on its proxy that it does not have authority to vote certain shares held in
"'street name’’ on particular proposals, the shares not voted {"'broker non-votes') will have no effect
on the proposal. Broker non-votes occur when brokers do not have discretionary voting authority on
certain proposals under the rules of the New York Stock Exchange and the beneficial owner has not
instructed the broker how to vote on the proposal.

Who is Paying the Costs of Soliciting These Proxies?

Arch Coal is paying the cost of preparing, printing, and mailing these proxy materials. We will
reimburse banks, brokerage firms, and others for their reasonable expenses in forwarding proxy
materials to beneficial owners and obtaining their instructions. A few officers and employees of Arch
Coal may also participate in the solicitation, without additional compensation.

Where Can I Find the Voting Results of the Meeting?

We intend to announce preliminary voting results at the meeting. We will publish the final results
in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first quarter of 2005. You can obtain a copy of the
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Form 10-Q by logging on to our website at www.archcoal.com, by calling the Securities and Exchange
Commission at (800) SEC-0330 for the location of the nearest public reference room, or through the
EDGAR system at www.sec.gov. The contents of our website are not part of this proxy statement.

How Can I Communicate With the Board of Directors Directly?

Stockholders and other interested persons may contact any member of the Board of Directors
directly by contacting the Company’s confidential hotline at 1-866-519-1881 or by mail addressed to
such director in care of Arch Coal, Inc., Attention: General Counsel, One CityPlace Drive, Suite 300,
St. Louis, MO 63141,




Structure of the Board

ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Arch Coal, Inc.
Board of Directors
James R. Boyd (Chair)
Frank M. Burke
Patricia F. Godley
Douglas H. Hunt
Steven F. Leer
Thomas A. Lockhart
A. Michael Perry
Robert G. Potter
Theodore D. Sands

!

[

|

!

Audit Commitee
Frank M. Burke (Chair)
James R. Boyd
A. Michael Perry

Nominating and
Corporate Goverance

Committe
A. Michael Perry (Chair)
James R. Boyd
Robert G. Potter

Finance Commitee
Theodore D. Sands (Chair)
James R. Boyd
Patricia E. Godley
Douglas H. Hunt
Steven F. Leer
Thomas A. Lockhart

Personnel and
Compensation Commitee

Douglas H. Hunt (Chair)
Frank M. Burke
Patricia F. Godley
Thomas A. Lockhart
Robert G. Potter
Theodore D. Sands

Our Restated Certificate of Incorporation and by-laws provide for a Board of Directors that is
divided into three classes as equal in size as possible. The classes have three-year terms, and the term
of one class expires each year in rotation at that year’s annual meeting. The size of the Board can be
changed by a two-thirds vote of the entire Board and is currently set at nine members. Vacancies on
the Board may be filled by persons elected by a majority of the remaining directors. A director elected
by the Board to fill a vacancy, or a new directorship created by an increase in the size of the Board,
serves for the remainder of the full term of the class of directors in which the vacancy or newly
created directorship occurred. As a matter of policy, the Board will submit the nomination of a
director elected to fill a vacancy to the vote of Arch Coal’s stockholders at the next annual meeting. it
is requested by Arch Coal that the directors attend the annual meeting. In 2004, all directors were
present at the annual meeting.

Arch Coal's Board of Directors has nominated:

* Ms. Patricia F. Godley for election as a director to fill a vacancy in the class of directors whose
terms will expire in 2006; and

* Three individuals for election as directors for a three-year term that will expire in 2008: James
R. Boyd, Douglas H. Hunt and A. Michael Perry.

All nominees are currently serving as directors of Arch Coal. -

The Board is not aware that any nominee named in this proxy statement will be unwilling or
unable to serve as a director. All nominees have consented to be named in the proxy statement and to
serve if elected. If, however, a nominee is unavailable for election, your proxy authorizes us to vote for
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a replacement nominee if the Board names one. As an alternative, the Board may reduce the number
of directors to be elected at the meeting.

The Board has determined that each member of the Board, other than Mr. Leer, is "indepen-
dent’”” under the New York Stock Exchange rules and is free from any other relationships with the
company or its employees that could reasonably interfere with such member’s independence.

Nominee for a One-Year Term That Will Expire in 2006:

Patricia F. Godley, 56, has been a director of Arch Coal since 2004. Since 1998, Ms. Godley has
been a partner with the law firm of Van Ness Feldman in Washington, D.C., practicing in the areas of
economic and environmental regulation of -electric utilities and natural gas companies. From 1994
until 1998, Ms. Godley served as the Assistant Secretary for Fossil Energy at the U.S. Department of
Energy. Ms. Godley is also a director of the United States Energy Association.

Nominees for a Three-Year Term That Will Expire in 2008:

James R. Boyd, 58, Chairman of the Board, has been a director of Arch Coal since 1990. He
served as Senior Vice President and Group Operating Officer of Ashland Inc., a multi-industry
company with operations in chemicals, motor oil, car care products and highway construction, from
1989 until his retirement in January, 2002. Mr. Boyd is also a director of The Farmers Bank of
Lynchburg, Tennessee.

Douglas H. Hunt, 51, has been a director of Arch Coal since 1995 and, since May 1995, has
served as Director of Acquisitions of Petro-Hunt, LLC, a private oil and gas exploration and production
company. ,

A. Michael Perry, 68, has been a director of Arch Coal since 1998. He served as Chairman of
Bank One, West Virginia, N.A. from 1993 and as its Chief Executive Officer from 1983 to his
retirement in June 2001. Mr. Perry is also a director of Champion Industries, Inc., and Portec Rail
Products, Inc. ‘ '

Your Board of Directors recommends a vote ‘‘For” these nominees

Directors Whose Térms Will Expire in 2006:

Frank M. Burke, 65, has been a director of Arch Coal since September 2000. He has served as
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Managing General Partner of Burke, Mayborn Company, Ltd.,
a private investment and consulting company since 1984. Mr. Burke is also a director of Kaneb
Services LLC, Xanser Corporation, Kaneb Pipe Line Company (general partner of Kaneb Pipe Line
Partners, LP), Crosstex Energy GP, LLC (general partner of Crosstex Energy, L.P.), and Crosstex Energy
Inc., and is @ member of the National Petroleum Council.

Thomas A. Lockhart, 69, has been a director of Arch Coal since February 2003 and a member of
the Wyoming State House of Representatives since 2000. Mr. Lockhart worked for PacifiCorp, an
electric utility, for over 30 years and retired in 1998 as a Vice President. Mr. Lockhart is also a director
of First Interstate Bank of Casper, Wyoming and Blue Cross Blue Shield of Wyoming.

Directors Whose Terms Will Expire in 2007:

Steven F. Leer, 52, has been President and Chief Executive Officer and a director of Arch Coal
since 1992, He also serves on the boards of the Norfolk Scuthern Corporation, the Western Business
Roundtable and the Mineral Information Institute. Mr. Leer is past chairman and continues to serve on
the boards of the Center for Energy and Economic Development, the National Coal Council and the
National Mining Association.
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Robert G. Potter, 65, has been a director of Arch Coal since April 2001. Mr. Potter was Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer of Solutia Inc., a producer and marketer of a variety of high performance
chemical-based materials, from 1997 to his retirement in 1999. Mr. Potter served for 32 years with
Monsanto Company prior to its spin-off of Solutia in 1997, most recently as the Chief Executive of its
chemical businesses. Mr. Potter is a director of Stepan Company and of some private companies of
which he is also an investor.

Theodore D. Sands, 59, has been a director of Arch Coal since 1999 and, since February 1999,
has served as President of HAAS Capital, LLC, a private consulting and’ investment company.
Mr. Sands is also a director of Protein Sciences Corporation and Terra Nitrogen Corporation.
Mr. Sands served as Managing Director, Investment Banking for the Global Metals/Mmmg Group of
Merrill Lynch & Co. from 1982 until February 1999.

Board Meetings and Committees

The Board of Directors met 15 times in 2004. In addition to meetings of the full Board, directors
attended meetings of Board committees. Each director attended at least 75% of the aggregate Board
meetings and meetings of committees of which he or she is a member. A descnptton of each
committee and its current membership follows.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
Members: Mr. Perry (Chairman), Mr. Boyd, and Mr. Potter

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee met 13 times during 2004. Its functions
include: the development of corporate governance policies, procedures and practices; the recruitment
and recommendation to the Board of Directors of nominees for directors; and the oversight of the
annual evaluation of directors, board committees and management; and the review and recommen-
dation of the directors’ compensation program. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Commit-
tee is composed solely of independent directors and operates under a written charter adopted by the
entire Board.

A copy of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee Charter is available on the
company's website at www.archcoal.com.

A copy of Arch Coal's Corporate Governance Guidelines, which sets forth the policy of selecting
and nominating candidates for the election to the Board .of Directors, is attached to this proxy
statement as Exhibit A. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will consider
nominees recommended by stockholders for election to the Board provided the names of such
nominees, accompanied by relevant biographical mformatlon are submltted in. writing to the
Secretary of the company.

Finance Comimittee

Members: Mr. Sands (Chairman), Mr. Boyd, Ms. Godley, Mr. Hunt, Mr. Leer and Mr. Lockhart

The Finance Committee met 10 times in 2004. This committee reviews and approves fiscal
policies relating to Arch Coal’s financial structure, including its debt, cash and risk management
policies. It also reviews and recommends to the Board appropriate action with respect to significant
financial matters, major capital expendltures and acquisitions, and funding policies of Arch Coal's
employee benefit plans. :

Personnel and Compensation (“P&(C’’) Committee
Members: Mr. Hunt (Chairman), Mr. Burke, Ms. Godley, Mr. Lockhart, Mr. Potter and Mr. Sands

The P&C Committee met five times during 2004. The duties of this committee include the
approval of the compensation of executive officers of Arch Coal and its subsidiaries and the selection
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of participants and awards under Arch Coal’s incentive plans. The P&C Committee also establishes
policies regarding compensation, position evaluations, transfers, and terminations. In addition, the
committee provides oversight of Arch Coal's retirement, savings and other benefit plans.

Audit Committee
Members: Mr. Burke (Chairman), Mr. Boyd and Mr. Perry

The Audit Committee met nine times during 2004. lts primary responsibility is to oversee the
Company's financial reporting process on behalf of the Board including evaluating, selecting and, if
necessary, replacing Arch Coal’s independent auditors, reviewing year-end and interim financial
statements and the adequacy and effectiveness of internal accounting and financial controls. The
Audit Committee is composed solely of independent directors and operates under a written charter
adopted by the entire Board.

The Board of Directors has affirmatively determined that Mr. Burke is an “audit committee
financial expert” for purposes of the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission and that each
member of the Audit Committee is ““financially literate” and “independent,”” as required by the New
York Stock Exchamge listing rules and pursuant to Schedule 14A, item 7(d)(3)iv) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. In addition, the Board of Directors has determined that
Mr. Burke’s service on the audit committees of the six public companies identified in his biography on
page I-6 hereof does not impair his ability to serve effectively on our Audit Committee and that his
continued service on our committee is in the best interests of the company and its stockholders.

Audit Committee Report

Management is responsible for Arch Coal's internal controls and the financial reporting process
while the independent auditors are responsible for expressing an opinion on the conformity of Arch
Coal's audited financial statements with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.
In this context, the Audit Committee has met with and held discussions with management, with Arch
Coal's internal auditors and with Ernst & Young, LLP, its independent auditors. '

The Audit Committee reviewed with Arch Coal’s internal and independent auditors the overall
scope and plans for their respective audits. The Audit Committee also met with the auditors, with and
without management present, to discuss the results of their examinations and their evaluations of
Arch Cecal's internal controls. The committee also reviewed with the independent auditors their
judgment as to the quality, and not just the acceptability, of Arch Coal's accounting principles and
financial controls and such other matters as are required to be discussed with the Audit Committee
under auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. In addition, the Audit Committee
discussed with the independent auditors the auditors’ independence from management and Arch
Coal including the matters in the written disclosures required by the Independence Standards Board
and whether the provision of non-audit services to Arch Coal by the firm is compatible with
maintaining auditor independence. Pursuant to a policy adopted by the committee, Arch Coal’s
independent auditors may only perform services on behalf of the company which are related to the
audit. Additionally, alf services provided by Arch Coal’s independent auditors must be pre-approved
by the Committee. A copy of the Committee’s pre-approval policy is attached to this proxy statement’
as Exhibit B. Finally, the Committee received management representation that Arch Coal's consoli-
dated financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally ac-
cepted in the United States. '




During 2004 and 2003, Ernst & Young charged fees for services rendered to Arch Coal as
follows:

Fee
Service 2004 ' 2003
AUt o $1,588,494 $1,072,938
Audit related services ... . — —_
TaX SBIVICES oot ettt e 240,000 55,012

All other services . ... o — —

In addition to the financial statement audits of the company and certain of its subsidiaries
(including the internal controls audit required under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act), audit
services in 2004 include fees associated with Arch Coal's common stock offering, the 2004 debt
offering of Arch Western Finance, LLC, and registration of the notes issued in Arch Western Finance's
2003 debt offering. Audit fees in 2003 represent fees related to the financial statement audits of the
company and certain of its subsidiaries, fees associated with Arch Coal’s preferred stock offering and
the 2003 debt offering of Arch Western Finance and accounting and auditing services related to Arch
Coal's implementation of FAS 143 and implementation of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

Fees for tax services in 2004 represent the final payment related to a state property tax
engagement. Tax services in 2003 were comprised primarily of preparation of Arch Coal’s federal and
state tax returns. Subsequent to the final payment in 2004, Arch Coal no longer utilizes its primary
audit firm for tax services.

In reliance on the reviews and discussions referred to above, the Audit Committee recommended
to the Board of Directors (and the Board has so approved) that the audited financial statements be
included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004 for filing with the
Securities and Exchange Commission. The Audit Committee has also approved the selection of Ernst
& Young as Arch Coal’s independent auditors for 2005. Representatives of Ernst & Young will attend
the annual meeting and will have the opportunity to make a statement if they desire to do so.

A copy of the Audit Committee Charter is attached to this proxy statement as Exhibit C.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Frank M. Burke, Chairman
James R. Boyd

A. Michael Perry

Executive Sessions of the Board of Directors

Mr. James R. Boyd, Chairman of the Board of Directors, serves as the Presiding Director at
executive sessions of the Board where the chief executive officer is not present. The Board charter
directs the non-management directors to meet regularly in executive session. Such sessions are
normally held following or in conjunction with a regular board meeting. The Presiding Director is also
available to consult with the chief executive officer about concerns of the Board, and is available for
consultations with members of Arch Coal’s management as tc any concerns they may have.

Stockholders and other interested persons may contact Mr. Boyd directly by contacting Arch
Coal’s confidential hotline at 1-866-519-1881 or by mail to Mr. James R. Boyd, Chairman, Arch Coal,
Inc., One CityPlace Drive, Suite 300, St. Louis, MO 63141,




Compensation of Directors

Directors who are Arch Coal employees do not receive payment for their services as directors. The
following table displays all components of compensation for non-employee directors:

Amount of
Form of Compensation Compensation
Annual Board Retainer™ . ... ..o $ 75,000
Additional Annual Retainer for Chairman of the Board ................. $100,000
Additional Annual Retainer for Audit Committee Chairman ............. $ 30,000
Additional Annual Retainer for other Committee Chairmen ............. ¢ 5,000
Board Attendance Fee (each meeting) ....... .. ..., $ 1,250
Committee Attendance Fee (each meeting) ........... ... ... ... .... $ 1,250
New Director Fee** ......................... e $ 30,000

* At least $40,000 of the annual retainer is subject to mandatory deferrai under Arch Coal’s Outside
Director's Deferred Compensation Plan into a hypothetical investment in Arch Coal stock and is
payable in cash upon the director’s termination of service.

** New directors receive an additional $30,000 during their first full year of service on the Board. This
additional amount is subject to mandatory deferral under the Deferred Compensation Plan into a
hypothetical investment in Arch Coal stock and is payable in cash upon the director’s termination
of service.

Arch Coal also pays for each director's costs of attending Board meetings and, under the Arch
Coal, Inc. Director Matching Gift Program, the company donates $2.00 for each dollar contributed by
directors to accredited institutions of higher education up to a maximum of $6,000 each year. Non-
employee directors do not have a retirement plan, nor do they participate in Arch Coal’s benefit plans.
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OWNERSHIP OF ARCH COAL COMMON STOCK

Ownership by Directors and Executive Officers

The following table shows Arch Coal common stock owned beneficially by Arch Coal's directors
and executive officers as of March 1, 2005. In general, “beneficial ownership” includes those shares a
person has the power to vote or the power to transfer, and stock options that are exercisable
currently or become exercisable within 60 days. Except as otherwise noted, each person has sole
voting and investment power over his or her shares. Mr. Woodring's stockholdings were omitted from
the table as he retired from the company in February 2005 and is no longer an executive officer.

Shares Under.lyin? Percentage of
Shares of Options Exercisable Qutstanding
Beneficial Owner Common Stock Within 60 Days Total Shares
James R. Boyd, Chairman of the
Board and Director(1)}2).......... 60,282 -0- 60,282 *
Frank M. Burke, Director(2) ......... 66,045 -0- 66,045 *
Patricia F. Godley(2) ............... 1,411 -0- 1,411 *
Douglas H. Hunt, Director(2)X3) ... ... 28,752 -0- 28,752 *
Steven F. Leer, President, CEQ and
Director(1)4) ................... 25,305 375,876 401,181 *
Thomas A. Lockhart, Director(2) ... .. 4,039 -0- 4,039 *
A. Michael Perry, Director(2) ........ 15,596 -0- 15,596 *
Robert G. Potter, Director(2X5) ...... 19,216 -0- 19,216 *
Thecdore D. Sands, Director(2) ...... 47,809 -0- 47,809 *

John W. Eaves, Executive Vice

President and Chief Operating

Officer(d). . ......... ... ... ..... 1,607 122,626 124,233 *
Robert J. Messey, Senior Vice

President and Chief Financial

Officer . ... 2,300 43,350 45,650 *
Robert G. Jones, Vice President-Law,
General Counsel and Secretary(4) . . 2,168 74,750 76,919 *

All directors and executive officers of
Arch Coal as a group (16
PErsons)B) ... 289,581 824,923 1,114,504 1.8%

* |ess than one percent of the outstanding shares.

(1) Includes shares held jointly with such person’s spouse in the following amounts: Mr. Boyd —
1,045 and Mr. Leer— 1,010.

(2) Includes shares held under the Director Deferred Compensation Plan in the following amounts:
Mr. Boyd —26,596; Mr. Burke — 16,045, Ms. Godley— 1,411 Mr. Hunt—17,752;
Mr. Lockhart — 3,939; Mr. Perry — 9,317; Mr. Potter — 15,216; and Mr. Sands — 22,809.

(3) Mr. Hunt also has a beneficial interest in a trust known as the Lyda Hunt-Herbert Trusts —
Douglas Herbert Hunt in the amount of 209,477 shares. Mr. Hunt does not control the Trust.

(4) Includes shares held under Arch Coal's Employee Thrift Plan in the following amounts: Mr. Leer —
24,295; Mr. Eaves — 1,607; and Mr. Jones — 2,169.

(5) Includes 4,000 shares held in Robert G. Potter Trust dated 11/05/1992, Robert G. Potter as
Trustee.

(6) Includes 29,522 shares held by executive officers under Arch Coal’s Employee Thrift Plan and
3,548 shares held by executive officers under Arch Coal’s Deferred Compensation Plan.
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Ownership by Others

The following table shows all persons or entities that Arch Coal knows were ""beneficial owners”
of more than five percent of Arch Coal common stock on March 1, 2005, and is based on filings
made by such owners with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Shares of Percent of
Beneficial Owner Common Stock Class*

FMR Corp. '
82 Devonshire Street
Boston, Massachusetts 02109 .. ... .. oo, 3,721,780 5.9%

Appaloosa Management L.P.
Appaloosa Partners, Inc.
David A. Tepper
26 Main Street
Chatham, New Jersey 07928 .. ........... ... ... oan 3,246,800 5.2%

* Percentage of Arch Coal's outstanding shares of common stock on March 1, 2005.
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COMPENSATION OF EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Report of the Personnel and Compensation Committee
The P&C Committee

The P&C Committee is comprised entirely of independent directors and has the responsibility for
reviewing and approving changes to Arch Coal’s executive compensation policies and programs. The
P&C Committee also reviews and makes recommendations for all compensation payments to the
Chief Executive Officer and other executive officers, which are approved by the Board of Directors as a
whole.

Compensation Pn'nciplesv
Arch Coal’s compensation program for executives consists of three key elements:
* base salary;
* a performance-based annual bonus; and

* a long-term incentive program consisting primarily of periodic grants of performance units,
performance-contingent phantom stock and/or restricted stock units.

The fundamental objective of Arch Coal's executive compensation program is to attract, retain
and motivate key executives to enhance long-term profitability and stockholder value. Arch Coal's
compensation program meets this objective by:

* Providing for a level of base compensation that is competitive with other similarly sized
publicly-traded companies, with particular emphasis on those in mining and extractive
industries;

* Providing total compensation opportunities which are comparable to the opportunities
provided by a group of peer companies of similar size and diversity to Arch Coal in analogous
or related businesses, as well as general industry indices;

* Linking the compensation of Arch Coal executives to the operating and financial performance
of the company by making significant elements of each executive’s compensation sensitive to
the company’s overall performance;

» Emphasizing variable pay and long-term incentives at more senior levels of the company; and

* Rewarding executives for both the short and long-term enhancement of stockholder value.

Annual Base Salary

Base compensation is determined in accordance with the executive compensation principles
established by the P&C Committee. The P&C Committee considers overall company performance,
individual performance, competitive compensation and target pay levels when determining
compensation.

Annual Incentive Bonus

Arch Coal’s incentive compensation plan provides opportunities for its key executives to earn
annual incentive compensation based upon the successful achievement of individual and corporate
financial and operating performance objectives. Approximately 200 employees were eligible to
participate in the plan in 2004,

For 2004, a participant’s annual incentive opportunity was based upon his or her level of
participation in the bonus plan. The incentive opportunity is based upon the participant's potential to
affect operations or profitability. The maximum incentive opportunity in 2004 for the Chief Executive
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Officer and the other executive officers named in this proxy statement, other than Mr. Woodring, was
100% of base salary. Mr. Woodring's maximum incentive opportunity was 166.6% of his base salary.

For 2004, awards for participants, including the CEO, were based on overall corporate and
individual performance. Corporate performance is determined by comparing Arch Coal’s actual
performance against objective performance measures, which are established by the Board at the
beginning of each calendar year. For 2004, the corporate performance measures used for executive
officers were adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization (adjusted
EBITDA), earnings per share (EPS), safety, environmental compliance and operating cost per ton. The
individual performance factor was based upon an evaluation of the extent to which the executive
officer successfully discharged his or her duties during the year.

in March 2005 an aggregate bonus pay-out of $1,842,900 was made to Arch Coal’s executive
officers based on the company’s performance in 2004. All award payments were subject to the review
of the P&C Committee and approval by the Board.

Long-Term Incentives

The P&C Committee has determined that a long-term incentive opportunity for each of Arch
Coal's executive officers should be delivered primarily through awards of restricted stock units;
performance-contingent phantom stock and performance units. The committee intends that these
long-term incentive opportunities be competitive and based primarily on actual company operating
and stock performance. ‘

In 2004, no stock option grants were made to the executive officers named in this proxy
statement.

In 2004, awards of restricted stock units, performance-contingent phantom stock and perform-
ance units were made to the CEO and the other named executive officers. All of the restricted stock
units vest ratably over a three year period. The performance-contingent phantom stock vests in the
event the company’s common stock achieves an average pre-established closing price over a period of
20 consecutive trading days during the five-year period following the date of grant. The number of
performance units earned are determined after three years based on the results of the following
performance measures during the period: Arch Coal EBITDA growth v. a peer group; Arch Coal safety
performance and Arch Coal environmental performance.

In 2000, approximately 200 executive and management employees received grants of perform-
ance shares under the Stock Incentive Plan. Pursuant to this grant, performance shares could be
earned based upon Arch Coal's total stockholder return over the four-year period beginning
January 1, 2000 relative to two external benchmarks: a peer group and the S&P 400 mid-cap index.
Based on the exceptional performance demonstrated under the plan, the Board approved an award
payable in cash to participants in January 2004. Payouts to the named executive officers are presented
in the Summary Compensation Table on page 1-17 of this proxy statement in the column headed
“LTIP Payouts".

Deductibility of Compensation

Under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code, Arch Coal is subject to the loss of the
deduction for compensation in excess of $1 million paid to one or more of the executive officers
named in this proxy statement. This deduction can be preserved if Arch Coal complies with certain
conditions in the design and administration of its compensation programs.

The P&C Committee will make reascnable efforts, consistent with sound executive compensation
principles and the needs of Arch Coal, to ensure that all future amounts paid to its executive officers
will be fully deductible by the Company. Arch Coal believes that it is important to preserve flexibility in
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designing compensation programs. Accordingly, Arch Coal has not adopted a policy that all
compensation must qualify as deductible under Section 162(m).

Other Plans

Arch Coal maintains a Deferred Compensation Plan pursuant to which certain executives can
defer base, annual and long-term incentive compensation. Arch Coal also maintains an Employee
Thrift Plan, a Cash Balance Pension Plan, insurance and other benefit plans for its employees.
Executives participate in these plans on the same terms as other eligible employees, subject to any
legal limits on the amounts that may be contributed by or paid to executives under the plans.

Compensation of the Chief Fxecutive Officer

Mr. Leer's base compensation remained at $650,000 in 2004. For 2004, Mr. Leer's maximum
incentive opportunity under Arch Coal’s annual incentive compensation plan was 100% of his base
salary. Mr. Leer was awarded a bonus payout of $388,100 under the plan. Mr. Leer's base
compensation was increased to $715,000 for 2005.

Kenneth G. Woodring Severance Arrangement

During 2004, Mr. Woodring announced his retirement from the company, effective February
2005. In connection with his retirement, the Company and Mr. Woodring entered into a severance
agreement, which provides for a lump-sum payment to Mr. Woodring of $611,984. In addition, all of
Mr. Woodring’s stock options and a portion of the performance units and restricted stock units will
vest upon his retirement. These grants have a value of $795,535 based on the closing price of the
Company's common stock at the last trading day of 2004 of $35.54. Mr. Woodring will also be
entitled to the shares of performance-contingent phantom stock shown on the table on page 1-18 of
this proxy statement. In addition, Mr. Woodring is eligible to participate in the medical, dental and
group life insurance plans of the company for a period of one year following his retirement.
Mr. Woodring has also agreed that he will act as a consultant to the company for a period of one year
following his retirement, for which Mr. Woodring will be entitled to compensation in the amount of
$190,000.

General

This report is submitted by the P&C Committee with respect to all matters set forth in the report,
except for those matters related to stock based compensation awards. This report is also submitted by
the entire Board of Directors, but only with respect to stock based compensation awards. Mr. Leer
excused himself from Board meetings and abstained from voting with respect to all matters relating to
his own compensation and to stock-based compensation.
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In summary, the P&C Committee and the Board believe that the total compensation opportuni-
ties provided to Arch Coal's executive officers create a strong linkage and alignment with the long-
term best interest of Arch Coal and its stockholders.

Personnel and

Compensation Committee " Arch Coal, Inc. Board of Directors
Douglas H. Hunt, Chairman James R. Boyd, Chairman
Frank M. Burke Frank M. Burke

Patricia F. Godley Patricia F. Godley

Thomas A. Lockhart Douglas H. Hunt

Robert G. Potter Steven F. Leer

Theodore D. Sands Thomas A. Lockhart

A. Michael Perry
Robert G. Potter
Theodore D. Sands
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Summary Compensation Table

The following table is a summary of compensation information for each of the last three years for
the Chief Executive Officer and each of the other four most highly compensated executive officers,
based upon annual salary and bonus for the year 2004:

Long-Term Compensation

Awards Payouts
Annual Compensation Securities
Other Annual  Restricted  Underlying All Other
Name and Compensation Stock Option LTIP Compensation
Principal Position Year Salary($) Bonus($) ($)(1) Awards(2)($) Awards(#) Payouts($) (3X$)
Steven F. Leer ....... 2004 650,000 388,100 4,463 1,205,303 -0- 1,820,411 53,233
President & Chief 2003 650,000 158,000 5,948 -0- -0- -0- 38,297
Executive 2002 650,000 -0- 8,785 -0- 218,900 -0- 36,363
Officer )
John W. Eaves ....... 2004 400,000 238,900 7,784 741,732 -0- 663,444 39,988
Executive Vice 2003 400,000 81,000 3,795 1,055,500 -0- -0- 19,724
President & 2002 320,000 -0- 8,269 -0- 71,900 -0- 19,148
Chief Operating
Officer
Kenneth G. Woodring 2004 380,000 282,000 4,409 300,976 -0- 864,601 24,977
Executive Vice 2003 380,000 61,600 4276 -0- -0- -0- 22,781
President — 2002 380,000 -0- 4,507 -0- 85,400 -0- 21,805
Operations(4) ‘
Robert J. Messey .. ... 2004 305,000 182,100 7,007 565,577 -0- 278,622 24,575
Senior Vice 2003 305,000 49,500 7,024 -0- -0- -0- 18,335
President and 2002 305,000 -0- 6,715 -0- 68,500 -0- 18,245
Chief Financial
Officer
Robert G. Jones...... 2004 290,000 173,200 5.366 229,709 -0- 386,072 22,584
Vice President — 2003 290,000 37,600 3,795 -0- -0- -0- 16,777
Law, General 2002 260,000 -0- 3,980 -0- 58,400 -0- 8,695
Counsel &
Secretary

(1) Represents tax reimbursement payments.

(2) The Restricted Stock Awards are issued in units, not shares. The value shown is the number of
restricted units times the market price of Arch Coal common stock on the day of grant. The value
given does not reflect the fact that the units are restricted. A portion of the 2004 grants were
converted from vested performance-contingent phantom stock grants. The restricted stock units
vest based on the passage of time.

(3) This amount represents: contributions made to the applicable Employee Thrift Plan for 2002, 2003
and 2004; credits made under Arch Ceal’s Deferred Compensation Plan for 2003 and 2004; and
dividend equivalent payouts for 2004. All contributions to the Employee Thrift Plan were made
during the listed year. All credits pursuant to the Deferred Compensation Plan were made in the
following year.

(4) Mr. Woodring retired from the company on February 21, 2005.

Stock Option Grants
There were no stock option grants granted to the named executive officers during 2004.

Performance Unit Awards .

The following table shows information with respect to performance units awarded to each of the
" named executive officers under the Stock Incentive Plan in 2004. The performance period with
respect to such awards is January 1, 2004 through December 31, 2006. The performance units are
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valued at $1.00 per unit. The number of units earned are determined after three years based on the
results of the following performance measures during the period: Arch Coal EBITDA growth v. a peer
group; Arch Coal safety performance and Arch Coal environmental performance.

Number of

Performance
Name Units Granted(#)
Steven F.oLeer .o e 1,300,000
JORN W, BaVeS . o e 800,000
Kenneth G. Woodring ...t 760,000
RODErt J. MBSSBY .« .ottt e e 610,000
RObErt G. JONeS . oo 773,140

Performance-Contingent Phantom Stock Awards

The following table shows information with respect to shares of performance-contingent
phantom stock awarded to each of the named executive officers under the Stock Incentive Plan in
2004. The performance-contingent phantom stock vests in the event the company’'s common stock
achieves an average pre-established closing price over a period of 20 consecutive trading days during
the five-year period following the date of grant.

Number of Shares of
Performance — Contingent

Name Phantom Stock Granted(#)
Steven FoLeer ..o 71,368
Jon W Baves. . 43,918
Kenneth G. Woodring ... 12,492
Robert J. Messey . ..ot 33,488

Robert G.Jones ... .. 9,533

Stock Option Exercises and Year-End Values

The table below sets forth option exercises during 2004 by the named executive officers and the
following information with respect to the status of their options as of December 31, 2004:

* The total number of exercisable and unexercisable stock options held at December 31, 2004,
and

* The aggregate dollar value of in-the-money unexercised options at December 31, 2004.
Shares ' Number of Securities Value of Unexercised

squred - UpselingUpeercied  ntheioney Qpion
Name Exercise(#) Realized($) Exercisable/Unexercisable Exercisable/Unexercisable
Steven F. Leer .......... 0 0 421,852/109,448 6,345,191/1,659,779
John W. Eaves.......... 0 0 134,652/35,948 1,857,963/545,151
Kenneth G. Woodring ... 174,170 2,054,139 0/42,700 0/647,546
Robert J. Messey........ 22,300 314,430 50,826/34,248 1,003,981/519,371

Robert G. Jones ........ 10,000 110,000 70,150/29,200 1,035,141/442,818

* Calculated based on the closing stock price of Arch Coal’s common stock on the last trading day of
2004 of $35.54.

Pension Plans

On January 1, 'Tl 998, Arch Coal replaced its existing pension plans with a new Cash Balance
Pension Plan. The benefits of participating individuals under the former plans were vested as of that
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date and his or her cash balance account was credited with the present value of his or her earned
pension benefit, payable at age 65. Salaried employees hired after January 1, 1998 become vested
after three years of employment. On an annual basis (or a shorter period if a participant's employment
is terminated), each participant’s account is credited with the following:

» contribution credits equal to a percent of total pay;

* transition credits for a period equal to a participant's credited service under the prior pension
plan as of December 31, 1997 (to a maximum of 15 years from December 31, 1997); and

* interest credits based on one-year treasury yields plus 1%.

The percentage amounts of the contribution and transition credits, which are shown in the
following chart, are based on the participant’s age at year end: :
Contribution Credits  Transition Credits as

Age at Year End as % of Total Pay* % of Total Pay**
Under 30 ... 3.0% 1.0%
30t0 34 . . ‘ 4.0% 1.0%
356039, i 4.0% 2.0%
A0t0 44 . . 5.0% 3.0%
A5 1049 . . 6.0% 4.0%
50t0 54 . . 7.0% 4.0%
BS5andover. ... ... ... 8.0% 4.0%

* Plus an additional 3% of pay above the Social Security wage base.

** Total pay means regular salary plus annual incentive bonus payments paid during the subject
calendar year.

As of December 31, 2004, the estimated annual annuities (based on one-year treasury yields)
payable at age 65 to executive officers named in this proxy statement are as follows:
Estimated Annual

Name Payments*
Steven B Ler L 335,014
JONN WL BaveS . oo 194,038
Kenneth G. Woodring ... 179,086
Robert J. Messey ... .o 37,644
Robert G. JonesS . ... e - 110,858

* Assumes the executive officer works until age 65, annual base compensation remains unchanged
from 2004, and that future incentive compensation is equal to the average of that awarded over
the last four years. The interest rate used for determining the annuity was 4.86%. The interest
credits for 2005 and future years was 4.25%.

Employment Agreements

Each executive officer has an employment agreement with Arch Coal that requires the company
to continue the executive's salary and benefits for one year if he or she resigns after being
constructively terminated (as defined in the agreement) or is terminated without cause. If, however,
the executive resigns for good reason or is terminated without cause within two years after a change
in control of the company, then, depending upon his or her position, the executive would receive a
payment equal to up to three-times the highest annual compensation (including incentive compensa-
tion) received by such executive during the prior three years. In addition, certain benefits would
continue for up to three years depending upon the benefit and position held by the executive.
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Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Under the securities laws, Arch Coal’s directors, executive officers and any persons beneficially
holding more than ten percent of its common stock are required to report their ownership of the
commean stock and any changes in that ownership to the SEC and the New York Stock Exchange.
Specific due dates for these reports have been established, and Arch Coal is required to report in this
proxy statement any failure to file by these dates. All of these filing requirements were satisfied in
2004. In making these statements, Arch Coal has relied on copies of the reports that its executive
officers and directors have filed with the SEC.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The Arch Coal, Inc. 1997 Stock Incentive Plan, which has been approved by Arch Coal's
stockholders, is the sole plan under which Arch Coal’s equity securities are authorized for issuance to
employees. The following table shows the number of shares of common stock to be issued upon
exercise of options outstanding at December 31, 2004, the weighted average exercise price of those
options, and the number of shares of common stock remaining available for future issuance at
December 31, 2004, excluding shares to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options. No warrants
or rights had been issued under the Plan as of December 31, 2004,

Number of Securities
Remaining Available
for Future Issuance

Number of Securities Under Equity
to Be Issued Weighted-Average Compensation Plans
Upon Exercise Exercise Price (Excluding Securities
of Outstanding Options, of Qutstanding Options, to Be Issued
Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights Upon Exercise)
Plan Category (a) (b) ()

Equity compensation plans

approved by security

holders .....oviiiiats, 2,964,574 $20.85 2,676,757
Equity compensation plans

not approved by security

holders ................. n/a n/a n/a

Total ..o 2,964,574 $20.85 2,676,757
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Stock Price Performance Graph

The graph below compares the cumulative total return to stockholders (stock price appreciation
plus reinvested dividends) on Arch Coal’s common stock with the cumulative total return on two
indices: a peer group and the Standard & Poor’'s (S&P) 400 (Midcap) Index. The graph assumes that:

- » You invested $100 in Arch Coal common stock and in each index at the closmg prlce on
December 31, 1999;

¢ all dividends were reinvested;
» annual reweighting of the peer group; and

* you continued to hold youf investment through December 31, 2004.

5-YEAR TOTAL SHAREHOLDER RETURN

ARCH COAL INC vs S&P 400 (MIDCAP) AND INDUSTRY PEER GROUP
5-YEAR TOTAL SHAREHOLDER RETURN

$400

$350 o

$300 4

$250 4

$213

5200 4

5150 4 4 5158

Inde xed Stock Price

3100

$50 4

30 + + + +
12/1999 12/2000 12/2001 12/2002 12/2003 12/2004

== Arch Coal Inc  —={ll=——S&P 400 (MIDCAP)  ===A===industry Peer Group

SOURCE: Standard & Poor’s Research Insight
NOTES: Reflects month-end dividend reinvestment, and annual reweighing of the Industry Peer
Group.
The ‘companies included in the Industry Peer Group are:
Consol Energy Inc, Freeport McMoran Copper&Gold, Massey Energy Co, Newmont
Mining Corp, Peabody Energy Corp, and Southern Peru Copper

Summary 12/1999 | 12/2000 | 12/2001 | 12/2002 | 12/2003 | 12/2004

TArch CoalInc.......ooooo it 100 128 208 200 292 336
S&P 4C0 (MIDCAP) ... 100 117 117 100 135 158
Industry Peer Group .........c....... 100 81 97 108 197 213
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INTERNAL REVENUE CODE SECTION 162(m)
APPROVAL OF ARCH COAL’S INCENTIVE COMPENSATION PLAN FOR EXECUTIVE
OFFICERS
(PROXY ITEM NO. 2)

We are asking'you to approve the company’s Incentive Compensation Plan for Executive Officers
(the ""Plan”), the material terms of which are described below. The Plan is attached to this proxy
statement as Exhibit D. Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code requires stockholder approval of
the plan in order for the company to obtain an income tax deduction for compensation paid over
$1 million to one or more of the executive officers named in this proxy statement. If the plan is
approved, it will meet the stockholder approval requirements of Section 162(m) until 2010 unless the
plan terms are materially amended, in which case we would again ask for stockholder approval. If
approved, the Plan will replace the existing incentive compensation plan which was last approved by
the stockholders of the company in 2001.

The purpose of the Plan is to provide an opportunity for executive officers of Arch Coal to earn
competitive annual:cash incentive awards through the achievement of Company performance goals.
The Plan provides for objective company performance measures to be established by the P&C
Committee within 90 days of the beginning of each calendar year. Such goals may include one or
more of the following: net income, cash flow, adjusted EBITDA, operating income, earnings per share,
debt reduction, safety incident rate, cost reduction, production rates, environmental compliance and
operating cost per ton. Individual awards are determined based on the company’s performance for
the plan year compared to the performance measures set for the year. Awards may be decreased at
the discretion of the Committee; however they may not be increased. The maximum annual award
that may be earned by any participant under the Plan is $2.5 million. Awards are paid in cash in the
year following the year in which they are earned.

Your Board of Directors recommends that you vote FOR’" Code Section 162(m) approval
of Arch Coal’s Incentive Compensation Plan for Executive Officers

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Information About Stockholder Proposals

If you wish to submit proposals for possible inclusion in our 2006 proxy materials, we must
receive them on or before November 28, 2005. Proposals should be mailed to:

Arch Coal, Inc.

One CityPlace Drive

Suite 300

St. Louis, Missouri 63141

Attention: Robert G. Jones, Vice President — Law, General Counsel and Secretary

If you wish to nominate directors and/or propose proper business from the floor for consideration
at the 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, our by-laws provide that:

* You must have notified Arch Coal’s Secretary in writing;

* Your notice must have been received at Arch Coal’s headguarters not earlier than January 28,
2005 and not later than February 24, 2005; and

* Your notice must contain the specific information required in our by-laws.
We will send copies of these requirements to any stockholder who writes to us requesting this
information. Please note that these three requirements apply only to matters that you wish to bring
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before your fellow stockholders at the 2005 Annual Meeting without submitting them for possible
inclusion in our 2005 proxy materials.

Directions to the Annual Meeting

From Downtown St. Louis:  Take Interstate 64 West to 270 North. Exit at Olive Boulevard. Take
Olive Boulevard East to CityPlace Drive. North on CityPlace Drive to Arch Coal’s headquarters at
CityPlace One.

From Lambert International Airport: - Take Highway 70 West to 270 South. Exit at Olive
Boulevard. Take Olive Boulevard East to CityPlace Drive. North on CityPlace Drive to Arch Coal's
headquarters at CityPlace One.

ROBERT G. JONES
Vice President — Law, General Counsel and
Secretary

March 10, 2005
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EXHIBIT A

ARCH COAL, INC.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE GUIDELINES

The Vision of Arch Coal is:

To create superior customer and shareholder value as the safest, lowest cost and most environmentally
responsible supplier of coal-based energy in the world.

In Furtherance of that Vision, our Mission is:

Arch Coal is dedicated to being a market-driven global leader in the coal industry and 1o creating
superior long-term shareholder value. We will conduct our business with integrity and an unrelenting
passion for providing the best value to our customers. We will foster an innovative, motivating work
environment and operate safe, low cost mines, utilizing our resources effectively and efficiently.

The directors are employed by stockholders to oversee management so as to hold managers
accountable for the pursuit of the corporate vision and mission.

I. DIRECTOR QUALIFICATION STANDARDS

The principal qualities of an effective corporate director include strength of character, an
inquiring and independent mind, practical wisdom, and mature judgment. In addition to these
qualities, Arch Coal’s criteria include recognized achievement, an ability to contribute to some aspect
of the company’s business, and the willingness to make the commitment of time and effort required
of an Arch Coal director. In order to find the most valuable talent available to meet these criteria, the
Board considers candidates diverse in geographic origin, gender, ethnic background, and professional
experience (private, public, and non-profit). The goal is to include members with the skills and
characteristics that taken together will assure a strong Board.

The number of directors that constitutes the Board is fixed from time to time by a resolution
adopted by a two-thirds majority of the Board. Currently, the Board is composed of 9 members.

It is the policy of the Board to have an overwhelming majority of directors who meet the
applicable independence requirements of the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE"), the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act and the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC"'). In addition, it is the policy of the
Board to have significant representation on the Board of individuals not affiliated with a significant
shareholder of Arch Coal.

The Board itself is responsible, in fact as well as procedure, for selecting new Board members
who will join the Board between shareholder meetings as well as those to be nominated by the Board
for election by shareholders. The Board delegates the screening process to the Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committee, with direct input from the CEO and Chairman. Candidates may
be recommended to the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee by other directors,
employees, and shareholders.

Arch Coal does not have term limits for its directors, but does have mandatory retirement for
outside directors at the annual meeting following such director’'s 72nd birthday. Further, the
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee reviews each director’s performance on the Board
when the director’s Board term has expired and the slate of director candidates is being developed for
inclusion in the proxy.

Non-employee directors inform the Chairman of the Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee and the CEO of any principal occupation change, including retirement, and offer their
resignation to the Chairman of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. The
Chairman of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, in turn, advises the Committee
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of such change of status so that the Committee with the aid of the CEQ and Chairman can decide
whether to accept the resignation.

The Board has no policy with respect to the separation of the offices of Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer. The Board believes that it should have the ability to make this determination on a
case-by-case basis in @ manner it deems in the best interest of Arch Coal.

II. DIRECTOR DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES
In fulfilling its responsibilities, Arch Coal's Board performs the following principal functions:
1. Ensuring legal and ethical conduct;

2. Selecting, evaluating, compensating, and, where necessary, replacing the CEO and other
senior executives;

. Approving corporate strategy;

3

4. Providing general oversight of the business;
5. Evaluating Board processes and performance;
6

. Selecting and nominating candidates for the election to the Board of Directors; and
7. Compensating directors.

Directors are expected to attend Board meetings and meetings of committees on which they
serve, and to spend the time needed and meet as frequently as necessary to properly discharge their
responsibilities. The CEQ, in consultation with the Chairman, establishes the agenda for each Board
meeting. Any director is entitled to add to the agenda any matter that the director reasonably believes
should be on the agenda. Prior to each Board meeting, the Board members receive an agenda for the
meeting, along with advance copies (when possible) of any written materials to be discussed. In
addition, the CEO regularly distributes to all Board members items of topical interest relating to Arch
Coal, its operating environment, and the markets that it serves.

The non-management directors meet regularly in executive session, with such meetings led by
the Chairman. The Board also meets regularly in open session joined by selected members of Arch
Coal’s Senior management. All of Arch Coal's senior officers make presentations to the Board on a
regular basis. In addition, from time to time various other corporate personnel attend open Board
sessions and make presentations.

Board members have complete access to corporate management at all times. Board members use
judgment to be sure that this contact is not distracting to the business operation of the company. In
addition, the Board and each committee have the power to hire independent legal, financial or other
advisors as they may deem necessary, without consulting or obtaining the approval of any officer of
the Company in advance.

III. BOARD COMMITTEES

Arch Coal has four standing committees: Audit, Nominating and Corporate Governance,
Finance, and Personnel and Compensation ("P&C""). Pursuant to Arch Coal’s bylaws, the Board may
create or discharge any committee at any time, subject to the rules and regulations of the NYSE, the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the SEC.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, after consultation with the Chairman
and CEO and with consideration of the desires of individual Board members, recommends committee
assignments including the chairmanships to the full Board for approval.

Committee chairmanships usually are rotated every three years. Other committee members are
rotated periodically as the Board deems appropriate, although membership on a committee is

A-2




normally limited to six years. for one assignment. Exceptions to these guidelines are made as the Board
deems appropriate.

The Audit Committee, Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, and the P&C
Committee consist only of independent directors under criteria established by the NYSE. Each of these
committees has its own charter which sets forth the purposes, goals and responsibilities of such
committee. The charters also provide that each committee will annually evaluate its performance.

The CEO and Secretary of Arch Coal, in consultation with the Chairman and each committee
chairman, sets the committee meeting calendar for the upcoming calendar year. Each committee
reports to the Board at the next meeting of the Board following the committee meeting.

Prior to each committee meeting, the committee members receive an agenda for the meeting,
along with advance copies (when possible) of any written materials to be discussed.

Each committee chairman convenes as appropriate executive sessions of non-employee or
outside Board members of the committee to discuss its operations.

IV. DIRECTOR ORIENTATION AND EDUCATION

Management will provide new Directors with an initial orientation in order to familiarize them
with their responsibilities as Directors under law and the New York Stock Exchange Listing Standards,
and with the Company and its strategic plans, its significant financial, accounting and risk manage-
ment policies and procedures, its compliance programs, its Business Code of Conduct, its senior
management, and its internal and independent auditors.

In addition, on an ongoing basis, Directors are encouraged to attend continuing education
opportunities to provide knowledge of current developments in retevant matters or to improve critical
skills. '

V. EVALUATING BOARD PROCESSES AND PERFORMANCE

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee reports annually to the Board on an
assessment of the Board's performance. This is discussed by the Board at first with the CEO in
attendance; then, if desired by the Chairman of the Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee or any other director, it is discussed in an executive session of non-employee directors.
This assessment is of the Board's contribution as a whole and reviews areas in which the Board and/or
the management believes a better contribution could be made. The Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee is responsible for evaluating the performance of current Board members at
the time they are considered for re-nomination to the Board.

VI. DIRECTOR COMPENSATION -

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for reviewing and making
recommendations to the Board concerning directors’ compensation, including benefits. In undertak-
ing its review, this Committee may receive advice from the CEO and internal staff and engage outside
consultants to provide reports on trends in director compensation, including compensation paid to
outside directors of other companies.

The Board seeks to avoid compensation elements that may compromise the independence of
directors, such as consulting contracts or other indirect forms of compensation to a director or an
organization with which the director is affiliated.

VIiI. CONFLICT OF INTEREST

A director’s business or family relationships may occasionally give rise to that director's material
perscnal interest on a particular issue. The Board, after consultation with counsel, determines whether
such a conflict of interest exists on a case-by-case basis. The Board takes appropriate steps to identify
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such potential conflicts and to assure that all directors voting on an issue are disinterested with
respect to that issue.

VIII. THE CEO AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The full Board of non-employee directors makes an annual evaluation of the CEQ’s performance,
taking into account both the financial performance of the business and the qualitative performance of
the CEQ, including, for example, vision and leadership, accomplishment of long-term strategic
objectives, and development of management. The results are used to identify strengths and areas
needing improvements and to provide input to the P&C Committee’s evaluation of the CEO for
compensation purposes. ’

The CEO reviews annually with the Board the current goals of the other senior officers and the
extent to which these officers have accomplished their previous goals.

The P&C Committee annually evaluates the performance of the CEO and other senior officers for
compensation purposes and makes compensation recommendations to the Board (non-employee
directors). The Board reviews these evaluations and recommendations and determines the compensa-
tion, including incentive pay. '

The CEO makes an annual report to the Board on succession planning and management
development. In this report, the CEQ recommends at least one individual who could assume the CEQ
position if the CEO unexpectedly should be unavailable for service, updating this recommendation as
appropriate.

The CEO and other senior officers obtain the approval of the Nominating and Corporate
Governance Commiittee prior to accepting an invitation to serve on the Board of another public
company or on the Board of any private company that would represent a material commitment of
time. It is generally advisable to limit such outside directorships to no more than two.

The CEO and other senior officers of Arch Coal do not serve on the Board of a company for
which an Arch Coal non-employee director serves as an officer.

These principles and policies are in addition to and are not intended to change or interpret any Federal
or state law or regulation, including the Delaware General Corporation Law, or the Certificate of
Incorporation or By-laws of the Company. The Board of Directors will review these Guidelines at least
annually and, if appropriate, revise these Guidelines from time to time.

A-4




EXHIBIT B

POLICY FOR THE PROVISION OF SERVICES
BY THE COMPANY’S INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
(REVISED)

Arch Coal, Inc. (the “"Company"’) is aware of the importance of maintaining investor confidence in
the integrity of its audited financial statements. To this end, it is essential that the Company's outside
auditors remain independent from the Company both in fact and appearance and thereby remain
capable of exercising objective and impartial judgment on all issues encompassed within the audit
engagement. The Company is also aware of the greater sensitivity of the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the ““Commission’’) in the area of auditor independence, as reflected in the February 2001
revision of the Commission’s Auditor Independence Requirements (the “Independence Rules”). As a
result, the Company has adopted this policy for engaging the Company’s independent auditors.

1. Scope of Policy

This policy covers all audit and non-audit service engagements (“Engagements’’) between the
Company (or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates) and its independent auditors or any of the auditor's
employees or affiliates (collectively, the ""Auditors’’), including, without limitation, Engagements for:

* tax compliance and planning;

* management consulting;

« information systems design and implementation;

* mergers and acquisitions planning; |

* appraisal or valuation services and fairness opinions; or

e actuarial services.

II. Process for Approval of Engagements
A. Chief Financial Officer Approval

The Chief Financial Officer ("CFO'") of the Company shall review and recommend to the Audit
Committee each Engagement. In exercising his duties hereunder, the CFO shall discuss with the
management representative(s) requesting the Engagement and, at his discretion, with the Auditors,
the scope, benefits and cost of each proposed Engagement and the impact of such proposed
Engagement on the Auditor's independence.

B. Audit Committee Approval

The Audit Committee shall have the ultimate authority and responsibility to approve each
Engagement. At his discretion, the Chair of the Audit Committee may represent the entire Committee
for the purposes of this approval.

C. Independence Determination

In the determination of whether a proposed Engagement will impair, in appearance or in fact,
the Auditor's independence, it shall be considered whether the relationship:

¢ creates a mutual or conflicting interest between the Auditor and the Company;

~ « places the Auditor in the position of auditing his or her own work;
» results in the Auditor acting as management or an employee of the Company; or
» places the Auditor in a position of being an advocate for the Company.
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In determining the foregoing, the following factors shall be considered:

whether the Engagement facilitates the performance of the audit, improves the Company’s
financial reporting process, or is otherwise in the public interest;

whether the Engagement will be performed principally for the audit committee;

the effects of the Engagement, if any, on audit effectiveness or on the quality and timeliness of
the Company’s financial reporting process;

whether the Engagement would be performed by specialists (e.g., technology specialists) who
ordinarily also provide recurring audit support;

whether the Engagement would be performed by audit personnel and, if so, whether it will
enhance their knowledge of the Company’s business and operations,

whether the role of those performing the Engagement (e.g., a role where neutrality, impartiality
and Auditor skepticism are likely to be subverted) would be inconsistent with the Auditor’s role;

whether the audit firm’s personnel would be assuming a management role or creating a

- mutuality of interest with management;

whether the Auditors, in effect, would be auditing their own numbers;
whether the project must be started and completed very quickly;
whether the audit firm has unique expertise in the Engagement; and

the size of the fee for the Engagement on & stand-alone basis and as a percentage of the
anticipated audit fees for the calendar year.

II1. Prohibited Engagements

The following types of Engagementé shall be prohibited as impairing the Auditor’s independence,
except under the limited circumstances of a demonstrated exception to the Independence Rules:

bookkeeping or other services related to the Company's accounting records or financial
statements;

financial information systems design and implementation;
appraisal or valuation services,

fairness opinions,;

actuarial services;

internal audit services;

management functions (i.e. perforrﬁing a decision-making or supervisory function within the
Company);

human resource services {i.e. candidate searches or evaluations or reference‘checks);
broker-dealer services;

legal services; and

any Engagement whereby the Auditor will be compensated based on a contingent fee arrangement.

Approved and Adopted by the

Audit Committee of the Board of Directors
April 2003

{revised February 2004)
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EXHIBIT C

ARCH COAL, INC.
AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER

Purpose

The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board of Directors to assist the Board in fulfilling its
oversight over (1) the integrity of the financial statements, internal accounting, financial controls,
disclosure controls and financial reporting processes of the Company, (2) the independent auditors’
qualifications and independence, (3) the performance of the Company's internal audit function and
independent auditors, (4) the compliance by the Company with legal and regulatory requirements,
and (5) provide an open level of communication among the independent auditors, financial and
senior management and the Board.

The Committee shall prepare, or cause to be prepared, the report required by the rules of the
Securities and Exchange Commission to be included in the Company’s annual proxy statement.

Limitation of Audit Committee’s Role

While the Committee has the responsibilities and powers set forth in this Charter, it is not the
duty of the Committee to plan or conduct audits or to determine that the Company’s financial
statements and disclosures are complete and accurate and are in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles and applicable rules and regulations. These are the responsibilities of manage-
ment and the independent auditors.

Additionally, the Board and the Committee recognize that financial management (including the
internal audit staff), as well as the independent auditors, have more time, knowledge and more
detatled information about the Company than do Committee members. Consequently, in carrying out
its oversight responsibilities, the Committee is not providing any expert or special assurances as to the
Company’s financial statements or any professional certification as to the independent auditors’
work.

Committee Membership

The Committee shall consist of no fewer than three members. All Committee members shall be
financially literate, as determined by the Board, and at least one member of the Committee shall have
a background in financial reporting, accounting and auditing. All members of the Committee shall
meet all other independence, experience and expertise requirements of the New York Stock
Exchange. The Committee shall endeavor to at all times have at least one member who is an "audit
committee financial expert,”” as defined by SEC regulations.

The members of the Committee shall be appointed by the Board on the recommendation of the
Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee. Committee members may be replaced by the
Board.

The Board shall appoint one of the members of the Audit Committee as Chairperson. It is the
responsibility of the Chairperson to schedule all meetings of the Committee and to provide the
Committee with a written agenda prior to each meeting.

Compensation shall be limited to director fees and committee fees (including committee
chairmanship fees).

Committee Authority and Responsibilities

The independent auditors shall report directly to the Audit Committee. In that regard, the
Committee is directly responsible for engagement of the independent auditors, has the sole authority
to appoint or replace the independent auditors, and shall pre-approve all audit engagement fees and
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terms and all non-audit engagements with the independent auditors and shal! disclose its policies for
approval of such engagements in the Company’s periodic reports filed with the SEC. In addition, itis a
direct responsibility of the Audit Committee for resolution of disagreements between management
and the independent auditors regarding accounting and financial matters.

The Committee shall meet as often as it determines, but not less frequently than quarterly. The
Committee may delegate authority to the Chair of the Committee and/or a subcommittee of the
Audit Committee when appropriate, including authority to negotiate and pre-approve audit and non-
audit fees for the independent auditor as needed between Audit Committee meetings subject to
ratification by the full Committee. All actions taken pursuant to a delegation of authority described in
the previous sentence shall be presented to the full Committee at its next regularly scheduled meeting
for review and ratification. ‘

The Committee shall have the authority, to the extent it deems necessary or appropriate, to
retain its own special legal, accounting or other consultants to advise the Committee and the
Company will provide adequate funding for such activities. In addition, the Committee may request
any officer or employee of the Company or the Company’s outside counsel or independent auditors
to attend a meeting of the Committee or to meet with any members of, or consultants to, the
Committee. The Committee shall meet with management, the internal auditors and the independent
auditors in separate executive sessions at least quarterly. The Committee may also, to the extent it
deems necessary or appropriate, meet with the Company’s outside legal counsel, investment bankers
or financial analysts who follow the Company.

The Committee shall make regular reports to the Board and provide copies of the minutes of
each meeting to the Board as soon as practical after each Committee meeting. The Committee shall
review and reassess the adequacy of this Charter annually and recommend any proposed changes to
the Board for approval. The Committee shall annually review the Committee’'s own performance.

The Committee, to the extent it deems necessary or appropriate, shall:

1. Discuss with management and the independent auditors the annual audited financial
statements, including disclosures made in Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations, including their judgment about the quality, not just the
acceptability, of accounting principles, the reasonableness of significant judgments, and the
clarity of the disclosures in the financial statements and the results of the audit and recommend
to the Board whether the audited financial statements should be included in the Company’s
Form 10-K. ‘ '

2. Discuss with management and the independent auditors the Company’s quarterly
financial statements and disclosures under Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations, including the results of the independent auditors’ reviews
of the quarterly financial statements, prior to the filing of such financial statements.

3. Discuss with management and the independent auditors, at the conclusion of the annual
audit, significant financial reporting issues and judgments made in connection with the prepara-
tion of the Company’s financial statements, including any significant changes in the Company’s
selection or application of accounting principles, any major issues as to the adequacy of the
Company’s internal controls, the development, selection and disclosure of critical accounting
estimates, and analyses of the effect of alternative assumptions, estimates or GAAP methods on
the Company’s financial statements. To further this goal, the Committee shall receive reports at
least quarterly from the independent auditors, and prior to the filing of its report with the SEC,
on all critical accounting policies and practices of the Company, all alternative treatments of
financial information within GAAP that have been discussed with management, including the
ramifications of the use of such alternative treatments and disclosures and the treatment
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preferred by the independent auditor, and other material written communications between the
independent auditor and management.

4. Discuss with management the Company’s earnings press releases, including the use of
“pro forma” or “adjusted”’ non-GAAP information, as well as financial information and earnings
guidance provided to analysts and rating agencies. The Committee need not discuss in advance
each earnings release or each instance in which the Company may provide earnings guidance.

5. Discuss with management and the independent auditors the effect of regulatory and
accounting initiatives as well as off-balance sheet structures on the Company’s financial
statements.

6. Discuss with the independent auditors the matters required to be discussed by Statement
on Auditing Standards No. 61 relating to the conduct of the audit. In particular, discuss:

(@) The adoption of, or changes to, the Company's significant auditing and accounting
principles and practices as suggested by the independent auditors, internal auditors and/or
management.

(b} The management letter. provided by the independent auditors and the Company's
response to that letter,

() Any problems or difficulties encountered in the course of the audit work, including
any restrictions on the scope of activities or access to requested information, any accounting
adjustments noted or proposed but passed (as immaterial or otherwise) and any significant
disagreements with management. Also, discuss management's response to the annual
"management’’ letter prepared by the independent auditors.

7. Meet with the independent auditors prior to the audit to discuss the planning and
staffing of the audit.

8. Discuss the experience, qualifications, performance and independence of the Company’s
independent auditor, including all relationships between the auditing firm and the Company and
its Directors and officers. Discuss the experience, qualifications, performance and independence
of the lead partner as well as the senior members of the independent auditors’ team. Periodically
discuss the industry and other qualifications of the major accounting firms in the Company's
industry.

9. Obtain and review a report from the independent auditors at least annually regarding
(a) the independent auditors’ internal quality-control procedures, (b} any material issues raised by
the most recent quality-control review, or peer review, of the firm, or by any inquiry or
investigation by governmental or professional authorities within the preceding five years
respecting one or more independent audits carried out by the firm, (c) any steps taken to deal
with any such issues, and (d) all relationships between the independent auditors and the
Company and the impact of any such relationships on the independence of the independent
auditor.

10. At least annually, discuss the overall performance of the independent auditors, taking
into account the opinions of management and the internal auditors.

11. Atleast annually, present the Committee's conclusions regarding the independence and
performance of the independent auditors to the Board and, if so determined by the Committee,
recommend that the Board take additional action to satisfy itself as to the qualifications,
performance and independence of the independent auditors.

12. Discuss whether, in order 10 assure continuing auditor independence, it is appropriate
to adopt a policy of rotating the lead audit partner more often that required by law, or even the
independent auditing firm itself on a regular basis.
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13. Set policies for the Company's hiring of employees or former employees of the
independent auditors who were engaged on the Company’s account.

14. Obtain and review a quarterly report on matters discussed by the independent auditors
with its national office regarding the Company.

15. Review all related-party transactions.

16. Discuss internal audit plan and review assistance to be provided independent account-
ants by internal audit staff.

17. Discuss the appointment and replacement of the senior internal auditing executive.

18. Discuss the significant reports to management prepared by the internal audit depart-
ment and management’s responses.

19. Discuss with the independent auditors the responsibilities of the internal audit depart-
ment, as well as the internal audit program, budget and staffing and any recommended changes
in the planned scope of the internal audit.

20. Discuss the Internal Audit Charter at least annually.

21. Discuss with management, the internal auditors and the independent auditors the
adequacy and effectiveness of accounting and financial controls, including the Company’s
policies and procedures to assess, monitor, and manage business risk, and legal and ethical
compliance programs (e.g., the Company's Code of Business Conduct) and any special audit
steps adopted in light of material control deficiencies.

22. Discuss with the Board the Company’s policies and procedures regarding compliance
with applicable laws and regulations and with the Company’s Code of Business Conduct and
Ethics.

23. Discuss management’s assertion on its assessment of the effectiveness of internal
controls as of 'the end of the most recent fiscal year and the independent auditors’ report on
management’s assertion.

24. Establish and discuss annually procedures for the receipt, retention, and treatment of
complaints received by the Company regarding accounting, internal accounting controls, or
auditing matters, and the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the Company of
concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters. ‘

25. Discuss with management and the independent auditors any correspondence with
regulators or governmental agencies and any employee complaints or published reports which
raise material issues regarding the Company’s financial statements or accounting policies.

26. Discuss with the Company’s General Counsel legal matters that may have a significant
impact on the,financial statements or the Company’s compliance policies.
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ARCH COAL, INC. -

INCENTIVE COMPENSATION PLAN
FOR EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

1. Purpose of the Plan

The purpose of the Arch Coal, Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan for Executive Officers (as
amended from time to time, the “Plan’’) is to provide an opportunity for Executive Officers of Arch
Coal, Inc. to earn competitive annual cash incentive awards through the achievement of pre-
established performance goals.

2. Definitions

A. “Award” means the amount earned by an Executive Officer for a Plan Year in accordance
with Section 4.

B. “Base Salary’’ means the actual base pay earned by an Executive Officer during the Plan
Year.

C. "CEQ"” means the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
D. “Code’ means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.

E. “Committee”” means the Personnel & Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of
Arch Coal, Inc. ‘ '

F. "Company” means Arch Coal, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

G. "Executive Officer’”” means the President and CEO, the Chief Operating Officer, the Chief
Financial Officer and each Vice President and other officer of the Company who is subject to the
reporting requirements of Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

H. “Maximum Award Opportunity’ shall be the maximum annual incentive Award that an
Executive Officer is eligible for under this Plan.

I. "Performance Measures’’ means the Company performance objectives determined by the
Committee within 90 days of the beginning of each Plan year for Executive Officers. Performance
Measures may include, but are not limited to, (i) net income; (ii) cash flow; (iii) earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation, depletion and amortization (EBITDA); (iv) operating income; (v) earnings
per share (EPS); (vi) debt reduction; (vi) safety incident rate; {viii} cost reduction; {ix) production rates;
(x) environmental compliance; and (xi) operating cost per ton. As determined by the Committee, the
Performance Measures shall be applied (A) in absolute terms or relative to one or more other
companies or indices and (B) to a business unit, geographic region, one or more separately
incorporated entities, or the Company as a whole.

J. "Plan” means the Arch Coal, Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan for Executive Officers, as it
may be amended from time to time.

K. "Plan Year’ means the calendar year, commencing on January 1 and ending on December
31.

3. Eligibility
A. The Committee shall establish, from time to time, Award opportunities for Executive Officers.

B. Awards to Executive Officers who begin participating in the Plan after the beginning of a Plan
Year will be prorated using the ratio of months the Executive Officer is in the Plan compared to the
total months in the Plan Year.
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C. Participants will cease to be participants in the Plan effective as of the date they no longer
hold an Executive Officer position.

4. Awards

A. Within 90 days of the beginning of each Plan Year, the Committee shall determine in writing
(i) the Executive Officers who shall be eligible to receive an Award opportunity for such Plan Year,
(i) the Performance Measures applicable to each such Executive Officer's Award opportunity and
(iii) the formula for computing the amount of the Award payable to each Executive Officer if the
Performance Measures are achieved (such formula shall, unless otherwise determined by the
Committee, comply with the requirements applicable to performance-based compensation plans
under Section 162(m) of the Code and the related Treasury regulations).

B. The Maximum Award Opportunity for an Executive Officer for any calendar year shall be
$2,500,000. Any Award under the Plan that is intended to comply with the exception for
"performance-based compensation” under Section 162(m) of the Code and the related Treasury
regulations shall be administered in accordance with Section 162(m) and such regulations, and if any
Plan provision is found not to be in compliance with Section 162(m) of the Code, the provision shall
be deemed modified as necessary to so comply.

C. Awards shall be calculated by the Committee at the end of each Plan Year based on the
Award Opportunities of each Executive Officer and the achievement of the Performance Measures set
by the Committee with respect to Executive Officers for the Plan Year. At the election of the
Committee, an Award may be reduced for individual performance or any other reason; however, no
Award under this Plan may exceed the Award calculated based on the Performance Measures
established by the Committee for such Plan Year. The Committee may, in its discretion, make
appropriate adjustments in the Performance Measures established for a particular Plan Year to take
account of the effect of any unforeseen events that occur during such Plan Year.

5. Payment of Award

A. Except with respect to a reduction in force or pursuant to any written agreement between the
Company and the Executive Officer, any rights an Executive Officer may have to receive an Award will
be forfeited if the Executive Officer’'s employment is terminated prior to the date of approval of the
Award; however, the Committee shall determine to what extent, if any, an Award shall be payable
under the Plan and may elect to make a pro rata payment (based on full months of participation
during the year or otherwise) in its sole discretion.

B. The Award, if any, earned in accordance with Section 4 shall be paid in cash by the Company
to the Executive Officer within a reasonable period, which in most cases will be thirty (30) days after
the Committee’s certification that the Award was earned by the Executive Officer. The Company shall
deduct from any Award paid under the Plan the amount of any taxes required to be withheld by the
federal or any state or local government.

6. Death or Disability

In the event of an Executive Officer’'s death or permanent and total disability prior to receiving his
or her Award, a pro rata payment of such Award (based on full months of participation) shall be paid
to the Executive Officer or to the Executive Officer's designated beneficiary (or to his or her estate in
the event the Participant dies without previously having designated a beneficiary in writing to the
Company) pursuant to Section 6.
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7. Amendment or Termination of the Plan

The Committee reserves the right to terminate or amend the Plan, in whole or in part, or waive
any provision thereof at any time and from time to time, provided that no amendment, termination or
waiver shall adversely affect any Award previously earned by an Executive Officer.
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PART II — ANNUAL REPORT

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Forward-Looking Statements

In this annual report, statements that are not reported financial results or other historical
information are ""forward-looking statements.”” Forward-looking statements give current expectations
or forecasts of future events and are not guarantees of future performance. They are based on our
management'’s expectations that involve a number of business risks and uncertainties, any of which
could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in or implied by the forward-
looking statements.

Forward-looking statements can be identified by the fact that they do not relate strictly to historic
or current facts. They use words such as “‘anticipate,” ‘‘estimate,” "'project,” "intend,” “plan,”
"believe’ and other words and terms of similar meaning in connection with any discussion of future
operating or financial performance. In particular, these include statements relating to:

ot o

» our expectation of continued growth in the demand for our coal by the domestic electric
generation industry;

* our belief that legislation and regulations relating to the Clean Air Act and other proposed
environmental initiatives and the relatively higher costs of competing fuels will increase
demand for our compliance and low sulfur coal;

* our expectations regarding incentives to generators of electricity to minimize their fuel costs as
a result of electric utility deregulation;

* our expectation that we will continue to have adequate liquidity from cash flow from
operations;

+ avariety of market, operational, geologic, permitting, labor and weather related factors;
* our expectations regarding any synergies to be derived from the Triton acquisition; and

» the other risks and uncertainties which are described below under “Contingencies’” and
"Certain Trends and Uncertainties,” including, but not limited to, the following:

* A reduction in consumption by the domestic electric generation industry may cause our
profitability to decline.

* Extensive environmental laws and regulations could cause the volume of our sales to decline.

* The coal industry is highly regulated, which restricts our ability to conduct mining operations
and may cause our profitability to decline.

* We may not be able to obtain or renew our surety bonds on acceptable terms.
* Unanticipated mining conditions may cause profitability to fluctuate.

. Intense competition and excess industry capacity in the coal producing regions has adversely
affected our revenues and may continue to do so in the future.

* Deregulation of the electric utility industry may cause customers to be more price-sensitive,
resulting in a potential decline in our profitability.

» Our profitability may be adversely affected by the status of our long-term coal supply
contracts.

* Decreases in purchases of coal by our largest customers could adversely affect our revenues.
* Unavailability of coal reserves would cause our profitability to decline.
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» Disruption in, or increased costs of, transportation services could adversely affect our
profitability.

» Numerous uncertainties exist in estimating our economically recoverable coal reserves, and
inaccuracies in our estimates could result in lower revenues, higher costs or decreased
profitability.

* Title defects or loss of leasehold interests in our properties could result in unanticipated costs
or an inability to mine these properties.

» Acquisitions that we have undertaken or may undertake involve a number of inherent risks,
any of which could cause us not to realize the benefits anticipated to result.

» Some of our agreements limit our ability to manage our western operations exclusively.

* Qur expenditures for postretirement medical and pension benefits have increased since
2002 and could further increase in the future.

* Qur inability to comply with restrictions imposed by our credit facilities and other debt
arrangements could result in a default under these agreements.

* Our estimated financial results may prove to be inaccurate.

We cannot guarantee that any forward-looking statements will be realized, although we believe
that we have been prudent in our plans and assumptions. Achievement of future results is subject to
risks, uncertainties and assumptions that may prove to be inaccurate. Should known or unknown risks
or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove to be inaccurate, actual results
could vary materially from those anticipated, estimated or projected.

‘We undertake no obligation to publicly update forward-looking statements, whether as a result
of new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required by law. You are advised,
however, to consider any additional disclosures that we or Arch Coal may make on related subjects in
future filings with the SEC. You should understand that it is not possible to predict or identify all
factors that could cause our actual results to differ. Consequently, you should not consider any such
list to be a complete set of all potential risks or uncertainties.

Recent Development

On March 3, 2005, shares of performance-contingent phantom stock granted in January 2004 to
our executive officers vested and were paid out in a combination of cash and shares of our stock. The
phantom stock grant vested when our average closing stock price exceeded $40 per share over
20 consecutive trading days. As a result of the payout, we will incur a charge of $9.9 million, or
approximately $0.16 per share, during our gquarter ending March 31, 2005.

Overview

We are a producer and marketer of compliance and low-sulfur coal exclusively, which we supply
to domestic electric utilities and independent power producers, as well as to steel producers and
industrial facilities. We operate large, modern mines in each of the three major low-sulfur
coal-producing basins in the United States. These mines are among the most productive in the regions
in which they operate and are supported by an extensive, low-cost reserve base totaling 3.7 billion
tons.

We derive approximately 70% of our revenues from long-term supply contracts (defined as
having terms of one year or greater). These supply agreements typically have terms of one to three
years, although certain contracts have much longer durations. The remainder of our coal sales result
from sales on the spot market.
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The locations of our mining operations are as follows:

Powder River Basin (‘PRB’") — We operate one surface mine, Black Thunder (into which the
operations of the Morth Rochelle mine were integrated during 2004), and we own one idle surface
mine, Coal Creek, in the Powder River Basin of Wyoming. The PRB is the nation’s largest and fastest
growing coal supply basin.

Central Appatachia (""CAPP"")— We operate or control 22 mines in this coal basin (defined as
southern West Virginia, eastern Kentucky and Virginia). Included in this total are 14 deep mines and
8 surface mines. We are in the process of developing a large longwalt mine, Mountain Laurel, that is
expected to ramp up to full production in 2007. CAPP is the principal source of low-sulfur coal in the
eastern United- States.

Western Bituminous Region {("WBIT") — We operate three mines in this region (defined as
Colorado, Utah and southern Wyoming), including a longwall mine in Colorado and two longwall
mines in Utah. In addition, we have announced plans to begin development work on another
longwali mine at the currently idle Skyline mine complex in Utah. Coal from WBIT can be used as a
substitute for high-Btu eastern coal, which is in short supply.

Coal is the dominant fuel source for electric generation in the United States. Coal was the fuel
source for 51% of the electricity generated in the United States in 2004. Furthermore, coal has
significant advantages that should enable it to maintain or even increase market share over the course
of the next two decades. First, coal is a low-cost fuel for electric generation, averaging less than one-
third of the cost of natural gas or crude oil per megawatt hour of generation. In addition, there is
significant excess ¢apacity at existing coal-fired power plants, and this excess capacity represents a
very low-cost source of electricity to the grid. At present, coal-fired power plants are operating at an
average utilization rate of 71%. We believe that there is significant potential to increase those
utilization rates and thus drive increased coal demand. In addition, power generators have announced
plans to construct 65 gigawatts of new coal-fired generating capacity in future years, which would
increase the installed base by roughly 20%.

The principal driver for U.S. coal demand is growth in domestic power generation. Domestic
power needs are expected to grow over the next several years as the economy grows and the U.S.
economy hecomes increasingly electrified. The U.S. Energy Information Administration projects that
power demand will grow at a rate of 1.9% annually over the ¢ourse of the next two decades.

As energy demand grows, we believe that coal is well positioned to supply much of this demand.
Competing fuels that have played a prominent role in meeting the nation’s power needs in recent
years are starting to be confronted with obstacles that could impede their future growth.

America’s fleet of nuclear power plants, which is the second leading source of electric generation
in the U.S. with a roughly 20% share, is operating near its effective capacity. Nuclear output has
remained relatively flat since 2001. It appears unlikely that any new nuclear capacity will be
constructed in the next five to 10 years.

Natural gas, the source of roughly 17% of U.S. electricity supply, is facing growing concerns
about the ability to increase North American production sufficiently to keep pace with demand. While
imports of liquefied natural gas (LNG) are expected to alleviate some of this supply pressure in the
future; it will likely be several years before LNG will play a meaningful role in U.S. electric generation.

That means that coal will continue to act as the dominant fuel source for electric generation in
the years ahead. In addition, we believe that low-sulfur coal will benefit disproportionately from
future coal demand growth. Utilities have sought to comply with the sulfur dioxide standards
contained in Phase Il of the Clean Air Act by shifting increasingly to low sulfur coals rather than
building expensive scrubbing capacity. At present, less than 30% of eastern coal-based power
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generation is equipped with scrubbers. Until a significant amount of new scrubbing capacity is added,
we believe that low-sulfur coal will have a very pronounced advantage in the marketplace.

Our management has positioned the company to benefit from these trends by focusing on cost
containment and growth in our core operating regions.

In recent quarters, operating costs have risen due in part to higher costs associated with medical
benefits, workers’ compensation, insurance, explosives, diesel fuel, steel, permitting and surety
bonding. We are focused on offsetting future cost increases with cost savings and productivity
improvements elsewhere. During 2005, we plan to capture operating synergies created by recent
acquisitions; continue our efforts to extend best practices across all mines; implement process
improvements; apply cutting-edge maintenance programs; and invest in advanced technologies
where appropriate and prudent.

During 2004, we committed — or made plans to commit — more than $1.2 billion in growth
capital. Much of this capital will be invested in future periods as we make additional payments on
reserve additions or continue mine development projects. We expect to fund most of our currently
anticipated capital requirements through existing cash on the balance sheet and internally generated
cash flow.

We currently anticipate that much of our future growth will be organic in nature. As demand for
coal grows, we will evaluate the expansion of our existing operations and the development of new
mines on our existing reserve base.

Results of Operations
Acquisitions

On August 20, 2004, we acquired (1) Vulcan Coal Holdings, L.L.C., which owned all of the
common equity of Triton Coal Company, LLC ("'Triton’"), and (2) all of the preferred units of Triton for
a purchase price of $382.1 million, including transaction costs and working capital adjustments.
Immediately following the consummation of the transaction, we sold the smaller of Triton's two
mines, Buckskin, to Kiewit Mining Acguisition Company, at a net sales price of $73.1 million. After
completion of these transactions, we integrated the operations of the larger of Triton's two mines,
North Rochelle, with our existing Black Thunder mine in the Powder River Basin.

On July 31, 2004, we purchased the remaining 35% interest in Canyon Fuel Company, LLC
("Canyon Fuel’) not owned by us from ITOCHU Corporation for a purchase price of $112.2 million,
including related costs and fees. Net of cash acquired, the fair value of the transaction totaled
$97.4 million. As a result of the acquisition, we own substantially all of the ownership interests of
Canyon Fuel and no longer account for our investment in Canyon Fuel on the equity method but
consolidate Canyon Fuel in our financial statements subsequent to the July 31, 2004 purchase date.
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Items Affecting Comparability of Reported Results

The comparison of our operating results for the years ending December 31, 2004, 2003 and
2002 are affected by the following significant items:
Year Ended December 31,
‘ 2004 2003 2002
{Amount in millions)

Operating Income

Gain on sale of NRP Units .. ..o ovvvve e $913 $427 $ —
Retroactive royalty rate reductions . ....................... 2.7 — 4.4
Black lung excise tax refund ........... ... L 2.1 — —
Severance costs — Skylinemine .......................... (2.1) — —
Gainfrom land sales ......... .. .. . . i 6.7 3.8 0.8
Long-term incentive compensation accrual . ................ (5.5) (16.2) —
Severance tax reCOVETIBS ...\ ittt — 2.5 —
Reduction in workforce .......... ... . — (2.6) —
Gainon contract buyout .. ....... ... — — 5.6
Workers' compensation premium adjustment .............. — — 46
Net increase in operating income. ................ovoun.. $ 952 $302 3154
Other
Expenses resulting from termination of hedge accounting for

interest rate SWaps . ... (8.3) 4.3) —
Expenses resulting from early debt extinguishment.......... (0.7) 4.7) —
Interest on federal income tax refund ..................... 2.2 — —
Interest on black lung excise tax refund ........... e 0.7 — —
Gain from mark-to-market adjustments on interest rate

swaps that no longer qualify as hedges ................. — 13.4 —-
Net increase in pre-tax income........................... $ 89.1 $346 $154

Gain on Sale of NRP Units.  During 2004, we sold our remaining limited partnership units of NRP
resulting in proceeds of approximately $111.4 million and gains of $91.3 million. During 2003, we
sold our general partner interest and subordinated units resulting in proceeds of $115.0 million and a
gain of $42.7 million.

Retroactive Royalty Rate Adjustments. During 2004 and 2002, we filed a royalty rate reduction
request with the Bureau of Land Management ("BLM") for our West Elk mine in Colorado. The BLM
notified us that we would receive a royalty rate reduction for a specified number of tons representing
retroactive portions for the respective years totaling $2.7 million and $3.3 million. The retroactive
portion was recognized as a component of cost of coal sales in both years. Additionally in 2002,
Canyon Fuel was notified by the BLM that it would receive a royalty rate reduction for certain tons
mined at its Skyline mine. The rate reduction applies to certain tons mined representing a retroactive
refund of $1.1 million. The retroactive amount was reflected in income from equity investments.

Black Lung Excise Tax Refunds. During 2004, we were notified by the IRS that we would receive
additional black lung excise tax refunds and interest related to black lung claims that were originally
denied by the IRS in 2002. We recognized a gain of $2.8 million ($2.1 million refund and $0.7 million

of interest) related to the claims. The $2.1 million refund was recorded as a component of cost of coal
sales, while the $0.7 million of interest was recorded as interest income.

Severance Costs — Skyline Mine.  During 2004, Canyon Fuel, which was accounted for under
the equity method through July 31, 2004, began the process of idling its Skyline Mine (the idling
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process was completed in May 2004), and incurred severance costs of $3.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004. Qur share of these costs totals $2.1 million and is reflected in income from
equity investments.

Gain from Land Sales. During the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, we
recognized gains from land sales at our idle properties. These gains are reported as other operating
income.

Expenses resulting from early debt extinguishment and termination of hedge accounting for
interest rate swaps. On June 25, 2003, we repaid the term loans of our subsidiary, Arch Western,
with the proceeds from the offering of senior notes. In connection with the repayment of the term
loans, we recognized expenses related to the write-off of loan fees and other debt extinguishment
costs. Additionally, we had designated certain interest rate swaps as hedges of the variable rate
interest payments due under the Arch Western term loans. Pursuant to the requirements of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities ("FAS 133"), historical mark-to-market adjustments related to these swaps through
June 25, 2003 were deferred as a component of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss. Subse-
quent to the repayment of the term loans, these deferred amounts will be amortized as additional
expense over the contractual terms of the swap agreements. For the years ending December 31, 2004
and 2003, we recognized expenses of $8.3 million and $4.3 million, respectively, related to the
amortization of previously deferred mark-to-market adjustments and expenses of $0.7 million and
$4.7 million, respectively, related to early debt extinguishment costs.

Interest on federal income tax refunds. In connection with the settlement of tax audits for prior
years, we recorded interest income in 2004 related to federal income tax refunds. This amount is
reflected as interest income.

Long-term Incentive Compensation Plan Expense. During 2004, we accrued $5.5 million under
long-term incentive compensation plans. Awards under these plans included restricted stock unit
grants that vest over three years and performance unit awards that are earned if the Company meets
certain financial, safety and environmental targets during the three years ending December 31, 2006.
During the fourth quarter of 2003, our Board of Directors approved awards under a four-year
performance unit plan that began in 2000. Amounts accrued for the plan totaled $16.2 million in
2003.

Severance Tax Recoveries. During 2003, we were notified by the State of Wyoming of a
favorable ruling relating to our calculation of coal severance taxes. The ruling resulted in a refund of
previously paid taxes and the reversal of previously accrued taxes payable. This amount was recorded
as a component of cost of coal sales in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Reduction in Workforce. During the year ending December 31, 2003, we instituted cost
reduction efforts throughout our operations. These cost reduction efforts included the termination of
approximately 100 employees at our corporate office and CAPP mining operations. Of the expense
recognized, $1.6 million was recognized as a component of cost of coal sales, with the remainder
recognized as a component of selling, general and administrative expenses.

Mark-to-market adjustments on interest rate swaps that no longer qualify as hedges. We are a
party to several interest rate swap agreements that were entered into in order to hedge the variable
rate interest payments due under Arch Western's term loans. Subsequent to the repayment of those
term loans, the swaps no longer qualify for-hedge accounting under FAS 133. As such, favorable
changes in the market value of the swap agreements were recorded as a component of income and
are included in other non-operating income in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. During the
year ended December 31, 2003, we recognized income of $13.4 million related to the mark-to-
market adjustments on these swap agreements.
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Gain on Contract Buyout. During 2002, we settled certain coal contracts with a customer that
was partially unwinding its ccal supply position and desired to buy out of the remaining terms of
those contracts. The settlements resuited in a pre-tax gain, which was recognized in other operating
income in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Workers’ Compensation Premium Adjustment. During 2002, we received a workers’ compen-
sation premium adjustment refund from the State of West Virginia. During 1998, we entered into the
West Virginia workers’ compensation plan at one of our subsidiary operations. The subsidiary paid
standard base rates until the West Virginia Division of Workers’ Compensation could determine the
actual rates based on claims experience. Upon review, the Division of Workers’” Compensation
refunded $4.6 million in premiums. The refund is reflected as a reduction in cost of coal sales.

Year Ended December 31, 2004, Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2003

Summarized operating results for 2004 versus 2003 and additional discussion of the 2004 results
are provided below.

Revenues
Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease)
2004 2003 $ %
(Amounts in thousands, except per ton data)
Coalsales ....................... $1,907,168 $1,435,488 $471,680 329%
Tonssold........................ 123,060 100,634 22,426  22.3%

Coal sales realization per tonsold .. $ 15.50 § 1426 $ 124 8.7%

Tons sold by operating segment

Tons Sold % of Total
2004 2003 2004 2003
: (Amounts in thousands)
Powder River Basin . ...................... 81,857 64,050 66.5% 63.6%
Central Appalachia ........ ... ... ... 30,008 29,667 24.4% 295%
Western Bituminous Region ............... 11,195 6,917 9.1% 6.9%
Total operating regions ................... 123,060 100,634 100.0% 100.0%

Coal sales. The increase in coal sales resulted from the combination of higher pricing, increased
volumes and the acquisitions of Triton and the remaining 35% interest in Canyon Fuel during the
third quarter of 2004,

Volumes increased slightly in Central Appalachia (an increase of 1.2%), but increased more
dramatically in the Powder River Basin (an increase of 27.8%) and at our Western Bituminous
operations {(an increase of 61.9%). Volumes in both the Powder River Basin and the Western
Bituminous region benefited from the acquisitions that were completed in the third quarter of 2004.

Per ton realizations increased due primarily to higher contract prices in all three regions. In the
Powder River Basin, per ton realization increased 11.3%, including above-market pricing on certain
contracts acquired in the Triton acquisition. The Central Appalachia region experienced the largest per
ton realization increase (an increase of 21.3%), as both contract and spot market prices were higher
than in 2003. Additionally, a higher percentage of our sales were metallurgical coal sales in 2004 as
compared to 2003. The Western Bituminous region'’s per ton realization increased 13.4%. In addition
to higher contract pricing, per ton realizations in the Western Bituminous region were also affected by
the acquisition of the remaining 35% interest in Canyon Fuel. Excluding the effects of the Canyon
Fuel acquisition, per ton realizations for Western Bituminous would have increased 10.4% over the
prior year.
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On a consolidated basis, the increase in per ton realizations was partially offset by the change in
mix of sales volumes among our operating regions. As reflected in the table above, Central
Appalachia volumes (which have the highest average realization) decreased while volumes in the
Powder River Basin and Western Bituminous Region increased from the prior year.

Costs and Expenses

Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease)
2004 2003 $ %
(Amounts in thousands, except per ton data)
Costof coalsales................ $1,638,284 $1,280,608 $357,676  27.9%
Depreciation, depletion and
amortization .................. 166,322 158,464 7,858 5.0%
Selling, general and administrative
EXPENSES ottt 52,842 43,942 8,900 20.3%
Long-term incentive compensation
COBXPENSE ... 5,495 16,217 (10,722) (66.1)%
Other expenses .................. 35,758 18,245 17,513 96.0%

$1,898,701 $1,517,476  $381,225 25.1%

Cost of coal sales. The increase in cost of coal sales is primarily due to the increase in coal sales
revenues discussed above. Specific factors contributing to the increase are as follows:

Production taxes and coal royalties (which are incurred as a percentage of coal sales
realization) increased $71.8 million.

Poor rail performance during 2004 resulted in missed shipments and disruptions in production.

Qur Central Appalachia cperations incurred higher costs related to additional processing
necessary to sell coal in metallurgical markets.

The cost of purchased coal increased $105.9 million, reflecting a combination of increased
purchase volumes and higher spot market prices that were prevalent during 2004, During
2004, we utilized purchased coal to fulfill steam coal sales commitments in order to direct
more of our produced coal into the metallurgical markets.

Costs for explosives and diesel fuel increased $9.5 million and $22.4 million, respectively.

Costs for operating supplies increased $16.9 million due primarily to increased commodity and
steel prices during the year.

Repairs and maintenance costs increased $21.3 million due pa'rtially to the acquisitions made
during the third guarter of 2004.

During the first quarter of 2004, we reflected the effects of the Medicare Prescription Drug,
Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 ("the Act”), in accordance with the provisions of FASB
Staff Position No. FAS 106-2, Accounting and Disclosure Requirements related to the Medicare
Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003. Incérporation of the provisions of
the Act resulted in a $68.0 million reduction of our postretirement medical benefit obligation.
Postretirement medical expenses for fiscal year 2004 after incorporation of the provisions of the Act
resulted in $18.2 million less expense than that previously anticipated (substantially all of which is
recorded as a component of cost of coal sales). The benefit for the year ending December 31, 2004
was partially offset by increased costs resulting from changes to other actuarial assumptions that were
incorporated at the beginning of the year.
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Depreciation, depletion and amortization. The increase in depreciation, depletion and amortiza-
tion is due primarily to the property additions resulting from the acquisitions made during the third
quarter of 2004. '

Regional Analysis:

Our operating costs (reflected below on a per-ton basis) are defined as including all mining
costs, which consist of all amounts classified as cost of coal sales (except pass-through
transportation costs) and all depreciation, depletion and amortization attributable to mining

operations.
Year Ended Increase
December 31, (Decrease)
2004 2003 $ %
Powder River Basin. . ...........o0vvuuoi. .. $ 6.19 §$ 545 $0.74 13.6%
Central Appalachia......................... $34.84 $30.87  $397 12.9%
Western Bituminous Region ................. $15.71  $15.41 $0.30 1.9%

Powder River Basin — On a per-ton basis, operating costs increased in the Powder River
Basin primarily idue to increased cost of purchased coal ($0.31 per ton), increased production
taxes and coal royalties (30.17 per ton) and to the higher explosives and diesel fuel costs
discussed above. Additionally, average costs were higher due to the integration of the acquired
North Rochelle mine into our Black Thunder mine.

Central Appalachia — QOperating cost per ton increased due to increased costs for coal
purchases ($2.52 per ton), increased diesel fuel ($0.38 per ton) and production taxes and coal
royalties ($0.49 per ton) as well as the increased preparation costs for metallurgical coal
discussed above. Additionally, poor rail performance at our Central Appalachia operations
resulted in disruptions in production. As many of our costs are fixed in nature, the reduced
volume did not result in reduced overall costs.

Western Bituminous Region — Operating cost per ton increased primarily due to increased
production taxes and coal royalties ($0.27 per ton).

Selling, general and administrative expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses
increased due primarily to legal and professional fees, franchise taxes and higher expenses resulting
from amounts expected to be earned under our annual incentive plans.

Other expenses. The increase in other expenses is primarily a result of higher costs to terminate
certain contractual obligations for the purchase of coal as compared to the prior year.

Other Operating Income

Year Ended Increase
December 31, (Decrease)
2004 2003 $ %
(Amounts in thousands)
income from equity investments. ... ... $ 10,828 § 34,390 $(23,562) (68.5)%
Gain on sale of units of NRP.......... 91,268 42,743 48,525 113.5%
Other operating income.............. 67,483 45,226 22,257 492%

$169,579  §$122,359 $ 47,220 38.6%'

Income from equity investments. Income from equity investments for 2004 consists of $8.4 mil-
lion from our investment in Canyon Fuel (prior to our July 31, 2004 acquisition of the 35% interest we
did not own) and $2.4 million from our investment in NRP (prior to the sale of NRP units in March
2004). For 2003, income from equity investments consisted of $19.7 million of income from our
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investment in Canyon Fuel and $14.7 million from our investment in NRP. The decline in income from
our investment in Canyon Fuel results from the consolidation of Canyon Fuel into our financial
statements subsequent to the July 31, 2004 purchase date, lower production and sales levels at
Canyon Fuel prior to the acquisition and additional costs related to idling the Skyline Mine, including
the severance costs noted above.

Other operating income. The increase in other operating income is primarily due to the
recognition in 2004 of $13.9 million of previously deferred gains from the 2003 and 2004 NRP unit
sales. These deferred gains are being recognized over the terms of our leases with NRP. The increase is
also due to gains recognized on land sales of $6.7 million in 2004 compared to $3.8 million in 2003.

Interest Expense, Net

Year Ended Increase
December 31, (Decrease)
2004 2003 $ Y%
(Amounts in thousands)
Interest expense . ........... ... .. L $62,634 $50,133 $12,501 24.9%
Interest income ....... ... L. (6,130) (2,636) (3,494) (132.5)%

- $56,504 347,497 § 9,007 19.0%

Interest expense. The increase in interest expense results from a higher average interest rate in
the first six months of 2004 as compared to the same period in 2003 as well as a higher amount of
average borrowings from August through December 2004 as compared to the prior year. in 2004,
the Company's outstanding borrowings consisted primarily of fixed rate borrowings, while borrow-
ings in the first half of 2003 were primarily variable rate borrowings. Short-term interest rates in 2003
were lower than the fixed rate borrowing that made up the majority of average debt balances in
2004,

Interest Income. The increase in interest income is partly due to interest on the federal income
tax refunds discussed above. The remaining increase results primarily from interest on short-term
investments.

Other non-operating income and expense

Year Ended Increase
December 31, (Decrease)
2004 2003 $ %

(Amounts in thousands)
Expenses resulting from early debt
extinguishment and termination of
hedge accounting for interest rate
SWAPS + et e e $9,0010 $ 8955 § 55 0.6%
Other non-operating income ............ (1,044) (13,211} 12,167 92.1%

$7,966 $ (4256) $12,222 287.2%

Amounts reported as non-operating consist of income or expense resulting from the Company’s
financing activities other than interest. As described above, the Company’s results of operations for
the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 include expenses of $8.3 million and $4.3 million,
respectively, related to the termination of hedge accounting and resulting amortization of amounts
that had previously been deferred. Additionally, we incurred expenses of $0.7 million and $4.7 million
related to early debt extinguishment costs in 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Cther non-operating income in 2003 was primarily from mark-to-market adjustments on swaps
as described above. During 2003, we terminated these positions or entered into offsetting positions.
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Income taxes

Year Ended Increase
December 31, (Decrease)
2004 2003 $ %
{(Amounts in thousands)
Income tax benefit ......... ... o $130 $23,210  $(23,080) (99.4)%

Our effective tax rate is sensitive to changes in estimates of annual profitability and percentage
depletion. The income tax benefit recorded in 2004 is due primarily to a $7.1 million benefit due to
favorable tax settlements and a $9.7 million reduction in income tax reserves associated with the
completion of the 1999 through 2002 federal income tax audits. The change is also the result of the
tax benefit from percentage depletion offset by the tax impact from the sales of the NRP units
throughout 2004.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded at the maximum effective tax rate. Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 109 "'Accounting for Income Taxes”" requires that deferred tax
assets be reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the’
deferred tax asset will not be realized. We have historically been subject to alternative minimum tax
(AMT), and it is more likely than not that we will remain an AMT taxpayer in the foreseeable future.
Valuation allowances are established against deferred tax assets so as to value the asset to an amount
that is realizable, as further described in "Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition — Critical Accounting Policies.”

Net income before cumulative effect of accounting change

Year Ended Increase
December 31, (Decrease)
2004 2003 $ %

{Amounts in thousands)

Net income before cumulative effect of
accounting change . ... ... $113,706  $20,340 $93,366 459.0%

The increase im net income before cumulative effect of accounting change is primarily due to
higher coal sales revenues and the gain recognized from the sales of NRP units during 2004 (net of
related tax provision).

Year Ended December 31, 2003, Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2002

Summarized operating results for 2003 versus 2002 and additional discussion of the 2003 results
are provided below.

Revenues
Year Ended Increase
December 31, (Decrease)
2003 2002 5 %
(Amounts in thousands, except per ton data)
Coalsales ........................ $1,435,488 $1,473,558 $(38,070) (2.6)%
Tonssold......................... 100,634 106,691 6,057) (5.7)%
Coal sales realization per tonsold ... $ 1426 $ 1381 $ 045 33%
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Percentage of tons sold by operating segment

Tons Sold % of Total
2003 2002 2003 2002
. (Amounts in thousands)
Powder River Basin ....................... 64,050 67,249 63.6% 63.0%
Central Appalachia ....................... 29,667 32,054 29.5% 30.1%
Western Bituminous Region .............. . 6,917 7,388 6.9% 6.9%
Total operating regions ................... 100,634 106,691 100.0% 100.0%

Coal sales. Coal sales revenues decreased in 2003 as compared to 2002 primarily as a result of
a decline in sales volume in 2003. Volumes were depressed in large part because our utility customers
reduced coal stockpile inventory levels throughout the year. Offsetting the volume decline was an
increase in average realization, due primarily to higher pricing on contract shipments made in 2003 as
compared to 2002. We experienced higher pricing in all of our operating basins, as average
realizations increased 10.4% in the Powder River Basin, 2.6% in Central Appalachia and 2.8% in the
Western Bituminous region.

Our consolidated coal sales revenues are impacted by the mix of sales among our operating
regions, as Central Appalachia coal has higher pricing on a per-ton basis than either of our other
operating regions. The comparison of revenues for 2003 and 2002 is relatively unaffected by the mix
of sales between our operating regions.

Costs and Expenses

Year Ended Increase
December 31, (Decrease)
2003 2002 $ %
{Amounts in thousands, except per ton data)
Costof coalsales ................ $1,280,608 $1,262,516 $ 18,092 1.4%
Depreciation, depletion and
amortization ................... 158,464 174,752 (16,288) (9.3)%
Selling, general and administrative
EXPENSES .t 43,942 37,999 5,943 15.6%
Long-term incentive compensation
EXPENSE . ottt 16,217 — 16,217 N/A
Other expenses .................. 18,245 29,595 (11,350) (38.4)%

$1,517,476  $1,504,862 $ 12,614 0.8%

Cost of coal sales. Cost of coal sales increased despite a decrease in coal sales revenues and
tonnage due primarily to increased costs related to our pension and postretirement medical plans of
$34.0 million. This increase was a result of changes in the actuarial assumptions used to determine
the liabilities and expenses related to the plans. Of the $34.0 million increase, $33.5 million related to
our Central Appalachian operations. Additionally, cost of coal sales in 2003 was negatively impacted
by the charges related to the reduction in force mentioned above and due to disruptions in
production resulting from severe weather in the first quarter of 2003 at certain operations.

Depreciation, depletion and amortization. The decrease is due partially to a decline in depletion
in 2003 as compared to 2002 that relates to a decrease in overall sales volumes of 5.7%. The
decrease also relates to a decline in the amortization of coal supply agreements in 2003 as compared
to 2002. This was primarily a result of the renegotiation of a significant contract in 2003. In April
2003, we agreed to terms with a customer seeking to buy out of the remaining term of an above-
market supply contract. The buyout resulted in the receipt of $52.5 million in cash and the write off of
the contract value of approximately $37.5 million. Amortization related to this contract was
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$0.9 million in 2003 compared to $2.8 million in 2002. Additionally, two other contracts were fully
amortized in 2003. Amortization on these contracts totaled $2.5 million in 2003 versus $5.4 million in
2002.

Regional Anaiysis:

"Our operating costs (reflected below on a per-ton basis) are defined as including all mining
costs, which consist of all amounts classified as cost of coal sales (except pass-through
transportation costs) and all depreciation, depletion and amortization attributable to mining

operations.
Year Ended Increase
December 31, (Decrease)
2003 2002 $ %
Powder River Basin.......... P $ 545 $ 5.31 $0.14  2.6%
Central Appalachia .......................... $30.87 $28.26  $2.61 9.2%
Western Bituminous Region . ................. $15.41  $14.53 $0.88 6.1%

Powder River Basin — On a per-ton basis, operating costs increased slightly primarily a result
of higher costs for certain operating supplies, including explosives and diesel fuel.

Central Appalachia— On a per-ton basis, operating costs increased 9.2% in 2003. As
discussed above, Central Appalachia costs were negatively affected by the increased expense
resulting from changes in actuarial assumptions on our pension and postretirement medical
plans.

Western Bituminous Region — On a per-ton basis, operating costs increased 6.1% in 2003.
Volumes declined as a result of our utility customers reducing inventory stockpiles throughout
the year. As many of our costs are fixed in nature, the reduced volume did not result in reduced
overall costs.

Selling, general and administrative expenses. The increase in selling, general and administrative
expenses is primarily due to an increase in compensation-related expenses and costs related to the
reduction in force mentioned above. Our 2003 administrative expenses include approximately
$2.7 million earned under our annual incentive plan. No amounts were earned under the annual
incentive plan in 2002.

Other expenses. The decrease in other expenses is primarily a result of lower costs to terminate
certain contractual obligations for the purchase of coal as compared to the prior year.

Other Operating Income

Year Ended Increase
December 31, (Decrease)
2003 2002 $ %
(Amounts in thousands)
Income from equity investments ........ $ 34,390 $10,092 $24,298 240.8%
Gain on sale of unitsof NRP .. ......... 42,743 — 42,743 N/A
Other operating income ............... 45,226 50,489 (5,263) (10.4)%

$122,359 360,581 361,778 102.0%

Income from equity investments. Income from equity investments for 2003 is comprised of
$19.7 million from our investment in Canyon Fuel and $14.7 million from our investment in NRP. For
2002, income from Canyon Fuel was $7.8 million and income from NRP was $2.3 million. The
improved results from Canyon Fuel are due primarily to improved operating margins, as reduced
operating costs more than offset slightly lower realizations. The increase in income from NRP is due to
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the fact that 2003 includes a full year of income from NRP, while 2002 includes only that period from
the formation of NRP in October 2002.

Other operating income. The decline in other operating income is due primarily to lower
outlease royalty income resulting from the contribution of reserves and the related leases to NRP. The
royalty income we recorded in 2003 was $7.1 million lower than that reported in 2002. This decline
was partially offset by the gains on the sale of land described above.

Interest Expense, Net

Year Ended Increase
December 31, (Decrease)
2004 2003 $ %
(Amounts in thousands)
Interest expense ................. ... $50,133  $51,922 $(1,789) (3.4)%
CInterestincome ... (2,636) (1,083) (1,553) (143.4)%

$47,497 $50,839  $(3,342) (6.6)%

Interest expense. The decline in interest expense is the result of lower average outstanding
borrowings, as average debt levels declined more than 10% in 2003 as compared to 2002. During
2003, we reduced our overall debt levels through a public offering of preferred stock. This decline in
debt levels was partially offset by higher interest rates. In June of 2003, we replaced Arch Western’s
variable-rate term loans with fixed rate senior notes. The fixed-rate on the senior notes is higher than
the variable rates that we paid in 2002. '

Other non-operating income and expense

Amounts reported as non-operating consist of income or expense resulting from our financing
activities other than interest. As described above, our results of operations for 2003 include expenses
of $4.7 million related to debt extinguishment costs and $4.3 million related to the termination of
hedge accounting and resulting amortization of amounts that had previously been deferred.

Additionally, we recognized income of $13.4 million from mark-to-market adjustments for
interest rate swap agreements which no longer qualify for hedge accounting.

Benefit from income taxes

Year Ended Increase
December 31, (Decrease)
2003 2002 $ %
(Amounts in thousands)
Benefit from income taxes................. $23,210 $19,000 34,210 22.2%

Our effective tax rate is sensitive to changes in estimates of annual profitability and percentage
depletion. The increase in the income tax benefit for 2003 is primarily due to the utilization of a
capital loss which had previously been reserved. We were able to utilize the capital loss to offset a
portion of the gain from the sale of units of NRP.

~ Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded at the maximum effective tax rate. Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 109 "Accounting for Income Taxes' requires that deferred tax
assets be reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that some porticn or all of the
deferred tax asset will not be realized. We have historically been subject to alternative minimum tax
(AMT), and it is more likely than not that we will remain an AMT taxpayer in the foreseeable future.
Valuation allowances are established against deferred tax assets so as to value the asset to an amount
that is realizable, as further described in ""Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition — Critical Accounting Policies.”
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Net income (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting change

Year Ended Increase
December 31, (Decrease)
2003 2002 $ %

(Amounts in thousands)

Net income (loss) before cumulative effect
of accounting change ................. $20,340  $(2,562) $22,902 N/A

The increase in net income before cumulative effect of accounting change is primarily due to the
gain on the sale of units of NRP, offset by the long-term compensation plan expense, each of which is
described above.

Cumulative effect of accounting change

Effective January 1, 2003, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 143,
Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations ("FAS 143"). FAS 143 requires legal obligations
associated with the retirement of long-lived assets to be recognized at fair value at the time
obligations are incurred. Upon initial recognition of a liability, that cost should be capitalized as part of
the related long-lived asset and allocated to expense over the useful life of the asset. Application of
FAS 143 resulted in a cumulative effect loss as of January 1, 2003 of $3.7 million, net of tax.

Outlook

Railroad Transportation Disruptions. During 2004, rail service disruptions resulted in missed
shipments in all of our operating regions, including some of our highest margin coal in Central
Appalachia. In addition, we were periodically forced to curtail production at the West Elk mine in
Colorado and the Black Thunder mine in Wyoming due to high inventory levels stemming from
insufficient rail service. Inventory levels increased approximately 89% from the prior year to
16.1 million tons as of December 31, 2004.

The railroad disruptions, which initially resulted from inadequate staffing at the railroads,
equipment shortages and an unexpected increase in overall rail shipments, improved somewhat
during the third and fourth quarters, but suffered a setback following hurricane-related disruptions in
the Southeast regions of the United States late in the third quarter. We anticipate continued
challenges, with gradual improvement in rail service in the first half of 2005. We are working with our
customers and the railroads in an effort to address these issues in a timely manner.

Expenses Related to Interest Rate Swaps. We had designated certain interest rate swaps as
hedges of the variable rate interest payments due under Arch Western’s term loans. Pursuant to the
requirements of FAS 133, historical mark-to-market adjustments related to these swaps through
June 25, 2003 of $27.0 million were deferred as a component of Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Loss. Subsequent to the repayment of the term loans, these deferred amounts will be amortized as
additional expense over the original contractual terms of the swap agreements. As of December 31,
2004, the remaining deferred amounts will be recognized as expense in the following periods:
$7.7 million in 2005; $4.8 million in 2006; and $1.9 million in 2007.

Chief Objectives. We are focused on taking steps to increase shareholder returns by improving
earnings, strengthening cash generation, and improving productivity at our large-scale mines, while
building on our strategic position in each of the nation’s three principal low-sulfur coal basins. We
believe that success in the coal industry is largely dependent on leadership in three crucial areas of
performance — safety, environmental stewardship and return on investment — and we are pursuing
such leadership aggressively. At the same time, we are sustaining our longstanding focus on being a
low-cost producer in the regions where we operate. We are also seeking to enhance our position as a
preferred supplier to U.S. power producers by acting as a reliable and highly ethical partner. We plan
to focus on organic growth by continuing to develop our existing reserve base, which is large and
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highly strategic. We also plan to evaluate acquisitions that represent a good fit with our existing
operations. )

Disclosure and Internal Controls

An evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of our manage-
ment, including the CEO and CFO, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure
controls and procedures as of December 31, 2004. Based on that evaluation, our management,
including the CEQ and CFO, concluded that the disclosure controls and procedures were effective as
of such date. There were no changes in internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
our fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2004 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following is a summary of cash provided by or used in each of the indicated types of activities
during the past three years:
Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
(In thousands)

Cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities .....................o... $ 146,728 $162,361 $176,417
Investing activities ............... . L. (595,294) 6,832 (128,303)
Financing activities. . .......... ... ... ....... 517,192 75,791 (45,447)

Cash provided by operating activities declined in 2004 as compared to 2003 primarily as a result
of increased investment in working capital. Trade accounts receivable represented the largest use of
funds, increasing by more than $32.5 million (net of amounts acquired in business combinations) in
2004. This increase is due to higher sales levels during the period, as revenues have increased
approximately 33% in 2004 as compared to 2003. Additionally, inventory increased by more than
$12.0 million (net of amounts acquired in business combinations) in 2004. This increase is due
primarily to the continued rail difficulties that resulted in missed shipments during the year. Cash
provided by operating activities in 2003 declined as compared to 2002 due primarily to lower income
levels (after adjusting for gains from the NRP unit sale in December 2003 and other asset sales).

Cash used in investing activities in 2004 is represented largely by payments for acquisitions of
$387.8 million, net of cash acquired, during the third quarter of 2004. We acquired the 35% of the
Canyon Fuel investment not owned by us and the North Rochelle operations from Triton in July and
August 2004, respectively. The Canyon Fuel acquisition was funded with a $22.0 million five-year
note and approximately $90 million of cash on hand. The Triton acquisition was funded with
borrowings under our existing revolving credit facility of $22.0 million, a term loan in the amount of
$100.0 million, and with cash on hand. Capital expenditures and advance royalty payments were
$292.6 million and $33.8 million, respectively. Capital expenditures include $122.2 million related to
the first of five annual payments under the lease of coal mineral reserves at Little Thunder discussed
below. The remaining capital expenditures related to other various plant and equipment purchases,
primarily at our Powder River Basin and Central Appalachia mines. These cash outlays were offset
partially by proceeds of $111.4 million from the sale of the NRP units. Cash provided by investing
activities in 2003 reflects the receipt of $115.0 million from the sale of the subordinated units and
general partner interest of NRP and the receipt of $52.5 million from the buyout of a coal supply
contract with above-market pricing. These non-recurring cash inflows offset our capital expenditures
and advance royalty payments, which totaled $165.0 million. Cash used in investing activities in 2002
is due primarily to capital expenditures and advance royalty payments, which totaled $164.4 million,
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offset partially by the impact of the sale of limited partnership units of NRP in 2002, which generated
proceeds of $33.6 million.

On September 22, 2004, the U.S. Bureau of Land Management ("'BLM") accepted our bid of
$611.0 million for a 5,084-acre federal coal lease known as Little Thunder, which is adjacent to our
Black Thunder mine in the Powder River Basin. According to the BLM, the lease contains approxi-
mately 719.0 million mineable tons of compliance coal. We paid the first of five annual payments at
the time of the bid. The remaining four annual lease payments will be made in fiscal years 2006
through 20009.

Cash provided by financing activities in 2004 consists primarily of proceeds from the issuance of
senior notes of $261.9 million and proceeds from the issuance of common stock through a public
offering of $230.5 million (as described more fully below). Additionally, financing activities in 2004
also include net borrowings under our revolving credit facility of $25.0 million, proceeds of
$37.0 million from the issuance of common stock under our employee stock incentive plan and
dividend payments of $24.0 million. Cash provided by financing activities in 2003 reflects the
proceeds from the issuance of the Arch Western Finance senior notes (which were used to retire Arch
Western's existing debt) and the proceeds from the sale of preferred stock (see additional discussion
below). Cash used in financing activities during 2002 primarily represents net payments under our
revolver and lines of credit, payments of dividends, and reductions of capital lease obligations. In
addition, during 2002, we entered into a sale and leaseback of equipment that resulted in proceeds
of $9.2 million. ‘

On November 24, 2004, we filed a Universal Shelf Registration Statement on Form S-3 with the
Securities and Exchange Commission. The Universal Shelf allows us to offer, from time to time, an
aggregate of up to $1.0 billion in debt securities, preferred stock, depositary shares, purchase
contracts, purchase units, common stock and related rights and warrants.

On October 28, 2004, we completed a public offering of 7,187,500 shares of our common
stock, including the underwriters’ full over-allotment option, at a price of $33.85 per share. We used
the net proceeds of the offering, totaling $230.5 million after the underwriters’ discount and
expenses, to repay borrowings under our revolving credit facility incurred to finance our acquisition of
Triton Coal Company and the first annual payment for the Little Thunder federal coal lease. We
intend to use the remaining proceeds for general corporate purposes, including the development of
the Mountain Laurel longwall mine in Central Appalachia.

On October 22, 2004, two subsidiaries of Arch Western, as co-obligors, issued $250 million of
6%% senior notes due 2013 at a price of 104.75% of par, pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended. The notes form a single series with Arch Western Finance’s existing
6%% senior notes due 2013, except that the new notes are subject to certain transfer restrictions and
are not fully fungible with the existing notes. We have an exchange offer underway for the notes;
after completion of the exchange offer, the notes will be fully fungible with the previously issued
notes. The net proceeds of the offering were used to repay and retire the outstanding indebtedness
under Arch Western’s $100.0 million term loan maturing in 2007, to repay indebtedness under our
revolving credit facility and for general corporate purposes.

On June 25, 2003, Arch Western Finance, LLC, a subsidiary of Arch Western, completed the
offering of $700 million of 6%% senior notes due 2013. The proceeds of the offering were primarily
used to repay Arch Western's existing term loans. Interest on the senior notes is payable on January 1
and July 1 each year commencing January 1, 2004, The senior notes are guaranteed by Arch Western
and certain of Arch Western’s subsidiaries and are secured by a security interest in promissory notes
we issued to Arch Western evidencing cash loaned to us by Arch Western. The terms of the senior
notes contain restrictive covenants that limit Arch Western's ability to, among other things, incur
additional debt, sell or transfer assets, and make investments.
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On January 31, 2003, we completed a public offering of 2,875,000 shares of 5% Perpetual
Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock. The net proceeds from the offering of approximately
$139.0 million were used tc reduce indebtedness under our revolving credit facility and for working
capital and general corporate purposes, including potential acquisitions.

Excluding any significant mineral reserve acquisitions, we generally satisfy our working capital
requirements and fund: capital expenditures and debt-service obligations with cash generated from
operations. We believe that cash generated from operations and our borrowing capacity will be
sufficient to meet working capital requirements, anticipated capital expenditures and scheduled debt
payments for at least the next several years. Our ability to satisfy debt service obligations, to fund
planned capital expenditures, to make acquisitions and to pay dividends will depend upon our future
operating performance, which will be affected by prevailing economic conditions in the coal industry
and financial, business and other factors, some of which are beyond our control.

-Capital expenditures were $292.6 million, $132.4 million and $137.1 million for 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively. Capital expenditures are made to improve and replace existing mining equipment,
expand existing mines, develop new mines and improve the overall efficiency of mining operations.
We anticipate that capital expenditures during 2005 will range from $340 to $360 million. This
estimate includes capital expenditures related to development work at certain of our mining
operations, including the Mountain Laurel complex in West Virginia and the North Lease mine in Utah
formerly known as Skyline. Also, this estimate assumes no other acquisitions, significant expansions of
our existing mining operations or additions to our reserve base. We anticipate that we will fund these
capital expenditures with available cash, existing credit facilities and cash generated from operations.

On December 22, 2004, we entered into a $700.0 million revolving credit facility that matures on
December 22, 2009. The rate of interest on borrowings under the credit facility is a floating rate
based on LIBOR. The credit facility is secured by substantially all of our assets as well as our ownership
interests in substantially all of our subsidiaries, except our ownership interests in Arch Western and its
subsidiaries. The credit facility replaced our existing $350.C million revolving credit facility. At
December 31, 2004, we had $69.0 million in letters of credit outstanding which, when combined
with the $25.0 million of outstanding borrowings under the revolver, resulted in $606.0 million of
unused borrowings under the revolver. At December 31, 2004, financial covenant requirements do
not restrict the amount of unused capacity available to us for borrowing and letters of credit.

Financial covenants contained in our revolving credit facility consist of a maximum leverage ratio,
a maximum senior secured leverage ratio and a minimum interest coverage ratio. The leverage ratio
requires that we not permit the ratio of total net debt (as defined in the facility) at the end of any
calendar quarter to EBITDA (as defined in the facility) for the four quarters then ended to exceed a
specified amount. The interest coverage ratio requires that we not permit the ratio of EBITDA (as
defined) at the end of any calendar quarter to interest expense for the four quarters then ended to be
less than a specified amount. The senior secured leverage ratio requires that we not permit the ratio
of total net senior secured debt (as defined) at the end of any calendar quarter to EBITDA (as defined)
for the four quarters then ended to exceed a specified amount. We were in compliance with all
financial covenants at December 31, 2004. »

At December 31, 2004, debt amounted to $1,011.1 million, or 48% of capital employed,
compared to $706.4 million, or 51% of capital employed, at December 31, 2003. Based on the level
of consolidated indebtedness and prevailing interest rates at December 31, 2004, debt service
obligations, which include the current maturities of debt and interest expense for 2005, are estimated
to be $76.0 million.

We periodically establish uncommitted lines of credit with banks. These agreements generally
provide for short-term borrowings at market rates. At December 31, 2004, there were $20.0 million
of such agreements in effect, of which none were outstanding.
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We are exposed to market risk associated with interest rates due to our existing level of
indebtedness. At December 31, 2004, substantially all of our outstanding debt bore interest at fixed
rates.

Additionally, we are exposed to market risk associated with interest rates resulting from our
interest rate swap positions. Prior to the June 25, 2003 Arch Western Finance senior notes offering
and subsequent repayment of Arch Western's term loans, we utilized interest rate swap agreements
to convert the variable-rate interest payments due under the term loans and our revolving credit
facility to fixed-rate payments.

At December 31, 2004, our net interest rate swap position is as follows:

» Swaps with a notional value of $25.0 million which are designated as hedges of future interest
payments to be made under our revolving credit facility. Under these swaps, we pay a fixed
rate of 5.96% (before the credit spread over LIBOR) and receive a variable rate based upon
30-day LIBOR. The remaining term of the swap agreements at December 31, 2004 was
30 months.

* Swaps with a total notional value of $500.0 million consisting of offsetting positions of
$250.0 million each. Because of the offsetting nature of these positions, we are not exposed to
significant market interest rate risk related to these swaps. Under these swaps, we pay a
weighted average fixed rate 5.72% on $250.0 million of notional value and receive a weighted
average fixed rate of 2.71% on $250.0 millicn of notional value. The remaining terms of these
swap agreements at December 31, 2004 ranged from 8 to 31 months.

As of December 31, 2004, the fair value of our net interest rate swap position was a liability of
$12.4 million. This liability is included in other noncurrent liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated
Balance Sheets.

We are also exposed to commodity price risk related to our purchase of diesel fuel. We enter into
forward purchase contracts and heating oil swaps to reduce volatility in the price of diesel fuel for our
operations. The swap agreements essentially fix the price paid for diesel fuel by requiring us to pay a
fixed heating oil price and receive a floating heating oil price. The changes in the floating heating oil
price highly correlate to changes in diesel fuel prices.

The discussion below presents the sensitivity of the market value of our financial instruments to
selected changes in market rates and prices. The range of changes reflects our view of changes that
are reasonably possible over a one-year period. Market values are the present value of projected
future cash flows based on the market rates and prices chosen. The major accounting policies for
these instruments are described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

At December 31, 2004, our debt portfolio consisted of substantially fixed rates. A change in
interest rates on the fixed rate debt impacts the net financial instrument position but has no impact
on interest incurred or cash flows. The sensitivity analysis related to our fixed rate debt assumes an
instantaneous 100-basis point move in interest rates from their levels at December 31, 2004, with all
other variables held constant. A 100-basis point increase in market interest rates would result in a
$58.4 million decrease in the fair value of the Company's fixed rate debt at December 31, 2004. At
December 31, 2004, a $.05 per gallon increase in the price of heating oil would result in a
$0.1 million increase in the fair value of the financial position of the heating oil swap agreements.

As it relates 1o our interest rate swap positions, a change in interest rates impacts the net
financial instrument position. A 100-basis point increase in market interest rates would result in a
$0.6 million decrease in the fair value of our liability under the interest rate swap positions at
December 31, 2004,
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Contractual Obligations

The following is a summary of our significant contractual obligations as of December 31, 2004 (in
thousands):

Payments Due by Period

2005 2006-2007  2008-2009 After 2009
Long-term debt, including related
Interest. ..o $ 75,069 $136,317 $162,250 $1,174,438
Operating 1€ases. . ....oovevvno.. 25,282 44,767 35,786 29,066
Royalty leases .................... 32,227 309,320 297,987 72,715
Unconditional purchase obligations.. 539,107 163,975 100,113 —
Other long-term obligations . ... .. .. — — — 23,200

Total contractual cash obligations ... $671,685 $654,379  $596,136  $1,299,419

Royalty leases represent non-cancelable royalty lease agreements as well as federal lease bonus
payments due under the Little Thunder lease. Payments due under the Little Thunder lease total
$611.0 million, to be paid in five equal annual installments of $122.2 million. The first installment was
paid in September 2004 with the remaining four annual payments due in fiscal years 2006 through
2008. Unconditional purchase obligations represent amounts committed for purchases of materials
and supplies, payments for services, purchased coal, and capital expenditures. Other long-term
obligations represent our contractual amounts owed in conjunction with our ownership interest in
Dominion Terminal Associates as described in Note 20 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

We currently do not anticipate making any contributions to our pension plan in 2005. We believe
that our on-hand cash balance, cash generated from operations, and borrowing capacity under our
revolving credit facility and other debt facilities will be sufficient to meet these obligations and our
requirements for working capital and capital expenditures.

Contingencies
Reclamation

The federal Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act of 1977 ("SMCRA'") and similar state
statutes require that mine property be restored in accordance with specified standards and an
- approved reclamation plan. We accrue for the costs of reclamation in accordance with the provisions
of FAS 143, which was adopted as of January 1, 2003. These costs relate to reclaiming the pit and
support acreage at surface mines and sealing portals at deep mines. Other costs of reclamation
common to surface and underground mining are related to reclaiming refuse and slurry ponds,
eliminating sedimentation and drainage control structures, and dismantling or demolishing equip-
ment or buildings used in mining operations. The establishment of the asset retirement obligation
liability is based upon permit requirements and requires various estimates and assumptions, principally
associated with costs and productivities,

We review our entire environmental liability periodically and make necessary adjustments,
including permit changes and revisions to costs and preductivities to reflect current experience. Our
management believes it is making adequate provisions for all expected reclamation and other
associated costs.

Legal Contingencies

Permit Litigation Matters. A group of local and national environmental organizations filed suit
against the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers in the U.S. District Court in Huntington, West Virginia on
QOctober 23, 2003. In its complaint, Ohio River Valley Environmental Coalition, et al v. Bulen, et al, the
plaintiffs allege that the Corps has violated its statutory duties arising under the Clean Water Act, the
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Administrative Procedure Act and the National Environmental Policy Act in issuing the Nationwide 21
("NWP 21") general permit. The plaintiffs allege that the procedural requirements of the three federal
statutes identified in their complaint have been violated, and that the Corps may not utilize the
mechanism of a nationwide permit to authorize valley fills. Among specific fills identified in the
complaint as not meeting the requirements of the NWP 21 are valley fills associated with several of
our operating subsidiaries, although none are party to this litigation. If the plaintiffs prevail in this
litigatton, it may delay our receipt of these permits.

On July 8, 2004, the District court entered a final order enjoining the Corps from authorizing new
valley fills using the mechanism of its nationwide permit. The Court also ordered the Corps to suspend
current authorizations issued for fills that had not yet commenced construction on the date of the
order. The district court modified its earlier decision on August 13 when it directed the Corps to
suspend all permits for fills that had not commenced construction as of July 8, 2004.

A total of three permits at two of our operating subsidiaries will be affected by the Court’s July 8
order. Because the Court found that it is the Corps’' procedure in issuing the permits, and not defects
in the fills themselves, our affected subsidiaries will be able to re-apply for individual permits under
section 404 of the Clean Water act to construct each fill. We currently do not believe that the
individual permit process will have an impact on our mining operations.

The Corps and several intervening trade associations, of which we are a member of three, filed
an appeal with the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fourth circuit in this matter on September 16, 2004.

West Virginia Flooding Litigation. We and three of our subsidiaries have been named, among
others, in 17 separate complaints filed in Wyoming, McDowell, Fayette, Upshur, Kanawha, Raleigh,
Boone and Mercer Counties, West Virginia. These cases collectively include approximately 1,780
plaintiffs who are seeking damages for property damage and personal injuries arising out of flooding
that occurred in southern West Virginia in July of 2001. The plaintiffs have sued coal, timber, railrcad
and land companies under the theory that mining, construction of haul roads and removal of timber
caused natural surface waters to be diverted in an unnatural way, thereby causing damage to the
plaintiffs. The West Virginia Supreme Court has ruled that these cases, along with several additional
flood damages cases not involving our, subsidiaries, be handled pursuant to the Court’s Mass
Litigation rules. As a result of this ruling, the cases have been transferred to the Circuit Court of
Raleigh County in West Virginia to be handled by a panel consisting of three circuit court judges,
which certified certain legal issues back to the West Virginia Supreme Court. The West Virginia
Supreme Court has resclved these issues, and the panel will, among other things, determine whether
the individual cases should be consolidated or returned to their original circuit courts.

While the outcome of this litigation is subject to uncertainties, based on our preliminary
evaluation of the issues and the potential impact on us, we believe this matter will be resolved
without a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations.

Ark Land Company v. Crown Industries. In response to a declaratory judgment action filed by
Ark Land Company, a subsidiary of ours, in Mingo County, West Virginia against Crown Industries
involving the interpretation of a severance deed under which Ark Land controls the coal and mining
rights on property in Mingo County, West Virginia, Crown Industries filed a counterclaim against Ark
Land and a third party complaint against us and two of our other subsidiaries seeking damages for
trespass, nuisance and property damage arising out of the exercise of rights under the severance deed
on the property by our subsidiaries. The defendant has alleged that our subsidiaries have insufficient
rights to haul certain foreign coals across the property without payment of certain wheelage or other
fees to the defendant. In addition, the defendant has alleged that we and our subsidiaries have violated
West Virginia's Standards for Management of Waste Qil and the West Virginia Surface Coal Mining and
Reclamation Act by spilling and disposing of hydrocarbon and other wastes on and in the property and
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by failing to return the property to its approximate original contour. It also alleges that we or our
contractor have improperly disposed of explosive components. This case is set for trial in May 2005.

While the outcome of this litigation. is subject to uncertainties, based on our preliminary
evaluation of the issues and the potential impact on it, we believe this matter will be resolved without
a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations.

We are a party to numerous other claims and lawsuits with respect to various matters. We
provide for costs related to contingencies, including environmental matters, when a loss is probable
and the amount is reasonably determinable. After conferring with counsel, it is the opinion of
management that the ultimate resolution of these claims, to the extent not previously provided for,
will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations or
liquidity. ‘

Certain Trends and Uncertainties

Substantial Leverage — Covenants

As of December 31, 2004, we had outstanding consolidated indebtedness of $1,011.1 million,
representing approximately 48% of our capital employed. Despite making substantial progress in
reducing debt, we continue to have significant debt service obligations, and the terms of our credit
agreements limit our flexibility and result in @ number of limitations on us. We also have significant
lease and royalty obligations. Our ability to satisfy debt service, lease and royalty obligations and to
effect any refinancing of our indebtedness will depend upon future operating performance, which
will be affected by prevailing economic conditions in the markets that we serve as well as financial,
business and other factors, many of which are beyond our control. We may be unable to generate
sufficient cash flow from operations and future borrowings, or other financings may be unavailable in
an amount sufficient to enable us to fund our debt service, lease and royalty payment obligations or
our other liquidity needs.

Our relative amount of debt and the terms of our credit agreements could have material
conseguences to our business, including, but not limited to: (i) making it more difficult to satisfy debt
covenants and debt service, lease payment and other obligations; (i) making it more difficult to pay
quarterly dividends as we have in the past; (iii) increasing our vulnerability to general adverse
economic and industry conditions; (iv) limiting our ability to obtain additional financing to fund future
acquisitions, working capital, capital expenditures or other general corporate requirements;
(v) reducing the availability of cash flows from operations to fund acquisitions, working capital, capital
expenditures or other general corporate purposes; (vi) limiting our flexibility in planning for, or
reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we compete; or {vii) placing us at a
competitive disadvantage when compared to competitors with less relative amounts of debt.

The agreements governing our outstanding debt impose a number of restrictions on us. For
example, the terms of our credit facilities and leases contain financial and other covenants that create
limitations on our ability to, among other things, borrow the full amount under our credit facilities,
effect acquisitions or dispositions and incur additional debt, and require us to, among other things,
maintain various financial ratios and comply with various other financial covenants. Qur ability to
comply with these restrictions may be affected by events beyond our control and, as a result, we may
be unable to comply with these restrictions. A failure to comply with these restrictions could adversely
affect our ability to borrow under our credit facilities or result in an event of default under these
agreements. In the event of a default, our lenders could terminate their commitments to us and
declare all amounts borrowed, together with accrued interest and fees, immediately due and payable.
If this were to occur, we might not be able to pay these amounts, or we might be forced to seek an
amendment to our debt agreements which could make the terms of these agreements more onerous
for us.
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Any downgrade in our credit ratings could adversely affect our ability to borrow and result in
more restrictive borrowing terms, including increased borrowing costs, more restrictive covenants and
the extension of less open credit. This in turn could affect our internal cost of capital estimates and
therefore operational decisions.

Profitability

Our mining operations are inherently subject to changing conditions that can affect levels of
production and production costs at particular mines for varying lengths of time and can result in
decreases in our profitability. We are exposed to commodity price risk related to our purchase of
diesel fuel, explosives and steel. In addition, weather conditions, equipment replacement or repair,
fires, variations in thickness of the layer, or seam, of coal, amounts of averburden, rock and other
natural materials and other geological conditions have had, and can be expected in the future to
have, a significant impact on our operating results. Prolonged disruption of production at any of our
principal mines, particularly our Black Thunder mine, would result in a decrease in our revenues and
profitability, which could be material. Other factors affecting the production and sale of our coal that
could result in decreases in our profitability include:

* continued high pricing environment for our raw materials, including, among other things,
diesel fuel, explosives and steel;

* expiration or termination of, or sales price redeterminations or suspension of deliveries under,
coal supply agreements;

« disruption or increases in the cost of transportation services;

* changes in laws or regulations, including permitting requirements;

* litigation;

* work stoppages or other labor difficulties;

* labor shortages

* mine worker vacation schedules and related maintenance activities; and
* changes in coal market and general economic conditions.

Environmental and Regulatory Factors

The coal mining industry is subject to regulation by federal, state and local authorities on matters
such as:

« the discharge of materials into the environment;

» employee health and safety;

* mine permits and other licensing requirements;

* reclamation and restoration of mining properties after mining is completed;
* management of materials generated by mining operations;

* surface subsidence from underground mining;

« water pollution;

* legislatively mandated benefits for current and retired coal miners;
* air quality standards;

* protection of wetlands;

» endangered plant and wildlife protection;

¢ limitations on Jand use;
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* storage of petroleum products and substances that are regarded as hazardous under
applicable laws; and

* management of electrical equipment containing polychlorinated biphenyls, or PCBs.

In addition, the electric generating industry, which is the most significant end-user of coal, is
subject to extensive regulation regarding the environmental impact of its power generation activities,
which could affect demand for our coal. The possibility exists that new legislation or regulations may
be adopted or that the enforcement of existing laws could become more stringent, either of which
may have a significant impact on our mining operations or cur customers’ ability to use coal and may
require us or our customers to significantly change operations or to incur substantial costs.

While it is not possible to guantify the expenditures we incur to maintain compliance with all
applicable federal and state laws, those costs have been and are expected to continue to be
significant. We post performance bonds pursuant to federal and state mining laws and regulations for
the estimated costs of reclamation and mine closing, including the cost of treating mine water
discharge when necessary. Compliance with these laws has substantially increased the cost of coal
mining for all domestic coal producers.

Clean Air Act. The federal Clean Air Act and similar state and local laws, which regulate
emissions into the air, affect coal mining and processing operations primarily through permitting and
emissions control requirements. The Clean Air Act also indirectly affects coal mining operations by
extensively regulating the emissions from coal-fired industrial boilers and power plants, which are the
largest end-users of our coal. These regulations can take a variety of forms, as explained below.

The Clean Air Act imposes obligations on the Environmental Protection Agency, or EPA, and the
states to implement regulatory programs that will lead to the attainment and maintenance of EPA-
promulgated ambient air quality standards, including standards for sulfur dioxide, particulate matter,
nitrogen oxides and ozone. Owners of coal-fired power plants and industrial boilers have been
required to expend considerable resources in an effort to comply with these ambient air standards.
Significant additional emissions control expenditures will be needed in order to meet the current
national ambient air standard for ozone. In particular, coal-fired power plants will be affected by state
regulations designed to achieve attainment of the ambient air quality standard for ozone. Ozone is
produced by the combination of two precursor pollutants: volatile organic compounds and nitrogen
oxides. Nitrogen oxides are a by-product of coal combustion. Accordingly, emissions control
requirements for new and expanded coal-fired power plants and industrial boilers will continue to
become more demanding in the years ahead.

In July 1997, the EPA adopted more stringent ambient air quality standards for particulate matter
and ozone. In a February 2001 decision, the U.S. Supreme Court largely upheld the EPA’s position,
although it remanded the EPA’s ozone implementation policy for further consideration. On remand,
the Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit affirmed the EPA’s adoption of these more stringent
ambient air quality standards. As a result of the finalization of these standards, states that are not in
attainment for these standards will have to revise their State Implementation Plans to include
provisions for the control of ozone precursors and/or particulate matter. In April 2004, the EPA issued
final nonattainment designations for the eight-hour ozone standard, and, in December 2004, issued
the final nonattainment standard for PM25. States will have to reuse their State Implementation Plans
to require electric power generators to further reduce nitrogen oxide and particulate matter
emissions, particularly in designated nonattainment areas. The potential need to achieve such
emissions reductions could result in reduced coal consumption by electric power generators. Thus,
future regulations regarding ozone, particulate matter and other pollutants could restrict the market
for coal and our development of new mines. This in turn may result in decreased production and a
corresponding decrease in our revenues. Although the future scope of these ozone and particulate
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matter regulations cannot be predicted, future regulations regarding these and other ambient air
standards could restrict the market for coal and the development of new mines.

The EPA has also initiated a regional haze program designed to protect and to improve visibility
at and around National Parks, National Wilderness Areas and International Parks. This program
restricts the construction of new coal-fired power plants whose operation may impair visibility at and
around federally protected areas. Moreover, this program may require certain existing coal-fired
power plants to install additional control measures designed to limit haze-causing emissions, such as
sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxides and particulate matter. By imposing limitations upon the placement
and construction of new coal-fired power plants, the EPA's regional haze program could affect the
future market for coal.

Additionally, the U.S. Department of Justice, on behalf of the EPA, has filed lawsuits against
several investor-owned electric utilities for alleged violations of the Clean Air Act. The EPA claims that
these utilities have failed to obtain permits required under the Clean Air Act for alleged major
modifications to their power plants. We supply coal to some of the currently affected utilities, and it is
possible that other of our customers will be sued. These lawsuits could reguire the utilities to pay
penalties and install pollution control equipment or undertake other emission reduction measures,
which could adversely impact their demand for coal. '

New regulations concerning the routine maintenance provisions of the New Source Review
program were published in October 2003. Fourteen states, the District of Columbia and a number of
municipalities filed lawsuits challenging these regulations, and in December 2003 the Court stayed
the effectiveness of these rules. Oral agreement was heard on this matter in January 2005. In January
2004, the EPA Administrator announced that EPA would be taking new enforcement actions against
utilities for violations of the existing New Source Review requirements, and shortly thereafter, EPA
issued enforcement notices to several electric utility companies.

In January 2004, the EPA proposed two new rules pursuant to the Clean Air Act that, once final,
may require additional controls and impose more stringent requirements at coal-fired power
generation facilities. First, EPA is seeking to lower nickel and mercury emissions at new and existing
sources by requiring the use of Maximum Achievable Control Technology ("MACT') or by implement-
ing a nationwide “cap and trade’” program. Second, EPA has proposed to require the submission of
State Implementation Plans by 29 states and the District of Columbia to include control measures to
reduce the emissions of sulfur dioxide and/or nitrogen oxides, pursuant to the eight-hour ozone and
PM25 standards established pursuant to the Clean Air Act. The EPA has stated that it will issue new
rules in 2005. Should either or both of these proposed rules become final, additional costs may be
associated with operating coal-fired power generation facilities that may render coal a less attractive
fuel source.

Other Clean Air Act programs are also applicable to power plants that use our coal. For example,
the acid rain contral provisions of Title IV of the Clean Air Act require a reduction of sulfur dioxide
emissions from power plants. Because sulfur is a natural component of coal, required sulfur dioxide
reductions can affect coal mining operations. Title IV imposes a two phase approach to the
implementation of required sulfur dioxide emissions reductions. Phase |, which became effective in
1995, regulated the sulfur dioxide emissions levels from 261 generating units at 110 power plants
and targeted the highest sulfur dioxide emitters. Phase Il, implemented January 1, 2000, made the
regulations more stringent and extended them to additional power plants, including all power plants
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of greater than 25 megawatt capacity. Affected electric utilities can comply with these requirements
by:

* burning lower sulfur coal, either exclusively or mixed with higher sulfur coal;

* installing pollution control devices such as scrubbers, which reduce the emissions from high
sulfur coal;

* reducing electricity generating levels; or
* purchasing or trading emissions credits.

Specific emissions sources receive these credits, which electric utilities and industrial concerns can
trade or sell to allow other units to emit higher levels of sulfur dioxide. Each credit allows its holder to
emit one ton of sulfur dioxide.

In addition to emissions control requirements designed to control acid rain and to attain the
national ambient air quality standards, the Clean Air Act also imposes standards on sources of
hazardous air pollutants. Although these standards have not yet been extended to ccal mining
operations, the EPA recently announced that it will regulate hazardous air pollutants from coal-fired
power plants. Under the Clean Air Act, coal-fired power plants will be required to control hazardous
air pollution emissions by no later than 2009. These controls are likely to require significant new
improvements in controls by power plant owners. The most prominently targeted poliutant is
mercury, which is already the subject of a proposed rule, although other by-products of coal
combustion may be covered by future hazardous air pollutant standards for coal combustion sources.

Other proposed initiatives may have an effect upon coal operations. One such proposal is the
Bush Administration’s recently announced Clear Skies Initiative. As proposed, this initiative is designed
to reduce emissions of sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxides, and mercury from power plants. Other so-
called multi-pollutant bills, which could regulate additional air pollutants, have been proposed by
various members of Congress. While the details of all of these proposed initiatives vary, there appears
to be a movement towards increased regulation of a number of air pollutants. Were such initiatives
enacted into law, power plants could choose to shift away from coal as a fuel source to meet these
requirements.

Mine Health and Safety Laws. Stringent safety and health standards have been imposed by
federal legislation since the adoption of the Mine Safety and Health Act of 1969. The Mine Safety and
Health Act of 1977, which significantly expanded the enforcement of health and safety standards of
the Mine Safety and Health Act of 1969, imposes comprehensive safety and health standards on all
mining operations. In addition, as part of the Mine Safety and Health Acts of 1969 and 1977, the
Black Lung Act requires payments of benefits by all businesses conducting current mining operations
to coal miners with black lung and to some survivors of a miner who dies from this disease.

Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act. SMCRA establishes operational, reclamation and
closure standards for all aspects of surface mining as well as many aspects of deep mining. SMCRA
requires that comprehensive environmental protection and reclamation standards be met during the
course of and upon completion of mining activities. In conjunction with mining the property, we are
contractually obligated under the terms of our leases to comply with all laws, including SMCRA and
equivalent state and local laws. These obligations include reclaiming and restoring the mined areas by
grading, shaping, preparing the soil for seeding and by seeding with grasses or planting trees for use
as pasture or timberland, as specified in the approved reclamation plan.

SMCRA also requires us to submit a bond or otherwise financially secure the performance of our
reclamation obligations. The earliest a reclamation bond can be completely released is five years after
reclamation has been achieved. Federal law and some states impose on mine operators the
responsibility for repairing the property or compensating the property owners for damage occurring
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on the surface of the property as a result of mine subsidence, a consequence of longwall mining and
possibly other mining operations. In addition, the Abandoned Mine Lands Act, which is part of
SMCRA, imposes a tax on all current mining operations, the proceeds of which are used to restore
mines closed before 1977. The maximum tax is $0.35 per ton of coal produced from surface mines
and $0.15 per ton of coal produced from underground mines.

We also lease some of our coal reserves to third party operators. Under SMCRA, responsibility for
unabated violations, unpaid civil penalties and unpaid reclamation fees of independent mine lessees
and other third parties could potentially be imputed to other companies that are deemed, according
to the regulations, to have "owned'” or "controlled” the mine operator. Sanctions against the
"owner" or "‘controller” are quite severe and can include civil penalties, reclamation fees and
reclamation costs. We are not aware of any currently pending or asserted claims against us asserting
that we "“own’’ or "‘control’ any of our lessees’ operations.

Framework Convention on Global Climate Change. The United States and more than 160 other
nations are signatories to the 1992 Framework Convention on Global Climate Change, commonly
known as the Kyoto Protocol, that is intended to limit or capture emissions of greenhouse gases such
as carbon dioxide and methane. The U.S. Senate has neither ratified the treaty commitments, which
would mandate a'reduction in U.S. greenhouse gas emissions, nor enacted any law specifically
controlling greenhouse gas emissions and the Bush Administration has withdrawn support for this
treaty. Nonetheless, future regulation of greenhouse gases could occur either pursuant to future
U.S. treaty obligations or pursuant to statutory or regulatory changes under the Clean Air Act. Efforts
to control greenhouse gas emissions could result in reduced demand for coal if electric power
generators switch to lower carbon sources of fuel.

West Virginia Antidegradation Policy. In January 2002, a number of environmental groups and
individuals filed suit in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia to challenge
the EPA’s approval of West Virginia's antidegradation implementation policy. Under the federal Clean
Water Act, state regulatory authorities must conduct an antidegradation review before approving
permits for the discharge of pollutants to waters that have been designated as high guality by the
state. Antidegradation review involves public and intergovernmental scrutiny of permits and requires
permittees to demonstrate that the proposed activities are justified in order to accommodate
significant economic or social development in the area where the waters are located. In August 2003,
the Southern District of West Virginia vacated the EPA's approval of West Virginia's anti-degradation
procedures, and remanded the matter to the EPA. On March 29, 2004, EPA Regions ill sent a letter to
the WVDEP that approved portions of the state’s anti-degradation program, denied approval of
portions pending further study, and recommended removal of certain language on the state's
regulations. Depending upon the outcome of the DEP review, the issuance or re-issuance of Clean
Water Act permits to us may be delayed or denied, and may increase the costs, time and difficulty
associated with obtaining and complying Clean Water Act permits for surface mining operations.

Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act. CERCLA and similar
state laws affect coal mining operations by, among other things, imposing cleanup requirements for
threatened or actual releases of hazardous substances that may endanger public health or welfare or
the environment. Under CERCLA and similar state laws, joint and several liability may be imposed on
waste generators, site owners and lessees and others regardless of fault or the legality of the criginal
disposal activity. Although the EPA excludes most wastes generated by coal mining and processing
operations from the hazardous waste laws, such wastes can, in certain circumstances, constitute
hazardous substances for the purposes of CERCLA. In addition, the disposal, release or spilling of
some products used by coal companies in operations, such as chemicals, could implicate the liability
provisions of the statute. Thus, coal mines that we currently own or have previously owned or
operated, and sites to which we sent waste materials, may be subject to liability under CERCLA and
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similar state laws. In particular, we may be liable under CERCLA or similar state laws for the cleanup
of hazardous substance contamination at sites where we own surface rights.

Mining Permits and Approvals. Mining companies must obtain numerous permits that strictly
regulate environmental and health and safety matters in connection with coal mining, some of which
have significant bonding requirements. In connection with obtaining these permits and approvals, we
may be required to prepare and present to federal, state or local authorities data pertaining to the
effect or impact that any proposed production of coal may have upon the environment. The
requirements imposed by any of these authorities may be costly and time consuming and may delay
commencement or continuation of mining operations. Regulations also provide that a mining permit
can be refused or revoked if an officer, director or a shareholder with a 10% or greater interest in the
entity is affiliated with another entity that has outstanding permit violations. Thus, past or ongoing
violations of federal and state mining laws could provide a basis to revoke existing permits and to
deny the issuance of additional permits.

Regulatory authorities exercise considerable discretion in the timing of permit issuance. Also,
private individuals and the public at large possess rights to comment on and otherwise engage in the
permitting process, including through intervention in the courts. Accordingly, the permits we need for
our mining operations may not be issued, or, if issued, may not be issued in a timely fashion, or may
involve requirements that may be changed or interpreted in a manner which restricts our ability to
conduct our mining operations or to do so profitably.

In order to obtain mining permits and approvals from state regulatory authorities, mine
operators, including us, must submit a reclamation plan for restoring, upon the completion of mining
operations, the mined property to its'prior condition, productive use or other permitted condition.
Typically we submit the necessary permit applications several months before we plan to begin mining
a new area. In our experience, permits generally are approved several months after a completed
application is submitted. In the past, we have generally obtained our mining permits without
significant delay. However, we cannot be sure that we will not experience difficulty in obtaining
mining permits in the future.

Future legislation and administrative regulations may emphasize the protection of the environ-
ment and, as a consequence, the activities of mine operators, including us, may be more closely
regulated. Legislation and regulations, as well as future interpretations of existing laws, may also
require substantial increases in equipment expenditures and operating costs, as well as delays,
interruptions or the termination of operations. We cannot predict the possible effect of such
regulatory changes.

Under some circumstances, sijbstantial fines and penazlties, including revocation or suspension of
mining permits, may be imposed under the laws described above. Monetary sanctions and, in severe
circumstances, criminal sanctions may be imposed for failure to comply with these laws.

Surety Bonds. Federal and state laws require us to obtain surety bonds to guarantee perform-
ance or payment of certain long-term obligations including mine closure and reclamation costs,
federal and state workers’ compensation benefits, coal leases and other miscellaneous obligations. It
has become increasingly difficult for us to secure new surety bonds or retain existing bonds without
the posting of collateral. In addition, surety bond costs have increased and the market terms of such
bonds have generally become more unfavorable. We may be unable to maintain our surety bonds or
acquire new bonds in the future due to lack of availability, higher expense, unfavorable market terms,
or an inability to post sufficient collateral. Our failure to maintain, or inability to acquire, surety bonds
that are required by state and federal law would have a material adverse impact on us.

Endangered Species. The federal Endangered Species Act and counterpart state legislation
protects. species threatened with possible extinction. Protection of endangered species may have the
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effect of prohibiting or delaying us from obtaining mining permits and may include restrictions on
timber harvesting, road building and other mining or agricultural activities in areas containing the
affected species. \A number of species indigenous to our properties are protected under the
Endangered Species Act. Based on the species that have been identified to date and the current
application of applicable laws and regulations, however, we do not believe there are any species
protected under the Endangered Species Act that would materially and adversely affect our ability to
mine coal from our properties in accordance with current mining plans.

Other Environmental Laws Affecting Us. We are required to comply with numerous other
federal, state and local environmental laws in addition to those previously discussed. These additional
laws include, for example, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, the Safe Drinking Water Act,
the Toxic Substance Control Act and the Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act. We
believe that we are in substantial compliance with all applicable environmental laws.

Competition
The coal industry is intensely competitive, primarily as a result of the existence of numerous
producers in the coal-producing regions in which we operate, and some of our competitors may have
greater financial resources. We compete with several major coal producers in the Central Appalachian
and Powder River Basin areas. We also compete with a number of smaller producers in those and
other market regions. Additionally, we are subject to the continuing risk of reduced profitability as a
result of excess industry capacity.

Electric Industry Factors; Customer Creditworthiness

Demand for coal and the prices that we will be able to obtain for our coal are closely linked to
coal consumption patterns of the domestic electric generation industry, which has accounted for
approximately 90% of domestic coal consumption in recent years. These coal consumption patterns
are influenced by factors beyond our control, including the demand for electricity (which is dependent
to a significant extent on summer and winter temperatures and the strength of the economyy);
government regulation; technological developments and the location, availability, quality and price of
competing sources of coal; other fuels such as natural gas, oil and nuclear; and alternative energy
sources such as hydroelectric power. Demand for our low-sulfur coal and the prices that we will be
able to obtain for it will also be affected by the price and availability of high-sulfur coal, which can be
marketed in tandem with emissions allowances in order to meet federal Clean Air Act requirements.
Any reduction in the demand for our coal by the domestic electric generation industry may cause a
decline in profitability.

Electric utility deregulation is expected to provide incentives to generators of electricity to
minimize their fuel costs and is believed to have caused electric generators to be more aggressive in
negotiating prices with coal suppliers. Deregulation may have an adverse effect on our profitability to
the extent it causes our customers to be more cost-sensitive. ’

In addition, our ability to receive payment for coal sold and delivered depends on the
creditworthiness of our customers. In general, the creditworthiness of our customers has deteriorated.
If such trends continue, our acceptable customer base may be limited.

Terms of Long-Term Coal Supply Contracts

During 2004, sales of coal under long-term contracts, which are contracts with a term greater
than 12 months, accounted for 70% of our total revenues. The prices for coal shipped under these
contracts may be below the current market price for similar type.coal at any given time. For the year
ended December 31, 2004, the weighted average price of coal sold under our long-term contracts
was $15.15 per ton. As a conseguence of the substantial volume of our sales which are subject to
these long-term agreements, we have less coal available with which to capitalize on stronger coal
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prices if and when they arise. In addition, because long-term contracts may allow the customer to
elect volume flexibility, our ability to realize the higher prices that may be available on the spot market
may be restricted when customers elect to purchase higher volumes under such contracts. Our
exposure to market-based pricing may also be increased should customers elect to purchase fewer
tons. In addition, the increasingly short terms of sales contracts and the consequent absence of price
adjustment provisions in such contracts make it more likely that we will not be able to recover
inflation related increases in mining costs during the contract term.

Reserve Degradation and Depletion

Our profitability depends substantially on our ability to mine coal reserves that have the
geological characteristics that enable them to be mined at competitive costs. Replacement reserves
may not be available when required or, if available, may not be capable of being mined at costs
comparable to those characteristic of the depleting mines. We have in the past acquired and will in
the future acquire coal reserves for our mine portfolio from third parties. We may not be able to
accurately assess the geological characteristics of any reserves that we acquire, which may adversely
affect our profitability and financial condition. Exhaustion of reserves at particular mines can also have
an adverse effect on operating results that is disproportionate to the percentage of overall production
represented by such mines. Mingo Logan’s Mountaineer Mine is estimated to exhaust its longwall
mineable reserves in the first quarter of 2007, although we expect to make up the lost production
with our planned opening of our Mountain Laurel complex in Logan County, West Virginia which
should ramp up to full production in mid-2007. The Mountaineer Mine generated $30.5 million and
$26.1 million of our total operating income in the years ended 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Potential Fluctuations in Operating Results — Factors Routinely Affecting Results of Operations

Our mining operations are inherently subject to changing conditions that can affect levels of
production and production costs at particular mines for varying lengths of time and can result in
decreases in profitability. Weather conditions, equipment replacement or repair, fuel and supply
prices, insurance costs, fires, variations in coal seam thickness, amounts of overburden rock and other
natural materials, and other geological conditions have had, and can be expected in the future to
have, a significant impact on operating results. A prolonged disruption of production at any of our
principal mines, particularly the Mingo Logan operation in West Virginia or Black Thunder mine in
Wyoming, would result in a decrease, which could be material, in our revenues and profitability.

The geological characteristics of Central Appalachia coal reserves, such as depth of overburden
and coal seam thickness, make them complex and costly to mine. As mines become depleted,
replacement reserves may not be available when required or, if available, may not be capable of being
mined at costs comparable to those characteristic of the depleting mines. In addition, as compared to
mines in the Powder River Basin, permitting and licensing and other environmental and regulatory
requirements are more costly and time-consuming to satisfy. These factors could materially adversely
affect the mining operations and cost structures of, and customers’ ability to use coal produced by,
operators in Central Appalachia, including us.

Other factors affecting the production and sale of our coal that could result in decreases in
profitability include: (i) expiration or termination of, or sales price redeterminations or suspension of
deliveries under, coal supply agreements; (i) disruption or increases in the cost of transportation
services; (iii} changes in laws or regulations, including permitting requirements; (iv) litigation; (v) work
stoppages or other labor difficulties; (vi) mine worker vacation schedules and related maintenance
activities; and (vii) changes in coal market and general economic conditions.
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Transportation

The coal industry depends on rail, trucking and barge transportation to deliver shipments of coal
to customers, and transportation costs are a significant component of the total cost of supplying coal.
Disruption or insufficient availability of these transportation services could temporarily impair our
ability to supply coal to customers and thus adversely affect our business and the results of our
operations. In addition, increases in transportation costs associated with our coal, or increases in our
transportation costs relative to transportation costs for coal produced by our competitors or of other
fuels, could adversely effect our business and results of operations.

Reserves — Title; Leasehold Interests

We base our reserve information on geological data assembled and analyzed by our staff, which
includes various engineers and geologists, and periodically reviewed by outside firms. The reserve
estimates are annually updated to reflect production of coal from the reserves and new drilling or
other data received. There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating quantities of recoverable
reserves, including many factors beyond our control. Estimates of economically recoverable coal
reserves and net cash flows necessarily depend upon a number of variable factors and assumptions,
such as geological and mining conditions which may not be fully identified by available exploration
data or may differ from experience in current operations, historical production from the area
compared with production from other producing areas, the assumed effects of regulation by
governmental agencies, and assumptions concerning coal prices, operating costs, severance and
excise taxes, development costs, and reclamation costs, all of which may cause estimates to vary
considerably from actual results.

For these reasons, estimates of the economically recoverable quantities attributable to any
particular group of properties, classifications of such reserves based on risk of recovery and estimates
of net cash flows expected therefrom, prepared by different engineers or by the same engineers at
different times, may vary substantially. Actual coal tonnage recovered from identified reserve areas or
properties, and revenues and expenditures with respect to our reserves, may vary from estimates, and
such variances may be material. These estimates thus may not accurately reflect our actual reserves.

Most of our mining operations are conducted on properties we lease. The loss of any lease could
adversely affect our ability to develop the associated reserves. Because title to most of our leased
properties and mineral rights is not usually verified until we have made a commitment to develop a
property, which may not occur until after we have obtained necessary permits and completed
exploration of the property, our right to mine certain of our reserves may be adversely affected if
defects in title or boundaries exist. In order to obtain leases or mining contracts to conduct mining
operations on property where these defects exist, we have had to, and may in the future have to,
incur unanticipated costs. In addition, we may not be able to successfully negotiate new leases or
mining contracts for properties containing additional reserves or maintain our leasehold interests in
properties on which mining operations are not commenced during the term of the lease.

Acquisitions

We continually seek to expand our operations and ccal reserves in the regions in which we
operate through acquisitions of businesses and assets, including leases of coal reserves. Acquisition
transactions involve inherent risks, such as:

* uncertainties in assessing the value, strengths, weaknesses, contingent and other liabilities and
potential profitability of acquisition or other transaction candidates;

« the potential loss of key personnel of an acquired business;

« the ability to achieve identified operating and financial synergies anticipated to result from an
acquisition or other transaction;
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» problems that could arise from the integration of the acquired business;

* unanticipated changes in business, industry or general economic conditions that affect the
assumptions underlying the acquisition or other transaction rationale; and

+ unexpected development costs, such as those related to the development of the Little Thunder
reserves, that adversely affect our profitability.

Any one or more of these factors could cause us not to realize the benefits anticipated to result
from the acquisition of businesses or assets.

Pension and Postretirement Benefits

We estimate our future postretirement medical and pension benefit obligations based on various
assumptions, including: ‘

¢ actuarial estimates;

» assumed discount rates;

+ estimates of mine lives;

* expected returns on pension plan assets; and
+ changes in health care costs.

Based on changes in our assumptions, our annual postretirement health and pension benefit
costs have increased. If our assumptions relating to these benefits change in the future, our costs
could further increase, which would reduce our profitability. In addition, future regulatory and
accounting changes relating to these benefits could result in increased obligations or additional costs,
which could also have a material adverse effect on our financial results.

On January 1, 1998, we replaced our existing pension plans with a new cash balance pension
plan. The accrued benefits of active participants under the former plans were vested as of that date
and the participant’s cash balance account was credited with the present value of the participant’s
earned pension benefit, payable at normal retirement age. On February 12, 2004, the United States
District Court for the Southern District of lllinois affirmed its earlier ruling that the cash balance
formula used in IBM's conversion to a cash balance plan violated the age discrimination provisions
under ERISA. IBM has announced that it will appeal the decision to the Seventh Circuit Court of
Appeals. The lllinois District Court's decision conflicts with the decisions of two other district courts
and with proposed regulations for cash balance plans issued by Treasury and the IRS in December
2002. In addition, on February 2, 2004, the Treasury Department proposed legislation that would
clarify that cash balance plans do not viclate the age discrimination rules that apply to pension plans
as long as they treat older workers at least as well as younger workers. The retirement account
formula used for our pension plan may not meet the standard ultimately set forth in the IBM Court's
decision. Consequently, the IBM decision may have an impact on our and other companies’ cash
balance pension plans. The effect of the IBM decision on our cash balance plan or our financial
position has not been determined at this time.

Certain Contractual Arrangements

Our affiliate, Arch Western Resources, LLC, is the owner of our reserves and mining facilities in
the Powder River Basin and Western Bituminous regions of the United States. The agreement under
which Arch Western was formed provides that a subsidiary of ours, as the managing member of Arch
Western, generally has exclusive power and authority to conduct, manage and control the business of
Arch Western. However, consent of BP p.l.c., the other member of Arch Western, would generally be
required in the event that Arch Western proposes to make a distribution, incur indebtedness, sell
properties or merge or consolidate with any other entity if, at such time, Arch Western has a debt

1-32




rating less favorable than specified ratings with Moody's Investors Service or Standard & Poor’s or fails
to meet specified indebtedness and interest ratios.

In connection with our June 1, 1998 acquisition of Atlantic Richfield Company's (""ARCO") coal
operations, we entered into an agreement under which we agreed to indemnify ARCO against
specified tax liabilities in the event that these liabilities arise as a result of certain actions taken prior to
June 1, 2013, including the sale or other disposition of certain properties of Arch Western, the
repurchase of certain equity interests in Arch Western by Arch Western, or the reduction under
certain circumstances of indebtedness incurred by Arch Western in connection with the acquisition.
ARCO was acquired by BP p.l.c. in 2000. Depending on the time at which any such indemnification
obligation were to arise, it could impact our profitability for the period in which it arises.

Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation requires the affirmative vote of the
holders of at least two-thirds of outstanding common stock voting thereon to approve a merger or
consclidation and certain other fundamental actions involving or affecting control of us. Qur Bylaws
require the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the members of our Board of Directors in order to
declare dividends and to authorize certain other actions.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles that are generally
accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires management to
make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses as well as tthe disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Management bases its estimates
and judgments on historical experience and other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Additionally, these estimates and judgments are discussed with our Audit Committee
on a periodic basis. Actual results may differ from the estimates used under different assumptions or
conditions. Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements provides a description of all significant
accounting policies. We believe that of these significant accounting policies, the following may involve
a higher degree of judgment or complexity:

Asset Retirement Obligations

Our asset retirement obligations arise from the federal Surface Mining Control and Reclamation
Act of 1977 and similar state statutes, which require that mine property be restored in accordance
with specified standards and an approved reclamation plan. Significant reclamation activities include
reclaiming refuse and slurry ponds, reclaiming the pit and support acreage at surface mines, and
sealing portals at deep mines. We account for the costs of our reclamation activities in accordance
with ‘the provisions of FAS 143, We determine the future cash flows necessary to satisfy our
reclamation obligations on a mine-by-mine basis based upon current permit requirements and various
estimates and assumptions, including estimates of disturbed acreage, cost estimates, and assumptions
regarding productivity. Estimates of disturbed acreage are determined based on approved mining
plans and related engineering data. Cost estimates are based upon historical internal or third-party
costs, depending on how the work is expected to be performed. Productivity assumptions are based
on historical experience with the equipment that is expected to be utilized in the reclamation
activities. In accordance with the provisions of FAS 143, we determine the fair value of our asset
retirement obligations. In order to determine fair value, we must also estimate a discount rate and
third-party margin. Each is discussed further below:

» Discount rate — FAS 143 requires that asset retirement obligations be recorded at fair value. In
accordance with the provisions of FAS 143, we utilize discounted cash flow techniques to
estimate the fair value of our obligations. We base our discount rate on the rates of treasury
bonds with maturities similar to expected mine lives, adjusted for our credit standing.
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* Third-party margin — FAS 143 requires the measurement of an obligation to be based upon
the amount a third-party would demand to assume the obligation. Because we plan to
perform a significant amount of the reclamation activities with internal resources, a third-party
margin is added to the estimated costs of these activities. This margin is estimated based upon
our historical experience with contractors performing certain types of reclamation activities.
The inclusion of this margin will result in a recorded obligation that is greater than the
estimates of our cost to perform the reclamation activities with internal resources. If our cost
estimates are accurate, the excess of the recorded obligation over the cost incurred to perform
the work will be recorded as a gain at the time that reclamation work is completed.

On at least an annual basis, we review our entire reclamation liability and make necessary
adjustments for permit changes as granted by state authorities, additional costs resulting from
accelerated mine closures, and revisions to cost estimates and productivity assumptions, to reflect
current experience. At December 31, 2004, we had recorded asset retirement obligation liabilities of
$199.6 million, including amounts reported as current. While the precise amount of these future costs
cannot be determined with certainty, as of December 31, 2004, we estimate that the aggregate
undiscounted cost of final mine closure is approximately $354.7 million.

Employee Benefit Plans

We have non-contributory defined benefit pension plans covering certain of our salaried and
non-union hourly employees. Benefits are generally based on the employee’s age and compensation.
We fund the plans in an amount not less than the minimum statutory funding requirements nor more
than the maximum amount that can be deducted for federal income tax purposes. For the years
ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, we contributed $21.6 million and $18.9 million to the plan. We
account for our defined benefit plans in accordance with FAS 87, Employer’s Accounting for Pensions,
which requires amounts recognized in the financial statements to be determined on an actuarial basis.

The calculation of our net periodic benefit costs (pension expense) and benefit obligation
(pension liability) associated with our defined benefit pension plans requires the use of a number of
assumptions that we deem to be “critical accounting estimates.” Changes in these assumptions can
result in different pension expense and liability amounts, and actual experience can differ from the
assumptions.

* The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is an assumption reflecting the average
rate of earnings expected on the funds invested or to be invested to provide for the benefits
included in the projected benefit obligation. We establish the expected long-term rate of
return at the beginning of each fiscal year based upon historical returns and projected returns
on the underlying mix of invested assets. The pension plan’s investment targets are 65%
equity, 30% fixed income securities and 5% cash. Investments are rebalanced on a periodic
basis to stay within these targeted guidelines. The long-term rate of return assumption used to
determine pension expense was 8.5% and 9.0% for the years ended December 31, 2004 and
2003, respectively, which is less than the plan’s actual life-to-date returns. Any difference
between the actual experience and the assumed experience is deferred as an unrecognized
actuarial gain or loss and amortized into the future. The impact of lowering the expected long-
term rate of return on plan assets from 8.5% to 8.0% for 2004 would have been an increase
to expense of approximately $0.9 million.

* The discount rate represents our estimate of the interest rate at which pension benefits could
be effectively settled. Assumed discount rates are used in the measurement of the projected,
accumulated and vested benefit obligations and the service and interest cost components of
the net periodic pension cost. In estimating that rate, Statement No. 87 requires rates of return
on high quality, fixed income investments. We utilize a bond portfolic model that includes
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bonds that are rated "AA" or higher with maturities that match the expected benefit
payments under the plan. The discount rates used to determine pension expense for 2004 and
2003 were 6.5% and 7.0%, respectively. The impact of lowering the discount rate from the
6.5% utilized in 2004 to an assumed 6.0% would have resulted in an approximate $1.3 mil-
lion increase in expense in 2004,

The differences generated in changes in assumed discount rates and returns on plan assets are
amortized into earnings over a five-year period.

For the measurement of our year-end pension obligation for 2004 (and pension expense for
2005), we maintained our long-term rate of return assumption at 8.5% and changed our discount
rate to 6.0%.

We also currently provide certain postretirement medical/life insurance coverage for eligible
employees. Generally, covered employees who terminate employment after meeting eligibility
requirements are eligible for postretirement coverage for themselves and their dependents. The
salaried employee postretirement medical/life plans are contributory, with retiree contributions
adjusted periodically, and contain other cost-sharing features such as deductibles and coinsurance.
The postretirement medical plan for retirees who were members of the United Mine Workers of
America is not contributory. Qur current funding policy is to fund the cost of all postretirement
medical/life insurance benefits as they are paid. We account for our other postretirement benefits in
accordance with FAS 106, Employer’s Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions,
which requires amounts recognized in the financial statements to be determined on an actuarial basis.

Various actuarial assumptions are required to determine the amounts reported as obligations and
costs related to the postretirement benefit plan. These assumptions include the discount rate and the
future medical cost trend rate.

* The discount rate assumption reflects the rates available on high-quality fixed-income debt
instruments at year-end and is calculated in the same manner as discussed above for the
pension plan. The discount rate used to calculate the postretirement benefit expense for 2004
and 2003 was 6.5% and 7.0%, respectively. Had the discount rate been lowered from 6.5%
to 6.0% in 2004, we would have incurred additional expense of $8.4 million.

* Future medical trend rate represents the rate at which medical costs are expected to increase
over the life of the plan. The health care cost trend rate is determined based upon our
historical changes in health care costs as well as external data regarding such costs. We have
implemented many effective programs that have resulted in actual increases in medical costs to
fall far below the double-digit increases experienced by most companies in recent years. The
postretirement expense in 2004 was based on an assumed medical inflationary rate of 8.0%,
trending down in half percent increments to 5%, which represents the ultimate inflationary
rate for the remainder of the plan life. This assumption was based on our then current three-
year historical average of per capita increases in health care costs. If we had utilized a medical
trend rate of 9.0% in 2004, we would have incurred $4.0 million of additional expense.

For the measurement of our year-end other postretirement obligation for 2004 (and other
postretirement expense for 2005), we maintained our medical inflationary rate assumption at 8.0%
(trending down to 5%) and changed our discount rate to 6.0%.

Income Taxes

We record deferred tax assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates for the effect of temporary
differences between the book and tax bases of assets and liabilities. A valuation allowance is recorded
to reflect the amount of future tax benefits that management believes are not likely to be realized. In
determining the appropriate valuation allowance, we take into account the level of expected future
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taxable income and available tax planning strategies. If future taxable income was lower than
expected or if expected tax planning strategies were nct available as anticipated, we may record
additional valuation allowance through income tax expense in the period such determination was
made.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To Board of Directors and Shareholders
of Arch Coal, Inc.

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, that Arch Coal, Inc. maintained effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal
Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Arch Coal Inc.'s management is responsible for maintain-
ing effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s
assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial
reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained
in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or
detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject
to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree
of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Arch Coal, Inc. maintained effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects,
based on the COSQ criteria. Also, in our opinion, Arch Coal, Inc. maintained, in all material respects,
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on the COSO
Criteria.
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We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Qversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of Arch Coal, Inc. and subsidiaries as
of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, sharehold-
ers’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004 of Arch
Coal, Inc. and our report dated February 23, 2005 expressed an ungualified opinion thereon.

Sanct ¥ MLLP

Ernst & Young LLP

St. Louis, Missouri
February 23, 2005
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To Board of Directors and Shareholders
of Arch Coal, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Arch Coal, Inc. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consoclidated statements of
operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2004. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Cur responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above (appearing on pages 11-43 to 11-84 of
this annual report) present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Arch
Coal, Inc. and subsidiaries at December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the consolidated results of their
operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of Arch Coal, Inc.'s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and
our report dated February 23, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its
method of accounting for asset retirement obligations effective January 1, 2003.

M 4 MLLP
Ernst & Young LLP

St. Louis, Missouri
February 23, 2005
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL .CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting, as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and with the
participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principa! financial
officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting based on the criteria set forth in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation, our
management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting is effective as of
December 31, 2004.

Our management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2004 has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report, which is included herein.
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENT

The management of Arch Coal, Inc. is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements and related financial information in this annual report. The financial statements
are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and
necessarily include some amounts that are based on management's informed estimates and
judgments, with appropriate consideration given to materiality.

The Company maintains a system of internal accounting controls designed to provide reasonable
assurance that financial records are reliable for purposes of preparing financial statements and that
assets are properly accounted for and safeguarded. The concept of reasonable assurance is based on
the recognition that the cost of a system of internal accounting controls should not exceed the value
of the benefits derived. The Company has a professional staff of internal auditors who monitor
compliance with and assess the effectiveness of the system of internal accounting controls.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, composed of directors who are free from
relationships that may impair their independence from Arch Coal, Inc., meets regularly with
management, the internal auditors, and the independent auditors to discuss matters relating to
financial reporting, internal accounting control, and the nature, extent and results of the audit effort.
The independent auditors and internal auditors have full and free access to the Audit Committee,
with and without management present.

L et F ol W%

Steven F. Leer Robert J. Messey
President and Chief Executive Officer Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002 °
{(In thousands of dollars except per share
data)
REVENUES
Coalsales . ... i $1,907,168 $1,435,488 $1,473,558
COSTS AND EXPENSES
Costofcoalsales ..., 1,638,284 1,280,608 1,262,516
Depreciation, depletion and amortization ............... 166,322 158,464 174,752
Selling, general and administrative expenses ............ 52,842 43,942 37,999
Long-term incentive compensation expense ............. 5,495 . 16,217 —
Other @XPeNSES & ..ttt e e 35,758 18,245 29,595

1,898,701 1,517,476 1,504,862

OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Income from equity investments....................... 10,828 34,390 10,092
Gain on sale of units of Natural Resource Partners, LP. ... 91,268 42,743 —
Other operatingincome. ..., 67,483 45,226 50,489
169,579 ., 122,359 60,581
Income from operations . .. ... 178,046 40,371 29,277
Interest expense, net:
Interest expense. ... e (62,634) (50,133) . (51,922)
Interest inCOME ... ot 6,130 2,636 1,083

(56,504) (47,497) (50,839

Other non-operating income (expense):
Expenses resulting from early debt extinguishment and

termination of hedge accounting for interest rate swaps (9,010) (8,955) —
Other non-operating income .. ...t 1,044 13,211 —
(7,966) 4,256 —
Income (loss) beforie income taxes and cumulative effect of
accounting change ......... o i 113,576 (2,870) (21,562)
Benefit from income taxes. .......... ..t (130) (23,210) (19,000)
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting change 113,706 20,340 (2,562)
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of taxes ...... — (3,654) —
NET INCOME (LOSS) ..o oo e $ 113,706 $ 16686 $ (2,562)
Preferred stock dividends .. ........... ...l (7,187) (6,589) —
Net income (loss) available to common shareholders ....... $ 106,519 § 10,097 § (2,562)
EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE
Basic earnings (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting
Change ... 1.91 0.26 (0.05)
Cumulative effect of accounting change.................. — (0.07) —
Basic earnings (loss) per common share .................. $ 1.91 § 019 % (0.05)
Diluted earnings (loss) before cumulative effect of
accounting change ........... ... o i 1.78 0.26 (0.05)
Cumulative effect of accounting change.................. — (0.07) —
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share ................ $ 1.78 § 019 % (0.05)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

2004

2003

(in thousands of dollars
except share data)

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents ... ... ... ... ... ... . ... .. il $ 323,167 $ 254,541
Trade accounts receivable . ... ... . 180,902 118,376
Other receivables ... 34,407 29,897
INVENTONIES .« . oot e 119,893 69,907
Prepaid royalties . ... .. 12,995 4,586
Deferred iINCOME taXES .. .. .. o 33,933 19,700
Other L 25,560 16,638
Total CUrment @ssets ...t 730,857 513,645
Property, plant and equipment
Coal lands and mineral rights . . ........... ... ... . 1,725,339 1,085,517
Plant and equipment . ... . 1,423,550 1,090,762
Deferred mine development . ... ... .. ... . . 408,657 285,150
' 3,557,546 2,461,429
Less accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization ............. (1,524,346)  (1,146,294)
Property, plant and equipment, net.............. ... ..ol 2,033,200 1,315,135
Other assets
Prepaid royalties .. ... o 87,285 70,880
Goodwill. .o 37,381 —
Deferred INCOME 1aXeS .. .. oot e 241,226 246,024
EQUity Investments . ... .. . — 172,045
Other 126,586 69,920
Total other assets . ... oo 492,478 558,869
Total @5SetS . $ 3,256,535 $ 2,387,649
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable ... ... $ 148,014 $ 89,975
ACCTUBA BXPENSES . . vttt ettt 217,216 180,314
Current portionof debt. . ... ... .. . ... ... 9,824 6,349
Total current liabilities .. ... . 375,054 276,638
Long-term debt. . ... . 1,001,323 700,022
Accrued postretirement benefits other than pension ................... 380,424 352,097
Asset retirement obligations ....... .. 179,965 143,545
Accrued workers' compensation ... ... 82,446 77,672
Other noncurrent liabilities .. ... . 157,497 149,640
Total liabilities .. ... ... 2,176,709 1,699,614
Stockholders’ equitg
Preferred stock, $.01 par value, $50 liguidation preference, authorized
10,000,000 shares, issued 2,875,000 shares ...................... 29 29
Common stock, $.01 par value, authorized 100,000,000 shares, issued
62,500,458 and 53,561,979 shares. ............ . ... .. ... ..., 631 536
Paid-in capital ... ... 1,280,513 988,476
Retained defiCit. .. ... .. i {166,273) (255,936)
Unearned compensation ............iiureiiiin i (1,830) —
Less treasury stock, at cost, 357,200 shares...................... ... (5,047) (5,047)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss ................ ... ... . (28,197) (40,023)
Total stockholders' equity ... i i 1,079,826 688,035
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity ........... ... ... $ 3,256,535 §2,387,649

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financia! statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Three Years Ended December 31, 2004

Accumulated

Retained Treasury Other
Common Preferred  Paid-In Earnings  Unearned  Stock at Comprehensive
Stock Stock Capital (Deficit) Compensation  Cost Loss Total
(In thousands of dollars except share and per share data)
BALANCE AT JANUARY 1, 2002 ........ §527 $— $ 835,427 $(239,336) $ — $(5,047) $(20,829) $§ 570,742

Comprehensive income

Netloss. ..o, (2,562) (2,562)

Minimum pension liability adjustment (16,416) (16,416)

Unrealized losses on derivatives . .. .. (5,192) (5,192)
Total comprehensive loss . ............ (24,170)
Dividends paid ($.23 per share) ....... (12,045) (12,045)
Issuance of 81,454 shares of common

stock under the stock incentive plan,

including income tax benefits . ... ... 336 336

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2002 ...... 527 — 835,763 (253,943) — (5,047) (42,437) 534,863

Comprehensive income

Netincome ...................... 16,686 16,686

Minimum pension liability adjustment 3,403 3,403

Unrealized losses on derivatives ... .. (5,940) (5,940)

Net amount reclassified to income. .. 4,351 4,951
Total comprehensive income.......... 19,100
Dividends

Common ($.23 per share) .......... (12,090) (12,090)

Preferred ($2.29 per share) ......... (6,589) (6,589)

Issuance of 2,875,000 shares of

perpetual cumulative convertible

preferred stock ............. ... .. 29 138,995 139,024
Issuance of 770,608 shares of common

stock under the stock incentive plan,

including income tax benefits . ... ... 9 13,718 13,727
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2003 ...... 536 29 988,476 (255,936) — (5,047) (40,023) 688,035
Comprehensive income
Netincome...................... 113,706 113,706
Minimum pension liability
adjustment . ... L. 1,221 1,221
Mark-to-market for available-for-
sale securities. ................. 2,081 2,081
Net amount reclassified to income 8,524 8,524 .
Total comprehensive income ..... .. 125,532
Dividends
Common ($.2975 per share) ... ... (16,856) (16,856)
Preferred ($2.50 per share) ..... .. (7,187) (7,187)

Issuance of 7,187,500 shares of

common stock pursuant to public

offering................. ... ... 72 230,455 230,527
Issuance of 500,000 shares of

common stock as contribution to

pensionplan .................... 5 15,435 15,440
Issuance of 149,190 shares of

common stock under the stock

incentive plan — restricted stock

UNIS .. 1 4,246 (4,247) —
Expense recognized on restricted
stock units ... L 2,417 2,417

Issuance of 1,658,179 shares of
common stock under the stock
incentive plan — stock options,
including income tax benefits . ... 17 41,901 41,918

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2004. . ... $631 $29  $1.280,513 $(166,273)  §$(1,830) $(5,047) $(28,197) $1,079,826

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
{In thousands of dollars)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income (10SS) . .. oot $113,706 § 16,686 $ (2.,562)
Adjustments to reconcile to cash provided by operating
activities:
Depreciation, depletion and amortization .................. 166,322 158,464 174,752
Prepaid royalties expensed . ................ 13,889 13,153 8,503
Accretion on asset retirement obligations ........... ... .. 12,681 12,999 —
Gain on sale of units of Natural Resource Partners, LP ... .... (91,268) (42,743) —
Net gain on disposition of property, plant and equipment . . .. (6,668) (3,782) (751)
Income from equity investments ......... ... {10,828) (34,390) {10,092)
Net distributions from equity investments .................. 17,678 49,686 17,121
Cumuiative effect of accounting change . .................. — 3,654 —
Other non-operating (income) expense .................... 7,966 (4,256) —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities (see Note 21) .. ... (67,406) (375) (4,634)
Other . (9,344) (6,735) (5,920)
Cash provided by operating activities. . .................. 146,728 162,361 176,417
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments for acquisitions, net of cash acquired............. (387,751) — —
Capital expenditures . .............. . ... (292,605) (132,427) (137,089)
Proceeds from sale of units of Natural Resource Partners, LP. . 111,447 115,000 33,603
Proceeds from coal supply agreements .................... — 52,548 —
Additions to prepaid royalties ......... ... ... .o (33,813) (32,571) (27,339)
Proceeds from disposition of property, plant and equipment . . 7,428 4,282 2,522
Cash (used in) provided by investing activities ............ {595,294) 6,832 (128,303)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net borrowings (payments) on revolver and lines of credit.. . .. 25,000 (65,971) (26,513)
Net payments on long-term debt ............... ... ... ... (302) (675,000) —
Proceeds from issuance of seniornotes . ................... 261,875 700,000 —
Debt financing costs ... . ... e (12,806) (18,508) (8,228)
Proceeds from sale and leaseback of equipment ............ — — 9,213
Reductions of obligations under capital lease ............... — — (8,210)
Dividends paid . ... .. i (24,043) (17,481) (12,045)
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock ................. — - 139,024 —
Proceeds from sale of common stock.................... .. 267,468 13,727 336
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities ............ 517,192 75,791 (45,447)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents ................... 68,626 244,984 2,667
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year ............ 254,541 9,557 6,890
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year.................. $323,167 $254,541 § 9,557
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash paid during the year forinterest ................:.... $ 53,558 § 30,014 § 51,695
Cash paid (received) during the year for income taxes ....... $ 13,350 % (6,407) § (3,115

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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- NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In Thousands of Dollars Except Per Share Data)

1. Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Arch Coal, inc. and its subsidiaries
(""the Company’’), which operate in the coal mining industry. The Company's primary business is the
production of steam and metallurgical coal from surface and deep mines throughout the United
States, for sale to utility, industrial and export markets. The Company’s mines are primarily located in
the Powder River Basin, Central Appalachia and Western Bituminous regions of the United States. All
subsidiaries (except as noted below) are wholly owned. Intercompany transactions and accounts have
been eliminated in consolidation.

The Company’s Wyoming, Colorado and Utah coal operations are included in a joint venture
named Arch Western Resources, LLC ("Arch Western™). Arch Western is 99% owned by the
Company and 1% owned by BP Amoco. The Company also acts as the managing member of Arch
Western.

As of and for the period ending July 31,2004, the membership interests in the Utah coal
operations, Canyon Fuel Company, LLC (""Canyon Fuel’), were owned 65% by Arch Western and
35% by a subsidiary of ITOCHU Corporation. Through July 31, 2004, the Company’s 65% ownership
of Canyon Fuel was accounted for on the equity method in the Consolidated Financial Statements as
a result of certain super-majority voting rights in the joint venture agreement. Income from Canyon
Fuel through July 31, 2004 is reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Operations as income from
equity investments (see additional discussion in Note 5, "“Equity Investments’). On July 31, 2004, the
Company acquired the remaining 35% of Canyon Fuel. See Note 3, “'Business Combinations’* for
further discussion.

The Company’'s 17.5% partnership interest in Dominion Terminal Associates is accounted for on
the equity method in the consolidated balance sheets. Allocable costs of the partnership for coal
loading and storage are included in other expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. (See
additional discussion in ""Commitments and Contingencies’ in Note 20.)

Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Accounting Chénge

On January 1, 2003, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations ("'FAS 143""). FAS 143 requires legal obligations
associated with the retirement of long-lived assets to be recognized at fair value at the time the
obligations are incurred. Upon initial recognition of a liability, the cost should also be capitalized as
part of the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset and allocated to expense over the useful
tife' of the asset. Previously, the Company accrued for the expected costs of these obligations over the
estimated useful mining life of the property. See additional discussion in Note 11, ““Asset Retirement
Obligations.” ‘
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
(In Thousands of Dollars Except Per Share Data)

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are stated at cost. Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid invest-
ments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased
Allowance for Uncollectible Rece1vables

The Company maintains allowances to reflect the expected uncollectability of its trade accounts
receivable and other receivables based on past collection history, the economic environment and
specified risks identified in the receivables portfolio. Allowances recorded at December 31, 2004 and
2003 were $3.0 million and $1.5 million, respectively.

Inventories

Inventories consist of the following:
December 31,

2004 2003
Coal ...t S e $‘ 76,009  $38,249
Supplies, net-of allowance. .. .. FE S . 43,884 31,658

$119,893  $69,907

Coal and supplies inventories are valued at the lower of average cost or market. Coal inventory
costs include labor, supplies, equipment costs and operating overhead. The Company has recorded a
valuation allowance for slow-moving and obsolete supplies inventories of $23.0 million and
$18.8 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Coal Acquisition Costs and Prepaid Royalties

The costs to obtain coal lease rights are capitalized and amortized primarily by the units-of-
production method over the estimated recoverable reserves. Amortization occurs either as the
Company mines con the property or as others mine on the property through subleasing transactions.

Rights to leased coal lands are often acquired through royalty payments. Where royalty payments
represent prepayments recoupable against production, they are capitalized, and amounts expected to
be recouped within one year are classified as a current asset. As mining occurs on these leases, the
prepayment is charged to cost of coal sales.

Coal Supply Agreements

Acquisition costs allocated to coal supply agreements (sales contracts) are capitalized and
amortized on the basis of coal to be shipped over the term of the contract. Value is allocated to coal
supply agreements based on discounted cash flows attributable to the difference between the above
or below-market contract price and the then-prevailing market price. The net book value of the
Company’s above-market coal supply agreements was $11.1 million and $6.4 million at Decem-
ber 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. These amounts are recorded in other assets in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The net book value of all below-market coal supply agreements was
$29.2 million at December 31, 2004. This amount is recorded in other noncurrent liabilities in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. Amortization expense on all above-market coal supply
agreements was $3.8 million, $16.6 million and $22.2 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Amortization income on all below-market coal supply agreements was $4.1 million in 2004. Based on
expected shipments related to these contracts, the Company expects to record annual amortization
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
{In Thousands of Dollars Except Per Share Data)

expense on the above-market coal supply agreements and annual amortization income on the below-
market coal supply agreements in each of the next five years as reflected in the table below.
' Above-market  Below-market

contracts contracts
2005 . $6,487 $15,183
2006 ....... e e e e e 769 12,326
2007 ....... e 361 1,342
2008 361 389
2009 ....... O 361 —

During 2003, the Company agreed to terms with a large customer seeking to buy out of the
remaining term of an above-market coal supply contract. The buy-out resulted in the receipt of
$52.5 million in cash during the quarter. The Company wrote off the remaining contract value of
$37.5 million and recorded a deferred gain of approximately $15 million related to this transaction.
The deferred gain will be recognized ratably through 2012.

Exploration Costs

Costs related to locating coal deposits and determining the economic mineability of such
deposits are expensed as incurred.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment are recorded at cost. Interest costs applicable to major asset additions are
capitalized during the construction period. Expenditures which extend the useful lives of existing plant
and equipment or-increase the productivity of the asset are capitalized. Plant and equipment are
depreciated principally on the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which
range from three to 30 years except for preparation plants and loadouts. Preparation plants and
loadouts are depreciated using the units-of-production method over the estimated recoverable
reserves, subject to a minimum level of depreciation.

Leased plant and equipment meeting certain criteria is capitalized and the present value of the
related lease payments is recorded as a liability. Amortization of capitalized leased assets is computed
on the straight-line method over the term of the lease.

Deferred Mine Development

Costs of developing new mines or significantly expanding the capacity of existing mines are
capitalized and amortized using the units-of-production method over the estimated recoverable
reserves that are associated with the property being benefited. Additionally, the asset retirement
obligation asset has been recorded as a component of deferred mine development.

Coal Lands and Mineral Rights

A significant portion of the Company’s coal reserves are controlled through leasing arrange-
ments. Amounts paid to acquire such lease rights are capitalized and depleted over the life of those
reserves that are proven and probable. Depletion of coal lease rights is computed using the units-of-
production method and the rights are assumed to have no residual value. The leases are generally
long-term in nature (original terms range from 10 to 50 years), and substantially all of the leases
contain provisions that allow for automatic extension of the lease term as long as mining continues.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
(In Thousands of Dollars Except Per Share Data)

The net book value of the Company's leased coal interests was $1,169.7 million and $693.3 million at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. This increase is due to the addition of leased coal interests
resulting from the North Rochelle and Canyon Fuel acquisitions and the Little Thunder leasing
arrangement (See additional discussion in "“Commitments and Contingencies”” in Note 20).

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price and related costs over the value assigned to the
net tangible and identifiable intangible assets of businesses acquired. In accordance with
SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (""FAS 142"), goodwill is not amortized but is
tested for impairment annually, or if certain circumstances indicate a possible impairment may exist.
Impairment testing is performed at a reporting unit level. An impairment loss generally wouid be
recognized when the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds the fair value of the reporting
unit, with the fair value of the reporting unit determined using a discounted cash flow analysis.

Asset Impairment

If facts and circumstances suggest that a long-lived asset may be impaired, the carrying value is
reviewed. If this review indicates that the value of the asset will not be recoverable, as determined
based on projected undiscounted cash flows related to the asset over its remaining life, then the
carrying value of the asset is reduced to its estimated fair value.

Revenue Recognition

Coal sales revenues include sales to customers of coal produced at Company operations and coal
purchased from other companies. The Company recognizes revenue from coal sales at the time title
passes to the customer. Transportation costs that are billed by the Company and reimbursed to the
transportation provider (pass through costs) are included in coal sales and cost of coal sales.

Other Operating Income

Other operating income reflects income from sources other than coal sales, including administra-
tion and production fees from Canyon Fuel (these fees ceased as of the July 31, 2004 acquisition by
the Company of the remaining 35% interest in Canyon Fuel), royalties earned from properties leased
to third parties, and gains and losses from dispositions of long-term assets. These amounts are
recognized as services are performed or otherwise earned.

Derivative Financial Instruments

Derivative financial instruments are accounted for in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities
("“FAS 133"). FAS 133 requires all derivative financial instruments to be reported oni the balance sheet
at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognized either in earnings or equity, depending on the
nature of the underlying exposure being hedged and how effective the derivatives are at offsetting
price movements in the underlying exposure.

The Company formally documents alf relationships between hedging instruments and hedged
items, as well as its risk management objectives for undertaking various hedge transactions. The
Company evaluates the effectiveness of its hedging relationships both at the hedge inception and on
an ongoing basis. Any ineffectiveness is recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Ineffectiveness for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 was $0.2 million and $0.4 million,
respectively.
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The Company has historically utilized interest-rate swap agreements to modify the interest
characteristics of outstanding Company debt. The swap agreements essentially convert variable-rate
debt to fixed-rate debt. These agreements require the exchange of amounts based on variable interest
rates for amounts based on fixed interest rates over the life of the agreement. The Company accrues
amounts to be paid or received under interest-rate swap agreements over the lives of the agreements.
- Such amounts are recognized as adjustments to interest expense over the lives of agreements,
thereby adjusting the effective interest rate on the Company’s debt.

At December 31, 2004, the Company’s net interest rate swap position is as follows:

* Swaps with a notional value of $25.0 million which are designated as hedges of future interest
payments to be made under the Company’s revolving credit facility. Under these swap
agreements, the Company pays a fixed rate of 5.96% (before the credit spread over LIBOR)
and receives a weighted-average variable rate based upon 30-day LIBOR. At December 31,
2004, the remaining term of the swap agreements was 30 months.

» Swaps with a total notional value of $500.0 million consisting of offsetting positions of
$250.0 million each. Because of the offsetting nature of these positions, the Company is not
exposed to market interest rate risk related to these swaps. Under these swaps, the Company
pays a weighted average fixed rate 5.72% on $250.0 million of notional value and receives a
weighted average fixed rate of 2.71% on $250.0 million of notional value. The remaining
terms of these swap agreements at December 31, 2004 ranged from 8 to 31 months.

Changes in the market value of the interest-rate swaps that no longer qualify as hedges are
recorded as income or expense in the period of the change. During 2003, the Company recorded
gains of $13.4 million resulting from changes in the market value of interest-rate swaps. This amount
is included as other non-operating income in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of
Operations.

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are based on temporary differences between the financial statement and
tax basis of assets and liabilities existing at each balance sheet date using enacted tax rates for years
during which taxes are expected to be paid or recovered.

Stock-Based Compensation

These financial statements include the disclosure requirements of Financial Accounting Standards
Board Statement No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation ("'FAS 123'), as amended by
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation —
Transition and Disclosure ("'FAS 148""). With respect to accounting for its stock options, as permitted
under FAS 123, the Company has retained the intrinsic value method prescribed by Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 25 (“APB 25'), Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and related
Interpretations. Had compensation expense for stock option grants been determined based on the fair
value at the grant dates consistent with the method of FAS 123, the Company’s net income (loss) and
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earnings (loss) per common share would have been changed to the pro forma amounts as indicated in
the following table:
Year Ended December 31

2004 2003 2002
As reported
Net income (loss) available to common
shareholders . ... ... $106,519 $10,097 $ (2,562)
Basic earnings (loss) pershare................... 1.91 0.19 (0.05)
Diluted earnings (loss) pershare ................. 1.78 0.19 (0.05)
Pro forma (unaudited)
Net income (loss) available to common
shareholders .. ... ... ... .. . . $101,054 $ 858 $(11,168)
Basic earnings (loss) pershare................... 1.81 0.02 0.21)
Diluted earnings (loss) pershare . ................ 1.70 0.02 {0.21)

On December 16, 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("'FASB"') issued Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), ““Share-Based Payment” (FAS 123R), which
requires all public companies to measure compensation cost in the income statement for all share-
based payments (including employee stock options) at fair value for interim or annual periods
beginning after June 15, 2005. The Company intends to adopt FAS 123R on July 1, 2005 using the
modified-prospective method and anticipates a pre-tax charge to income of approximately $3.5 mil-
lion for the expensing of unvested stock options and price contingent stock awards for the period
July 1, 2005 through December 31, 2005. FAS 123R also requires the benefits of tax deductions in
excess of recognized compensation cost to be reported as a financing cash flow, rather than as an
operating cash flow as required under current literature. This requirement will reduce net operating
cash flows and increase net financing cash flows in periods after adoption.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 151,
“Inventory Costs, an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4’' (FAS 151). This Statement amends the
guidance in ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, "Inventory Pricing,” to clarify the accounting for abnormal
amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted material {spoilage). Provisions of
this statement are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. The Company does not
expect the adoption of this statement to have a material impact on its financial statements.

In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 153,
"Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets, an amendment of APB Opinion No. 28, Accounting for
Nonmonetary Transactions' (FAS 153). This Statement’s amendments are based on the principle that
exchanges of nonmonetary assets should be measured based on the fair value of the assets
exchanged. Further, FAS 153 eliminates the narrow exception for nonmonetary exchanges of similar
productive assets and replaces it with a broader exception for exchanges of nonmonetary assets that
do not have commercial substance. Provisions of this statement are effective for fiscal periods
beginning after June 15, 2005. The Company does not expect the adoption of this statement to have
a material impact on its financial statements.
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Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the prior years' financial statements have been reclassified to conform with
the classifications in the current year’s financial statements with no effect on previcusly reported net
income or stockholders’ equity.

2. Changes in Estimates and Other Non-Recurring Revenues and Expenses

During the year ending December 31, 2004, the Company assigned its rights and obligations on
a parcel of land to a third party resulting in a gain of $5.8 million. The gain is reflected in other
operating income.

During 2004, the Company filed a royalty rate reduction request with the Bureau of Land
Management {'BLM"’) for its West Elk mine in Colorado. The BLM notified the: Company that it would
receive a royalty rate reduction for a specified number of tons representing a retroactive portion for
the year totaling $2.7 million. The retroactive portion was recognized as a component of cost of coal
sales in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

In connection with the settlement of tax audits for prior years, the Company recorded interest
income of $2.2 million in 2004 related to federal income tax refunds. This amount is reflected as
interest income.

During the year ending December 31, 2004, the Company was notified by the IRS that it would
receive additional black lung excise tax refunds and interest related to black lung claims that were
originally denied by the IRS in 2002. The Company recognized a gain of $2.8 million ($2.1 million
refund and $0.7 million of interest) related to the claims. The $2.1 million refund was recorded as a
component of cost of coal sales, while the $0.7 million of interest was recorded as interest income.

During the year ending December 31, 2004, Canyon Fuel, which was accounted for under the
equity method through July 31, 2004, began the process of idling its Skyline Mine (the idling process
was completed in May 2004), and incurred severance costs of $3.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004. The Company’s share of these costs totals $2.1 million and is reflected in income
from equity investments.

During the year ending December 31, 2003, the Company instituted cost reduction efforts
throughout its operations. These cost reduction efforts included the termination of approximately 100
employees at the Company’s corporate headquarters and its Central Appalachia mining operations
and the recognition of expenses related to severance of $2.6 million. Of this amount, $1.6 million was
reported as a component of cost of coal sales, with the remainder reported in selling, general and
administrative expenses. Substantially all of the amounts noted were paid during 2003.

During the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company was notified by the State of Wyoming
of a favorable ruling relating to the Company's calculation of coal severance taxes. The ruling resulted
in a refund of previously paid taxes and the reversal of previously accrued taxes payable. The impact
on the 2003 financial results was a gain of $2.5 million, which was reflected as a reduction of cost of
coal sales. ‘

During the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company repaid its variable-rate term loans with
the proceeds from the sale of fixed-rate notes. At that time, the Company determined that certain
interest rate swaps that had been designated as hedges of the variable-rate interest payments were
no longer effective Hedges. Historical mark-to-market losses related to these swaps totaling $27.0 mil-
lion had been previously deferred and are now being amortized as additional expense over the
contractual terms of the swap agreements. The swap agreements’ contractual termination dates
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range from September 2005 through October 2007. During 2004 and 2003, the Company
recognized expenses of $8.3 million and $4.3 millicn, respectively, related to the amortization of
these previously deferred mark-to-market adjustments. The Company recognized an additional
$0.7 million and $4.7 mitlion of expense in 2004 and 2003, respectively, that represented early debt
extinguishment costs. These amounts are included in expenses resulting from early debt extinguish-
ment and termination of hedge accounting for interest rate swaps in the accompanying Consolidated
Statements of Operations.

During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company settled certain ccal contracts with a
customer that was partially unwinding its coal supply position and desired to buy out of the remaining
terms of those contracts. The settlements resulted in a pre-tax gain of $5.6 million, which was
recognized in other operating income in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The Company recognized a pre-tax gain of $4.6 million during the year ended December 31,
2002 as a result of a workers' compensation premium adjustment refund from the State of West
Virginia. During 1998, the Company entered into the West Virginia workers’' compensation plan at
one-of its subsidiary operations. The subsidiary paid standard base rates until the West Virginia
Division of Workers' Compensation could determine the actual rates based on claims experience.
Upon review, the Division of Workers’ Compensation refunded $4.6 million in premiums, which was
recognized as an adjustment to cost of coal sales in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

During 2002, the Company filed a royalty rate reduction request with the BLM for its West Elk
mine in Colorado. The BLM notified the Company that it would receive a royalty rate reduction for a
specified number of tons representing a retroactive portion for the year totaling $3.3 million. The
retroactive portion was recognized as a component of cost of coal sales in the Consolidated
Statement of Operations. Additionally in 2002, Canyon Fuel was notified by the BLM that it would
receive a royalty rate reduction for certain tons mined at its Skyline mine. The rate reduction applies to
certain tons mined representing a retroactive refund of $1.1 million. The retroactive amount was
reflected in income from equity investments in the Consolidated Statement of Cperations.

3. Business Combinations

Canyon Fuel 35% Acquisition

On July 31, 2004, the Company purchased the 35% interest in Canyon Fuel that it did not own
from ITOCHU Corporation. The purchase price, including related costs and fees, of $112.2 million was
funded with cash of $90.2 million and a five-year, $22.0 million non-interest bearing note. Net of
cash acquired, the fair value of the transaction totaled $97.4 million. As a result of the acquisition, the
Company owns substantially all of the ownership interests of Canyon Fuel and will no longer account
for its investment in Canyon Fuel on the equity method but will consolidate Canyon Fuel in its
financial statements. As of December 31, 2003, Canyon Fuel controlled approximately 161.0 million
tons of low-sulfur coal reserves in Utah and produced approximately 13.0 million tons of coal in 2003.
The results of operations of the Canyon Fuel mines are included in the Company’'s Western
Bituminous segment.

The preliminary purchase accounting allocation related to the acquisition- has been recorded in
the accompanying consolidated financial statements as of, and for the period subsequent to, July 31,
2004. The final valuation of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed is expected to be finalized once
third-party appraisals are completed. The Company expects the completion of these appraisals during
the first half of 2005.
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The following table summarizes the preliminary estimated fair values of the assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition (dollars in thousands):

Accounts receivable. . ..o $ 7,432
Materials and supplies . ... PRSI 3,751
QoA INMVENTOTY e 7,434
Other curmrent assets . ... 6,466
Property, plant, equipment and mine development. ...................... 125,881
Accounts payable and accrued exXpenses . ... ... e (10,379)
Coal supply agreements . . ... .. ot (33,378)
Other noncurrent assets and liabilities, net ............ .. ... . ... {9,823)
Total purchase price, net of cash received of $11.0 million . ............. L. $ 97,384

Amounts preliminarily allocated to coal supply agreements noted in the table above represent the
liability established for the net below-market coal supply agreements to be amortized over the
remaining terms of the contracts. The liability is classified as an other noncurrent liability on the
accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet. The amortization period on these acquired
coal supply agreements ranges from one to three years.

Triton Acquisition

On August 20, 2004, the Company acquired (1) Vulcan Coal Holdings, L.L.C., which owns all of
the common equity.of Triton Coal Company, LLC (""Triton"), and (2) all of the preferred units of Triton
for a purchase price of $382.1 million, including transaction costs and working capital adjustments.
Prior to the acquisition, Triton was the nation’s sixth fargest coal producer in 2003 and operated two
mines in the Powder River Basin, North Rochelle and Buckskin. Following the consummation of the
transaction, the Company completed the agreement to sell Buckskin to Kiewit Mining Acquisition
Company (“Kiewit”). The net sales price for this second transaction was $73.1 million. The total
purchase price, including related costs and fees, was funded with cash on hand, including the
proceeds from the Buckskin sale, $22.0 miilion in borrowings under the Company’s existing revolving
credit facility and @ $100.0 million term loan at its Arch Western Resources subsidiary. Upon
acquisition, the Company integrated the North Rochelle mine with its existing Black Thunder mine in
the Powder River Basin. ' '

The preliminary purchase accounting allocations related to the acquisition have been recorded in
the accompanying consolidated financial statements as of, and for the periods subsequent to,
August 20, 2004. The final valuation of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed is expected to be
finalized once third-party appraisals are completed. The Company expects the completion of these
appraisals during the first half of 2005.
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The following table summarizes the preliminary estimated fair values of the assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition (dollars in thousands):

Accounts receivable. .. ... $ 14,233
Materials and sUPPles .. ... i 4,161
0l VBN 0Ny e 4,874
Other CUIMENt @SSBES . ..ottt e e e e 2,200
Property, plant, equipment and mine development....................... 325,194
Coal SUPPlY agreements . ... i i e e 8,486
GooaWIll Lo e 37,381
Accounts payable and accrued expenses. .. .. L (72,408)
Other noncurrent assets and liabilities, net .......... ... oo, {(15,550)
Total purchase price, net of cash received of $0.4 million ................. $308,571

Amounts preliminarily allocated to coal supply agreements noted in the table above represent the
value attributed to the net above-market coal supply agreements to be amortized over the remaining
terms of the contracts. The amortization period on these acquired coal supply agreements ranges
from one to seven years.

The goodwill amount above arose due to the delay in time between the execution of the
acquisition agreement and the date of closing because of the Federal Trade Commission’s lawsuit to
block the acquisition and is attributable to the loss of value from the tons mined during this period. Of
the $37.4 million allocated to goodwill above, $27.5 million was deductible for income tax purposes.

Included in the amounts allocated to accounts payable and accrued expenses noted in the table
above are $5.5 million of liabilities incurred in connection with terminating Vulcan employees upon
acquisition. Upon acquisition, the Company identified 24 employees of Vulcan who were terminated
as part of the integration of the North Rochelle mine into the Company’s Black Thunder mine. All
amounts accrued for severance have been paid as of December 31, 2004,

Pro Forma Financial Information

The following unaudited pro forma financial information presents the combined results of
operations of the Company, the remaining Canyon Fuel interest acquired from ITOCHU Corporation
and the North Rochelle operations acquired from Triton, on a pro forma basis, as though the
purchases had occurred as of the beginning of each period presented. The pro forma financial
information does not necessarily reflect the results of operations that would have occurred had the
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Company and the operations acquired from Canyon Fuel and Triton constituted a single entity during
those periods:
Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003

(In thousands, except
per share data)

Revenues: ,
AS TR0 L ettt e $1,907,168  $1,435,488
Proforma ..o 2,156,958 1,876,205
Income before accounting changes:
AS TePOMEd ... 113,706 20,340
Proforma ... ... 103,933 13,747
Net income available to common shareholders:
Asreported...... ...t P 106,519 10,097
Proforma ... . 96,746 - 1,058
Basic earnings per share:
Asreported . ... 1.91 0.19
Proforma ... 1.73 0.02
Diluted earnings per share:
AS rEPOMtEd .o 1.78 0.19
Proforma ......... ... . 1.63 0.02

4. Other Comprehensive Income

Other comprehensive income items under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 130,
Reporting Comprehensive Income, are transactions recorded in stockholders’ equity during the year,
excluding net income and transactions with stockholders. Following are the items included in other
comprehensive income (loss), net of a 39% tax rate:

Minimum Accumulated
Pension Other
Financial Liability Available-for-sale  Comprehensive
Derivatives  Adjustments Securities Loss
Balance January 1, 2002.... $(17,978) §$ (2,851) $ — $(20,829)
2002 activity . ............. (5,192) (16,416) — (21,608)
Balance December 31, 2002 (23,170) (19,267) — (42,437)
2003 activity . ............. (989) 3,403 — 2,414
Balance December 31, 2003 (24,159) (15,864) — (40,023)
2004 activity ,............ 8,524 1,221 2,081 11,826
Balance December 31,
2004 ... ... ..., $(15,635) $(14,643) $2,081 $(28,197)

The 2004 activity for financial derivatives is comprised substantially of reclassifications to net
income.
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5. Equity Investments

As of December 31, 2004, the Company held no equity investments. The Company purchased
the remaining 35% interest in Canyon Fuel on July 31, 2004. Prior to July 31, 2004, the Company
accounted for its investment in Canyon Fuel on the equity method. Additionally, prior to March 10,
2004, the Company accounted for its investment in Natural Resource Partners, LP {"NRP") on the
equity method. Amounts recorded in the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements are as
follows: '

December 31,

2004 2003
Equity investments:
Investment in Canyon Fuel ..............c. .. $— $146,180
Investment in NRP ... ... = 25,865
Equity investments as reported in Consolidated Balance Sheets $— $172,045

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Income from equity investments:
Income from investment in Canyon Fuel ........... $ 8410 $19,707 $ 7,774
Income from investment in NRP . .................. 2,418 14,683 2,318
Income from equity investments in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations ...............ovvvvn... $10,828 $34,390 $10,092

Investment in Canyon Fuel

The following tables present unaudited, summarized financial information for Canyon Fuel, for
periods in which it was accounted for on the equity method.

Condensed Income Statement Information
Period Ended

July 31, Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
Revenues ... . ... . $142,893 $242,060 $250,325
Total costs and expenses .. ..., 133,546 223,357 249,325
Net income before cumuiative effect of _
accounting change ............... P $ 9347 §$ 18703 " § 1,000
65% of Canyon Fuel netincome............... $ 6,075 $ 12,157 % 650
Effect of purchase adjustments ................ 2,335 7,550 7,124
Arch Coal’s income from its equity investment in
Canyon Fuel ... ... ... ... ... i, $ 8410 $ 19,707 $ 7,774
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Condensed Balance Sheet Information
December 31, 2003

Arch
Ownership

Canyon of Canyon Arch Purchase

Fuel Basis Fuel Basis Adjustments Arch Basis
Currentassets ................... $ 51,660 $ 33,579 $ (2,492) $ 31,087
Noncurrent assets ................ 324,777 211,105 (59,622) 151,483
Current liabilities . ................ 25,692 16,700 — 16,700
Noncurrent liabilities . ............. 30,292 19,690 — 19,690
Members' equity ................. $320,453  $208,294 $(62,114) $146,180

Through July 31, 2004, the Company's income from its equity investment in Canyon Fuel
represented 65% of Canyon Fuel’s net income after adjusting for the effect of purchase adjustments
related to its investment in Canyon Fuel. The Company’s investment in Canyon Fuel reflects purchase
adjustments primarily related to the reduction in amounts assigned to sales contracts, mineral reserves
and other property, plant and equipment. The purchase adjustments are amortized consistent with
the underlying assets of the joint venture.

Effective January 1, 2003, Canyon Fuel adopted FAS 143 and recorded a cumulative effect loss of
$2.4 million. The Company’s 65% share of this amount was offset by purchase adjustments of
$0.5 million. These amounts are included in the cumulative effect of accounting change reported in
the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Investment in Natural Resource Partners, L.P.

During 2002, the Company contributed 454 million tons of coal reserves with a net book value
of $84.9 million to Natural Resource Partners L.P. in exchange for 4.8 million of NRP's common
limited partnership units, 4.8 million of NRP's subordinated limited partnership units, and 42.25% of
NRP’s general partner interest. Concurrent with the contribution, the Company entered into various
leases with NRP for the right to mine approximately 57 million tons of the contributed reserves. No
gain was recorded at the time of the contribution of the reserves and formation of NRP. On
October 17, 2002, the Company sold 1.9 million of its common limited partner units in a public
offering for proceeds of $33.6 million.

On December 22, 2003, the Company sold its 4.8 million subordinated units and its general
partner interest for a purchase price of $115.0 million. This sale resulted in a gain of $70.6 million, of
which $42.7 million was recognized in 2003 and the remainder was deferred. After this sale, the
Company’s remaining ownership in NRP consisted of 2.9 million common limited partnership units,
representing approximately 12.5% of NRP's outstanding partnership interests.

During the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company sold its remaining limited partnership
units of NRP in three separate transactions occurring in March, June and October. These sales resulted
in proceeds of approximately $111.4 million and gains of $91.3 million.

As of December 31, 2004, the Company had deferred gains from its sales of NRP units totaling
$21.8 million, which are included as **Other noncurrent liabilities” in the accompanying Consolidated
Balance Sheets. These deferred gains will be recognized over the remaining term of the Company’s
leases with NRP, as follows: $7.6 million in 2005, $4.6 million in 2006, $3.9 million in 2007, and a
total of $5.7 million from 2008 through 2012.
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6. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses included in current liabilities consist of the following:
. : December 31,

] 2004 2003
Payroll and related benefits............. ... ... oo $ 32,358 ¢ 36,846
Taxes other than income taxes..... e 76,246 49,140
Postretirement benefits other than pension ................... 29,685 26,324
WOrkers' COMPENSAtION ... ...t ee et 12,774 13,088
Iterest . .o 35,102 26,025
Asset retirement obligations ............. ... i 19,632 19,186
Other accrued eXpenses. ... 11,419 9,705

$217,216  $180,314

7. Income Taxes

Significant components of the provision (benefit) for income taxes are as follows:
" December 31, .
2004 2003 2002

Current:

Federal ... ... e $7,583 $ 4,668 $(21,646)
State . e — — —
Total current. ........... ... ... e 7,583 4,668 (21,646)

Deferred: ,
Federal ........ e e (5,412) (24,438) 5,788
State .. (2,301) (3,440) (3,142)
Total deferred ... . o, (7.713) (27,878) 2,646
‘ $ (130) $(23,210) $(19,000)

A reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax expense (benefit) on the Company's pretax
income (loss) to the actual provision (benefit) for income taxes follows:
) ‘ December 31,

A : : 2004 2003 2002

Income tax expense (benefit) at statutory rate .. ... . $39760 $ (1,005 $ (7,547)
Percentage depletion allowance ............. S (22,807) (16,211)  (21,366)
State taxes, net of effect of federal taxes ........... 1,729 (2,123) {4,585)
Change in valuation allowance, affecting provision . . . (265) *3,543 25,880
Reversal of reserve'for capital loss ................. : — (5,850) —
Favorable tax settlement ................ e (16,861) (1,464) (10,506)
Other, net........ A - (1,686) (100) (876)

’ ) $ (130) $(23,210) $(19,000)

During 2004, the IRS completed an audit and review of tax returns and claims for tax years 1999
through 2002 resulting in a favorable tax settlement, which includes a $9.7 million reduction in prior
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years tax reserves. Also, compensatory stock options were exercised resulting in a tax benefit of
$5.0 million that was recorded to paid in capital.

During 2003, the Company reversed a $5.8 million tax reserve, which was established in prior
years, for capital loss deductions which the Company deemed had no value at that time. Capital
losses are only deductible to the extent that a company has capital gains. Capital gains generated
during 2003 and projected to be generated in future years will fully absorb the capital loss. Also
during the year, the Company reversed a $1.5 million tax reserve as a result of filing amended state
income tax returns based on prior year IRS audit changes.

During 2002, the Company received notice from the IRS that it will receive tax refunds of
$3.6 million as a result of proposed adjustments to tax years 1997 and 1998. In addition, carryover
adjustments have been allowed which will reduce the Company’s 1999 and 2000 taxes paid by an
additional $5.3 million. These favorable adjustments are primarily the result of revisions in the tax
treatment of acquisitions made during the audit years. Tax refunds for 1999 and 2000 will not be
realized until audits of those years have been completed.

Management believes that the Company has adequately provided for any income taxes and
interest which may ultimately be paid with respect to all open tax years.
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Significant components of the Company's deferred tax assets and liabilities that result from
carryforwards and temporary differences between the financial statement basis and tax basis of assets
and liabilities are summarized as follows:

December 31,

2004 2003
Deferred tax assets:
Postrétirement benefits other than pension ................ $ 152,622 $ 144,993
Alternative minimum tax credit carryforward............... 99,582 92,229
Net operating loss carryforwards ..., 74,226 77,127
Reclamation and mine closure . .......... .. .o 42,776 41,953
Workers® compensation. .......... .. 32,453 33,239
Plant and equipment ... ... . e 19,143 20,372
Other comprehensive income . .........ccoiiiiinveni i, 16,412 18,818
Tax intangibles . ... 13,880 17,999
Advance royalties ....... ... 13,303 13,023
Coal Supply Agreements. ..., 10,233 —
Other .. 32,463 41,789
Gross deferred tax assets ............c i, 507,093 501,642
Valuation allowance . . ...t (163,005) (161,113)
Total deferred tax assets . ...... ... ... i 344,088 340,529
Deferred tax liabilities:

Investment in tax partnerships . ....... ... 38,251 33,230
Coal supply agreements ........... ... . i, — 971
Other . o 30,678 40,604
Total deferred tax liabilities. ........................... 68,929 74,805
Net deferred tax asset .............. ... ..o ... 275,159 265,724
Less current @sset .. ..ot e 33,933 19,700
Long-term deferred tax asset ............ ..ot $241,226  $ 246,024

The Company has federal net operating loss carryforwards for regular income tax purposes of
$145.2 million which will expire in the years 2007 to 2022. The Company has an alternative minimum
tax credit carryforward of $99.6 million, which may carry forward indefinitely to offset future regular
tax in excess of alternative minimum tax.

The Company has recorded a valuation allowance for a portion of its deferred tax assets that
management believes, more likely than not, will not be realized. These deferred tax assets include a
portion of the alternative minimum tax credits and some of the deductible temporary differences that
will likely not be realized at the maximum effective tax rate.
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Such valuation allowance consisted of the following components at December 31 on the years
indicated:

2004 2003
Unrealized future deductible temporary differences ............ $114,776  $117,564
Unutilized alternative minimum tax credits .. .................. 48,229 43,549
Valuation Allowance at December 31 ....... ... ... ......... $163,005 $161,113

8. Debt and Financing Arrangements

Debt consists of the following:
December 31,

2004 2003
Indebtedness to banks under tines of credit ................. $ — % —
Indebtedness to banks under revolving credit agreement,
expiring December 22, 2009 (weighted average rate at

December 31, 2004 —4.73%) . . .o 25,000 —
6.75% senior notes ($950.0 million face value) due July 1,

200 3 961,613 700,000
PromIsSOry MOt ... ... e 17,523 —
Other . 7,011 6,371

1,011,147 706,371
Less current portion .. ... 9,824 6,349
Long-termdebt ... . $1,001,323  $700,022

On December 22, 2004, the Company entered into a $700.0 million revolving credit facility that
matures on December 22, 2009. The rate of interest on borrowings under the credit facility is a
floating rate based on LIBOR. The Company's credit facility is secured by substantially all of its assets
as well as its ownership interests in substantially all of its subsidiaries, except its ownership interests in
Arch Western and its subsidiaries. The credit facility replaced the Company’s existing $350.0 million
revolving credit facility. At December 31, 2004, the Company had $69.0 million in letters of credit
outstanding which, when combined with the $25.0 million of outstanding borrowings under the
revolver, resulted in $606.0 million of unused borrowings under the revolver.

On October 22, 2004, the Company issued $250.0 million of 6.75% Senior Notes due 2013 at a
price of 104.75% of par. Interest on the notes is payable on January 1 and July 1 of each year,
beginning on January 1, 2005. The senior notes were issued under an indenture dated June 25, 2003,
under which the Company previously issued $700.0 million of 6.75% Senior Notes due 2013. The
senior notes are guaranteed by Arch Western and certain of Arch Western's subsidiaries and are
secured by a security interest in loans made to Arch Coal by Arch Western. The terms of the senior
notes contain restrictive covenants that limit Arch Western's ability to, among other things, incur
additional debt, sell or transfer assets, and make certain investments.

On July 31, 2004, the Company issued a five year, $22.0 million non-interest bearing note to
help fund the Canyon Fuel acquisition. At its issuance, the note was discounted to its present value
using a rate of 7.0%. The promissory note is payable in quarterly installments of $1.0 million through
July 2008 and $1.5 million from October 2008 through July 2009.
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The Company also periodically establishes uncommitted lines of credit with banks. These
agreements generally provide for short-term borrowings at market rates. At December 31, 2004,
there were $20.0 million of such agreements in effect, of which none were outstanding.

Aggregate contractual maturities of debt are $10.9 million in 2005, $4.1 million in 2006,
$4.0 million in 2007, $4.5 million in 2008, $29.5 million in 2009 and $950.0 million thereafter.

Terms of the Company’s credit facilities and leases contain financial and other covenants that
limit the ability of the Company to, among other things, effect acquisitions or dispositions and borrow
additional funds and require the Company to, among other things, maintain various financial ratios
and comply with various other financial covenants. In addition, the covenants require the pledging of
assets to collateralize the Company's revolving credit facility. The assets pledged inciude equity
interests in wholly-owned subsidiaries, certain real property interests, accounts receivable and
inventory of the Company. Failure by the Company to comply with such covenants could result in an
event of default, which, if not cured or waived, could have a material adverse effect on the Company.
The Company was in compliance with all financial covenants at December 31, 2004.

9. Fair Values of Financial Instruments

The following methods and assumptions were used by the Company in estimating its fair value
disclosures for financial instruments:

Cash and cash equivalents: The carrying amounts approximate fair value.

Debt: At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the fair value of the Company's senior notes and
other long-term debt, including amounts classified as current, was $1,000.6 million and
$728.5 million, respectively.

Interest rate swaps. The fair values of interest rate swaps are based on quoted prices,
which reflect the present value of the difference between estimated future amounts to be paid
and received. At December 31, 2004 and 2003 the fair value of these swaps are liabilities of
$12.4 million and $22.5 million, respectively. This liability is included in other noncurrent liabilities
in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

10. Accrued Workers’ Compensation

The Company is liable under the federal Mine Safety and Health Act of 1969, as subsequently
amended, to provide for pneumoconiosis (black fung) benefits to eligible employees, former
employees, and dependents. The Company is also liable under various states’ statutes for black lung
benefits. The Company currently provides for federal and state claims principally through a self-
insurance program. Charges are being made to operations as determined by independent actuaries,
at the present value of the actuarially computed present and future liabilities for such benefits over
the employees’ applicable years of service.

In addition, the Company is liable for workers’ compensation benefits for traumatic injuries that
are accrued as injuries are incurred. Traumatic claims are either covered through self-insured
programs or through state sponsored workers’ compensation programs.
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Workers’ compensation expense consists of the following components:;

2004 2003 2002

Self-insured black lung benefits:

SEIVICE COSt vttt $ 1,447 § 1491 § 916

Interest coSt . ... i 2,660 2,942 3,060

Net amortization ........... . i (1,080) (247) (639)
Total black lung disease. ... 3,027 4,186 3,337

Traumatic injury claims and assessments............ 18,725 14,008 9,038
Total Provision . .. ..o $21,752  $18,194 $12,375
Payments for worker’s compensation benefits . ..... ... $21,068 $17,072 % 9,856
Discount rate . ..o 6.00% 6.50% 7.00%
Costescalationrate .......... ... .. ... ... ... ... .. .. 4,00% 4.00% 4.00%

Net amortization represents the systematic recognition of actuarial gains or losses over a five year
period.

As discussed in Note 2, the Company recognized a pre-tax gain of $4.6 million in 2002 as a result
of a workers’ compensation premium adjustment refund from the State of West Virginia.

Summarized below is informaticn about the amounts recognized in the consolidated balance
sheets for workers’ compensation benefits:
December 31,

2004 2003
Black lung costs. ... $51,793 947,038
Traumatic and other workers’ compensation claims .............. 43,427 43,722
Total abligations . ... 95,220 90,760
Less amount included in accrued expenses............ooovun.. .. 12,774 13,088
Noncurrent obligations . . ... . $82,446 $77,672

The reconciliation of changes in the benefit obligation of the black lung liability is as follows:
December 31,

2004 2003
Beginning of year obligation ............. ... ... ... . $46,722  $46,856
SeIVICE COSt e 1,447 1,491
Interest CoSt ... 2,660 2,942
Actuarial gaim. . ... e (1,122) (1,243)
Benefit and administrative payments ............ .. ... ... {2,066) (3,324)
Net obligation atend of year ........... ... ... ... ... . ..., 47,641 46,722
Unrecognized gain ...................... P 4,152 316
ACCTUEd COSt ..ttt e $51,793  $47,038

Receivables related to benefits contractually recoverable from others of $0.4 million in both 2004
and 2003 are recorded in other long-term assets.
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11. Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company’s asset retirement obligations arise from the federal Surface Mining Control and
Reclamation Act of 1977 and similar state statutes, which require that mine property be restored in
accordance with specified standards and an approved reclamation plan. The required reclamation
activities to be performed are outlined in the Company’s mining permits. These activities include
reclaiming the pit and support acreage at surface mines, sealing portals at deep mines, and reclaiming
refuse areas and slurry ponds.

The Company records its asset retirement obligations at the time that they are incurred or
acquired. Obligations are incurred at the time that development of a mine commences for deep and
surface mines and at the time that construction begins for support facilities, refuse areas and slurry
ponds. The liability is determined using discounted cash flow techniques and is accreted to its then
present value each period. Accretion on the asset retirement obligation begins at the time the liability
is incurred. Amortization of the related asset is recorded on a units-of-production basis over the
mine’s estimated recoverable reserves.

The Company reviews its asset retirement obligation at least annually and makes necessary
adjustments for permit changes as granted by state authorities and for revisions of estimates of costs
and productivities. For ongoing operations, adjustments to the liability result in an adjustment to the
corresponding asset. For idle operations, adjustments to the Inabullty are recognized as income or
expense in the period the adjustment is recorded.

As discussed in Note 1, effective January 1, 2003, the Company began accounting for its
reclamation obligations in accordance with FAS 143. The cumulative effect of this change on periods
prior to January 1, 2003 resulted in a charge to income of $3.7 million (net of income taxes of
$2.3 million), or $0.07 per share, which is included in the Company's results of operations for the year
ended December 31, 2003. In addition, the net income of the Company, excluding the cumulative
effect of accounting change, for the year ended December 31, 2004 is $0.4 million (30.01 per share)
more than it would have been if the Company had continued to account for these obligations under
its old method. The net income of the Company, excluding the cumulative effect of accounting
change, for the year ended December 31, 2003 is $1.2 million ($C.02 per share) less than it would
have been if the Company had continued to account for these obligations under its old method. The
unaudited pro forma amounts below reflect the retroactive application of FAS 143 as if the Company
had adopted the standard on January 1, 2002 and the corresponding elimination of the cumulative
effect of accounting change:

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002

As Reported

Net income (loss) available to common shareholders  $106,519  $10,097  $(2,562)

Basic income (loss) pershare ..................... 1.91 0.19 (0.05)

Diluted income (loss) pershare ................... 1.78 0.19 (0.05)
Pro Forma

Net income (loss) available to common shareholders  $106,519  $13,751  $(5,322)

Basic income (loss) pershare ..................... 1.91 0.26 (0.10)

Diluted income (loss) per share ................... 1.78 0.26 0.10)
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The following table describes the changes to the Company’s asset retirement obligation for the

years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003: :
2004 2003

Balance at January 1 (including current portion) ............... $162,731  $125,440
Impact of adoption. ... ... i — 41,198
ACCretion eXPeNSe. . ...t 12,681 12,999
Additions resulting from property additions ................... 37,784 4,640
Adjustments 16 the liability from annual recosting ............. (1,571) (1,117
Liabilities settled .. .......c.oiiii (12,028) (20,429
Balance at December 31 ................... e 199,597 162,731
Current portion included in accrued expenses ................. {(19,632) (19,186)
Long-term Tability . ... ...t $179,965 $143,545

12. Employee Benefit Plans
Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans

The Company has non-contributory defined benefit pension plans covering certain of its salaried
and non-union hourly employees. Benefits are generally based on the employee’s age and compensa-
tion. The Company funds the plans in an amount not less than the minimum statutory funding
requirements nor more than the maximum amount that can be deducted for federal income tax
purposes.

The Company also currently provides certain postretirement medical/life insurance coverage for
eligible employees. Generally, covered employees who terminate employment after meeting eligibility
requirements are eligible for postretirement coverage for themselves and their dependents. The
salaried employee postretirement medical/life plans are contributory, with retiree contributions
adjusted pericdically, and contain other cost-sharing features such as deductibles and coinsurance.
The postretirement: medical plan for retirees who were members of the United Mine Workers of
America ("UMWA"} is not contributory. The Company’s current funding policy is to fund the cost of
all postretirement medicalllife insurance benefits as they are paid.

The Company uses a December 31 measurement date for its pension and postretirement benefit
plans. '
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Obligations and Funded Status. Summaries of the changes in the benefit obligations, plan
assets and funded status of the plans are as follows: '

Other Postretirement
Pension Benefits Benefits

2004 2003 : 2004 2003

CHANGE IN BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
Benefit obligations at January 1 ... $182,946 $166,807 $ 531,933 § 452,476

Service Cost ... 8,861 8,188 4,145 3,637
Interestcost . ............ ... .. 11,781 11,293 29,695 31,126
Plan amendments ............... 139 — — —
Acquisitions ... 23,380 — 10,748 —
Benefitspaid ................... (15,288) (11,791) (29,585) (26,286)
Transfer from Canyon Fuel Pension | .

Plan .. oo 57 4,038 — —
Other-primarily actuarial (gain) loss 6,187 4,411 {11,066) 70,980

Benefit obligations at December 31  $218,063 $182,946 $ 535,870  $ 531,933

CHANGE IN PLAN ASSETS :
Value of plan assets at January 1.. $151,126 $115,595 $ — 3 —

Actual return on plan assets .. .... 17,974 24,380 — —
Acquisitions ............. ...l 15,599 — — —
Employer contributions........... 21,641 18,904 29,585 26,286
Benefits paid ................... (15,288) (11,791) (29,585) (26,286)
Transfer from Canyon Fuel Pension o
Plan. .. ... 57 4,038 — —
Value of plan assets at :
December 31 ................. $191,109 $151,126 '$ . — % —
NET AMOUNT RECOGNIZED . ,
Funded status of the plans ....... $(26,954) $(31,820) $(535,870) $(531,933)
Unrecognized actuarial loss .. ... .. 34,683 34,239 129,753 159,642
Unrecognized prior service gain . .. - {886) {1,157) (3,992) (6,130)
Prepaid (accrued) benefit cost. .. .. $ 6843 § 1,262 $(410,109) $(378,421)
BALANCE SHEET AMOUNTS
Accrued benefit liabilities......... $(17,628) $(21,436) $(410,109) $(378,421)
Intangible asset (Other assets). . ... ’ 592 526 - —

Minimum pension liability
adjustment (accumulated other ‘
comprehensive income) .. .... .. 23,879 22,172 — —

Net asset (liability) recognized. . . . . 6,843 1,262 (410,109)  (378,421)
Less current portion ............. (6,843) (1,262) 29,685 - 26,324
Long term liability . ........... ... $ - 3 — $(380,424) $(352,097)
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Other Postretirement Benefits

The actuarial gain in 2004 resulted from impact of the Medicare Prescription Drug Act
implementation discussed below. The actuarial loss in 2003 resulted from changes in certain actuarial
assumptions, including an increase in the expected health care cost trend rate and a reduction in the
discount rate. '

Pension Benefits

The accumulated benefit obligation for all pension plans was $208.7 million and $172.7 million
at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Transfers from the Canyon Fuel Company Pension Plan represent transfers of the benefit
obligation (as actuarially determined) and related plan assets for employees who were transferred
from Canyon Fuel to Arch Coal in 2004 and 2003.

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost. The following table details the components of
pension and other postretirement benefit costs.

Year Ended Pension Benefits Other Postretirement Benefits

December 31, 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002
(in thousands)

Service cost...... $ 8,861 $ 8,188 $ 8,031 $ 4,145 $ 3,637 '$ 2,903

Interest cost .. ... 11,781 11,293 11,268 29,695 31,126 ‘ 24,265

Expected return
on plan assets* (14,539) (13,687) (12,336) — — —

Other
amortization
and deferral . .. 4,802 1,435 (284) 16,685 21,315 (3,171)

Net benefit cost $ 10,905 $ 7,229 §$ 6679 $50,525 $56,078 $23,997

* The Company does not fund its other postretirement liabilities.

Assumptions. The following table provides the assumptibns used to determine the actuarial
present value of projected benefit obligations at December 31.

Other
Pension Postretirement
Benefits Benefits

2004 2003 2004 2003

Weighted Average Assumptions:
Discountrate ....... ... 6.00% 6.50% 6.00% 6.50%
Rate of compensation increase . ............... ... 350% 3.75% N/A N/A
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The following table provides the assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for
years ended December 31,

Other Postretirement
Pension Benefits Benefits

2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002

Weighted Average Assumptions:

Discountrate ................... 6.50% 7.00% 7.50% 6.50% 7.00% 7.50%
Rate of compensation increase .... 3.75% 4.25% 4.50% N/A N/A N/A
Expected return on plan assets .... 8.50% 9.00% 9.00% N/A N/A N/A

The Company establishes the expected long-term rate of return at the beginning of each fiscal
year based upon historical returns and projected returns on the underlying mix of invested assets. The
Company utilizes Modern Portfolio Theory modeling technigues in the development of its return
assumptions. This technique projects rates of returns that can be generated through various asset
allocations that lie within the risk tolerance set forth by members of the Company's Pension
Committee. The risk assessment provides a link between a Pension’s risk capacity, management’s
willingness to accept investment risk and the asset allocation process, which ultimately leads to the
return generated by the invested assets. For the determination of net periodic benefit cost in 2005,
the Company will utilize an expected rate of return of 8.50%.

The following table provides information regarding the assumed health care cost trend rates at
December 31.

. 2004 2003
Health care cost trend rate assumed for nextyear .................... 8.00% 8.00%
Ultimate trend 1ate ... 500% 5.00%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trendrate .................... 2011 2010

The health care cost trend rate assumption has a significant effect on the amounts reported. For
example, increasing the assumed health care cost trend rate by one percentage point each year would
increase the accumulated postretirement obligation as of December 31, 2004 by $66.2 million, or
12.4%, and the net periodic postretirement benefit cost for 2004 by $4.0 million, or 7.9%.

Plan Assets. The Company's pension plan weighted average asset allocations at December 31,
2004 and 2003, by asset category are as follows:

Plan Assets at
December 31,

2004 2003
EQUItY SBCUNITIES ..t 67% @ 69%
Debt securities . ... e 28% 28%
Cash and equivalents .............ooiiiii ittt 5% _ 3%
Total. 100% 100%

The Company’s -Pension Committee (''the Committee”’) is responsible for overseeing the
investment of pension plan assets. The Committee is responsible for determining and monitoring
appropriate asset allocations and for selecting or replacing investment managers, trustees and
custodians. The pension plan’s current investment targets are 65% equity, 30% fixed income
securities and 5% cash. The Pension Committee reviews the actual asset allocation in light of these
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targets on a periodic basis and rebalances among investments as necessary. The Committee evaluates
the performance of investment managers as compared to the performance of specified benchmarks
and peers and monitors the investment managers to ensure adherence to their stated investment style
and to the plan's investment guidelines.

Cash Flows. The Company currently does not anticipate making any contributions to its pension
plan in 2005. ‘

The following represents expected future benefit payments, which reflect expected future
service, as appropriate:

Other

Pension Postretirement

Benefits Benefits
2005 L e $ 18,429 $ 29,274
2006 .. 19,636 28,441
2007 L e 19,793 30,794
2008 L e 20,487 31,832
2000 . 20,883 33,018
Years 2010-2014 ., .. . e 105,579 190,080

$204,807 $343,439

Impact of Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003. On
December 8, 2003, the President signed into law the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and
Modernization Act of 2003 ("'the Act”). The Act introduces a prescription drug benefit under
Medicare ("Medicare Part D'') as well as a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care benefit
plans that provide a benefit that is at least actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D. The Company has
included the effects of the Act in its financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2004 in
accordance with FASB Staff Position No. FAS 106-2, Accounting and Disclosure Requirements related
to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 ('FSP 106-2"").
Incorporation of the provisions of the Act resulted in a reduction of the Company’s postretirement
benefit obligation of $68.0 million. Postretirement medical expenses for fiscal year 2004 after
incorporation of the provisions of the Act resulted in an amount of $18.2 million less than that
previously anticipated (substantially all of which is recorded as a component of cost of coal sales). The
benefit for the year ending December 31, 2004 was partially offset by increased costs resulting from
changes to other actuarial assumptions that were incorporated at the beginning of the year.

Multi-employer Pension and Benefit Plans

Under the labor contract with the United Mine Workers of America (""UMWA"), the Company
made no payments in 2004, 2003 and 2002 into a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan trust
established for the benefit of union empioyees. Payments are hased on hours worked and are
expensed as hours are incurred. Under the Multi-employer Pension Plan Amendments Act of 1980, a
contributor to a multi-employer pension plan may be liable, under certain circumstances, for its
proportionate share of the plan’s unfunded vested benefits (withdrawal liability). The Company is not
aware of any circumstances that would require it to reflect its share of unfunded vested pension
benefits in its financial statements. At December 31, 2004, approximately 13% of the Company’s
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workforce was represented by the UMWA under a collectlve bargainmg agreement that is effective
through December 31, 2006.

The Coal Industry Retiree Health Benefit Act of 1992 ("'Benefit Act'’) provides for the funding of
medical and death benefits for certain retired members of the UMWA through premiums to be paid
by assigned operators (former employers), transfers of monies in 1993 and 1994 from an overfunded
pension trust established for the benefit of retired UMWA members, and transfers from the
Abandoned Mine Lands Fund (funded by a federal tax on coal production) commencing in 1995. The
Company treats its obligation under the Benefit Act as a participation in a multi-employer plan and
records expense as premiums are paid. The Company recorded expense of $6.0 million in 2004,
$5.1 million in 2003, and $3.2 million in 2002 for premiums pursuant to the Benefit Act.

Other Plans .

The Company sponsors savings plans which were established to assist eligible employees in
providing for their future retirement needs. The Company’s contributions to the plans were
$8.8 million in 2004, $8.3 million in 2003, and $8.4 million in 2002.

13. Capital Stock

On November 24, 2004, we filed a registration statement on Form S-3 with the Securities and
Exchange Commissicn. The registration statement allows us to offer, from time to time, an aggregate
of up to $1.0 billion in debt securities, preferred stock, depositary shares, purchase contracts,
purchase units, common stock and related rights and warrants.

On October 28, 2004, the Company completed a public offering of 7,187,500 common shares at
$33.85 per share. The proceeds from the offering, net of the underwriters’ discount and related
expenses, were $230.5 million. Net proceeds from the offering were used primarily to repay
borrowings under the Company’s revolving credit facility incurred to finance the acquisition of Triton
and the first annual payment under the Little Thunder lease, and the remaining net proceeds will be
used for general corporate purposes, including the development of the Mountain Laurel mine
complex in the Central Appalachia Basin.

~ On January 31, 2003, the Company completed a public offering of 2,875,000 shares of 5%
Perpetual Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock. The net proceeds realized by the Company from
the offering of $139.0 million were used to reduce indebtedness under the Company’s revolving
credit facility, and for working capital and general corporate purposes. Dividends on the preferred
stock are cumulative and payable quarterly at the annual rate of 5% of the liquidation preference.
Each share of the preferred stock is initially convertible, under certain conditions, into 2.3985 shares
of the Company's common stock. The preferred stock is redeemable, at the Company’s option, on or
after January 31, 2008 if certain conditions are met. The holders of the preferred stock are not
entitled to voting rights on matters submitted to the Company’s common shareholders. However, if
the Company fails to pay the equivalent of six quarterly dividends, the holders of the preferred stock
will be entitled to elect two directors to the Company’s board of directors.

On September 14,-2001, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase plan,
under which the Company may repurchase up to 6.0 miflion of its shares of common stock from time
to time. Through December 31, 2004, the Company repurchased 357,200 shares of its common
stock for $5.0 million pursuant to the plan at an average price of $14.13 per share. The repurchased
shares are being held in the Company’s treasury, which the Company accounts for using the average
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cost method. Future repurchases under the plan will be made at management’s discretion and will
depend on market conditions and other factors.

14. Stockholder Rights Plan

On March 3, 2000, the Board of Directors adopted a stockholder rights plan under which
preferred share purchase rights were distributed as a dividend to the Company’s stockholders of
record on March 20, 2000. The rights are exercisable only if a person or group acquires 20% or more
of the Company’s Common Stock (an ““Acquiring Person’’) or announces a tender or exchange offer
the consummation of which would result in ownership by a person or group of 20% or more of the
Company's Common Stock. Each right entitles the holder to buy one one-hundredth of a share of a
series of junior participating preferred stock at an exercise price of $42, or in certain circumstances
allows the holder (except for the Acquiring Person) to purchase the Company’s Common Stock or
voting stock of the Acquiring Person at a discount. At its option, the Board of Directors may allow
some or all holders(except for the Acquiring Person) to exchange their rights for Company Common .
Stock. The rights will expire on March 20, 2010, subject to earlier redemption or exchange by the
Company as described in the plan.

15. Stock Incentive Plan and Other Incentive Plans

Under the Company’s 1997 Stock Incentive Plan (the “‘Company Incentive Plan'),
9,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock were reserved for awards to officers and other
selected key management employees of the Company. The Company Incentive Plan provides the
Board of Directors with the flexibility to grant stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock
awards, restricted stock units, performance stock or units, merit awards, phantom stock awards and
rights to acquire stock through purchase under a stock purchase program (“Awards’’). Awards the
Board of Directors elects to pay out in cash do not count against the 9,000,000 shares authorized in
the Company Incentive Plan.

As of December 31, 2004, stock options, performance units, restricted stock units and price
contingent stock awards were the types of awards granted. Each is discussed more fully below.
Stock Options

Stock options are generally subject to vesting provisions of at least one year from the date of
grant and are granted at a price equal to 100% of the fair market value of the stock on the date of
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grant. Information regarding stock options under the Company Incentive Plan is as follows for the
years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 (Options in thousands):

2004 2003 2002
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Common Average Common Average Common Average
Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price
Options outstanding ‘
at January 1 ...... 4,622 $21.29 5,485 $20.85 3,153 $21.32
Granted............ ‘ 6 33.61 114 19.23 2,443 20.38
Exercised........... (1,658) 22.15 (771) 17.54 31 10.69
Canceled........... (5) 21.46 (206) 22.60 (80) 22.51
Options outstanding
at December 31. .. 2,965 20.85 4,622 21.29 5,485 20.85
Options exercisable at
December 31 ..... 1,783 $21.15 2,692 $21.94 1,115 $19.76
Options available for
grant at
December 31 ..... 2,677 2,981 2,886

The Company applies APB 25 and related Interpretations in accounting for the Company
Incentive Plan. Accordingly, no compensation expense has been recognized for the fixed stock option
portion of the Company Incentive Plan. The after-tax fair value of options granted in 2004, 2003 and
2002 was determined to be $0.1 million, $0.7 million and $14.9 million, respectively, which for
purposes of the pro forma disclosure in Note 1 is recognized as compensation expense over the
options’ vesting period. The fair value of the options was determined using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model and the weighted average assumptions noted below. Substantially all stock options
granted vest ratably over four years.

‘ 2004 2003 2002
Weighted average fair value per share of options granted .... $15.38 $833 $8.41
Assumptions (weighted average)
Risk-free interest rate ....... ... oo, 3.65% 2.84% 2.96%
Expected dividend yield . ...... ... .o il 1.0% 15% 2.0%
Expected volatility .......... .o 52.7% 535% 52.7%
Expected life (inyears) ... ... oo 5.0 5.0 5.0
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The table below shows pertinent information on options outstanding at December 31, 2004
(Options in thousands):

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Average Weighted Weighted
Remaining Average Average
Range of Number Contractual Life Exercise Number Exercise
Exercise prices QOutstanding (Years) Price Exercisable Price
$8.50-$10.69...... 159 4.46 $10.56 159 $10.56
$16.09-$21.95. . ... 1,103 7.10 18.82 484 19.55
$22.00-522.90. .. .. 1,561 4,94 22.71 1,012 22.78
$23.45-$35.30. .. .. 142 3.01 27.70 128 27.69
$8.50-$35.30...... 2,965 5.63 $20.85 1,783 $21.15

Performance Units

Performance stock or unit awards can be earned by the recipient if the Company meets certain
pre-established performance measures. Until earned, the performance awards are nontransferable,
and when earned, performance awards are payable in cash, stock, or restricted stock as determined
by the Company's Board of Directors. In January 2004, the Company granted performance unit
awards that are earned if the Company meets certain financial, safety and environmental targets
during the three years ending December 31, 2006. Amounts accrued during 2004 for these awards
totaled $3.1 million. During the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company’s Board of Directors approved
awards under a four-year performance unit plan that began in 2000 totaling $19.6 million (including
$1.9 million awarded to employees of Canyon Fuel), which was paid in cash in the first quarter of
2004.

Restricted Stock Unit Awards

On January 14, 2004 and January 30, 2004, the Company granted restricted stock unit awards
of 38,807 and 110,383 shares, respectively. The fair value of the units on the date of grants was
$30.88 and $27.62 per share, respectively. The restricted stock units require no payment from the
employee. Compensation expense is based on the fair value on the grant date and is recorded ratably
over the vesting period of three years. During the vesting period, the employee receives compensation
equal to dividends declared on common shares. Amounts accrued during 2004 for these awards
totaled $2.4 million.

On December 18, 2002, the Company granted a restricted stock unit award of 50,000 shares.
The fair value of the shares on the date of grant was $21.11 per share. The units will vest in their
entirety on January 31, 2008. The Company will recognize compensation expense in the amount of
the total fair value of the grant ratably over the vesting period of the award.

Price Contingent Stock Awards

On January 14, 2004, the Company granted an award of 220,766 shares of performance-
contingent phantom stock that vests only if the Company's stock price reaches an average pre-
established price over a period of 20 consecutive trading days within five years following the date of
grant. The award can be paid in either Company stock or in cash, at the discretion of the Company’s
Board of Directors. This grant has been accounted for in accordance with APB 25 in the accompany-
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ing financial statements. Under APB 25, no compensation expense is recorded for this type of award
until the performance contingency is met, If the performance contingency is met prior to the adoption
of FAS 123R on July 1, 2005, the Company will recognize compensation expense equal to the number
of shares multiplied by the stock price on the date the contingency is met.

16. Concentration of Credit Risk and Major Customers

The Company places its cash equivalents in investment-grade short-term investments and limits
the amount of credit exposure to any one commercial issuer.

The Company markets its coal principally to electric utilities in the United States. Sales to
customers in foreign countries were $134.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. As of
December 31, 2004 and 2003, accounts receivable from electric utilities located in the United States
totaled $127.7 million and $92.2 million, respectively, or 71% and 78% of total trade receivables for
2004 and 2003, respectively. Generally, credit is extended based on an evaluation of the customer’s
financial condition, and collateral is not generally required. Credit losses are provided for in the
financial statements and historically have been minimal.

The Company is committed under long-term contracts to supply coal that meets certain quality
requirements at specified prices. These prices are generally adjusted based on indices. Quantities sold
under some of these contracts may vary from year to year within certain limits at the option of the
customer. The Company and its operating subsidiaries sold approximately 123.1 million tons of coal in
2004, Approximately 76% of this tonnage (representing 70% of the Company's revenue) was sold
under long-term contracts (contracts having a term of greater than one year). Prices for coal sold
under long-term contracts ranged from $5.15 to $86.64 per ton. Long-term contracts ranged in
remaining life from one to 13 years. Some of these contracts include pricing which is above current
market prices. Sales (including spot sales) to major customers were as follows (in thousands):

2004 2003 2002
Progress Energy .. ... 228,203 165,514 77,076
AP 173,528 222,580 233,530
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17. Earnings (Loss) Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per common
share:

2004
Numerator Denominator * Per Share
(Income) (Shares) Amount
Basic EPS:
Netincome ........... ..ot $113,706 55,901 $ 2.04
Preferred stock dividends ...................... (7,187) {0.13)
Basic income available to common
shareholders . .................. S $106,519 1.91
Effect of dilutive securities: ,
Effect of common stock equivalents arising from
stock options and restricted stock grants. .. ... - 937
Effect of common stock equivalents arising from
convertible preferred stock .................. 7,187 6,896
Diluted EPS:
Diluted income available to common
shareholders ............ ... . ... ... . ... ... $113,706 63,734 $1.78
2003
Basic EPS:
Net income before cumulative effect of accounting
ChanNge . .o e $ 20,340 52,511 $0.39
Cumulative effect of accounting change ........... (3,654) (0.07)
Preferred stock dividends ..................... ... (6,589) _ (0.13)
Basic income available to common shareholders .. $ 10,097 $0.19
Effect of dilutive securities:
Effect of common stock equivaients arising from
stock options ... ‘ — 374
Diluted EPS:
Net income before cumulative effect of accounting
Change. ... $ 20,340 52,885 $0.38
Cumulative effect of accounting change ........... (3,654) (0.07)
Preferred stock dividends ........................ (6,589) (0.12)
Diluted income available to common shareholders  $ 10,097 $0.19
2002

Basic and diluted EPS:
NEt 10SS .« oot e e $ (2,562) 52,374 $(0.05)

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, 0.2 million, and 3.8 million shares, respectively, were not
included in the diluted earnings per share calculation since the exercise price is greater than the
average market price.

0-77




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
(In Thousands of Dollars Except Per Share Data)

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company had outstanding 2,875,000 shares of preferred
stock that are convertible, at the option of the holder, into 6,896,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock. The effect of the preferred stock was anti-dilutive, and therefore, not included in the
diluted earnings per share calculation for 2003.

For the year 2002, employee stock options did not have a dilutive impact because the Company
incurred a loss in that period.

18. Sale and Leaseback

On June 27, 2002, the Company sold certain mining equipment for $9.2 million and leased back
the equipment under operating leases with terms ranging from three to seven years. The leases
contain renewal options at lease termination and purchase options at amounts approximating fair
value at lease termination. The gain on the sale and leaseback was deferred and is being amortized
over the base term of the leases as a reduction of lease expense.

19. Related Party Transactions

The Company received administration and production fees from Canyon Fuel for managing the
Canyon Fuel operations through July 31, 2004. The fee arrangement was calculated annually and
approved by the Canyon Fuel Management Board. The production fee was calculated on a per-ton
basis while the administration fee represented the costs incurred by the Company’s employees related
to Canyon Fuel administrative matters. The fees recognized as other operating income by the
Company and as expense by Canyon Fuel were $4.8 million, $8.5 million and $3.5 million for the
years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Amounts receivable from Canyon Fuel
were $6.5 million as of December 31, 2003 and are classified as other receivables in the Consclidated
Balance Sheets. . ‘ ‘

From October 2002 through October 2004, the Company held an ownership interest in NRP. The
Company leases certain coal reserves from NRP and pays royalties to NRP for the right to mine those
reserves. Terms of the leases require the Company to prepay royalties with those payments
recoupable against production. Amounts recognized as cost of coal sales for royalties paid to NRP
during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 were $15.4 million, $12.6 million and
$2.1 million, respectively. Amounts paid to NRP and included in the accompanying balance sheet as
prepaid royalties as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 were $1.3 million and $1.5 million, respectively.

20. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company leases equipment, land and various other properties under noncancelable long-
term leases, expiring at various dates. Certain leases contain options that would allow the Company
to extend the lease or purchase the leased asset at the end of the base lease term. Rental expense
related to these operating leases amounted to $22.7 million in 2004, $17.4 million in 2003, and
$19.0 million in 2002. The Company has also entered into various non-cancelable royalty lease
agreements and federal lease bonus payments under which future minimum payments are due. On
September 22, 2004, the Company was the successful bidder in a federal auction of certain mining
rights in the 5,084-acre Little Thunder tract in the Powder River Basin of Wyoming. The Company'’s
lease bonus bid amounted to $611.0 million for the tract that is to be paid in five equal instaliments of
$122.2 million. The first $122.2 million installment was paid in September 2004 with the remaining
four annual payments to be paid in fiscal years 2006 through 2009. These remaining lease bonus
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payments are reflected below as a component of “‘Royalties”. The tract contains approximately
719.0 million mineable tons of high Btu, low-sulfur coal and is adjacent to the Company’s Black
Thunder mine.

Minimum payments due in future years under these agreements in effect at December 31, 2004
are as follows (in thousands):

Operating
Leases Royalties
2005 L $ 25,282 § 32,227
2000 . 23,310 155,466
2007 21,457 153,854
2008 . L 19,713 149,384
2009 ... ... N 16,073 148,603
Thereafter ... e 29,066 72,715

$134,901 $712,249

The Company is a party to numerous claims and lawsuits with respect to various matters. The
Company provides for costs related to contingencies when a loss is probable and the amount is
reasonably determinable. After conferring with counsel, it is the opinion of management that the
ultimate resolution of pending claims will not have a material adverse effect on the consolidated
financial condition, results of operations or liquidity of the Company.

The Company holds a 17.5% general partnership interest in Dominion Terminal Associates
("DTA'"), which operates a ground storage-to-vessel coal transloading facility in Newport News,
Virginia. DTA leases the facility from Peninsula Ports Authority of Virginia ("’PPAV") for amounts
sufficient to meet debt-service requirements. Financing is provided through $132.8 million of tax-
exempt bonds issued by PPAV (of which the Company is responsible for 17.5%, or $23.2 million)
which mature July 1, 2016. Under the terms of a throughput and handling agreement with DTA, each
partner is charged its share of cash operating and debt-service costs in exchange for the right to use
its share of the facility's loading capacity and is required to make periodic cash advances to DTA to
fund such costs. On a cumulative basis, costs exceeded cash advances by $13.9 million at
December 31, 2004 (such amount is included in other noncurrent liabilities). Future payments for
fixed operating costs and debt service are estimated to approximate $2.7 million annually through
2015 and $26.0 million in 2016.

In connection with the Company’s acquisition of the coal operations of Atlantic Richfield
Company ("ARCQ") and the simultaneous combination of the acquired ARCO operations and the
Company's Wyoming operations into the Arch Western joint venture, the Company agreed to
indemnify another member of Arch Western against certain tax liabilities in the event that such
liabilities arise as a result of certain actions taken prior to June 1, 2013, including the sale or other
disposition of certain properties of Arch Western, the repurchase of certain equity interests in Arch
Western by Arch Western or the reduction under certain circumstances of indebtedness incurred by
Arch Western in connection with the acquisition. Depending on the time at which any such
indemnification obligation was to arise, it could have a material adverse effect on the business, results
of operations and financial condition of the Company.
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21. Cash Flow

The changes in operating assets and liabilities as shown in the consolidated statements of cash
flows are comprised of the following:

2004 2003 2002

Decrease (increase) in operating assets:

Receivables ............. i $(31,570) $18,805 314,028

INVENTOries . ... .o, (12,422) (2,857) (6,666)
Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses.......... (6,780) 8,844 4,711)

Income taxes ................. T S (4,215)  (13,822)  (15,826)

Accrued postretirement benefits other than pension 18,019 27,558 (1,559)

Asset retirement obligations .................... (7,555) (20,606) 6,336

Accrued workers’ compensation ................. (1,257) (3,313) 2,217

Other noncurrent liabilities. ..................... (21,626)  (14,984) 1,547
Changes in operating assets and liabilities .......... $(67,406) $ (375 $ (4,634)

22. Segment Information

The Company produces steam and metallurgical coal from surface and deep mines for sale to
utility, industrial and export markets. The Company operates only in the United States, with mines in
the major low-sulfur coal basins. The Company has three reportable business segments, which are
based on the coal basins in which the Company operates. Coal quality, coal seam height,
transportation methods and regulatory issues are generally consistent within a basin. Accordingly,
market and contract pricing have developed by coal basin. The Company manages its coal sales by
coal basin, not by individual mine complex. Mine operations are evaiuated based on their per-ton
operating costs (defined as including all mining costs but excluding pass-through transportation
expenses). The Company's reportable segments are Powder River Basin (PRB), Central Appalachia
(CAPP) and Western Bituminous (WBIT). The Company's operations in the Powder River Basin are
located in Wyoming and include one operating surface mine (into which the North Rochelle mine was
integrated) and one idle surface mine. The Company's operations in Central Appalachia are located in
southern West Virginia, eastern Kentucky, and Virginia and include 14 underground mines and eight
surface mines. The Company’'s Western Bituminous operations are located in southern Wyoming,
Colorado and Utah and include four underground mines (one of which was idled in May 2004) and
two surface mines (which were both put into reclamation mode in 2004). '

Operating segment results for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002 are
presented below. Results for the operating segments include all direct costs of mining. Corporate,
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Other and Eliminations includes corporate overhead, land management, other support functions, and
the elimination of intercompany transactions.

Corporate,

December 31, Other and
2004 PRB CAPP WBIT Eliminations Consolidated
Coal sales ... $ 582,421 $1,126,258 $ 198,489 § — $1,907,168
Income from ‘

equity

investments — — 8,410 2,418 10,828
Income from

operations 72,441 39,196 18,145 48,264 178,046
Total assets .. 1,154,317 2,088,224 1,663,764 (1,649,770) 3,256,535
Depreciation,

depletion

and

amortization 78,074 62,761 24,113 1,374 166,322
Capital

expenditures 55,035 84,450 23,276 129,844 292,605
Operating

cost per

ton ....... 6.19 34.84 15.71

Corporate,
‘ Other and .

December 31, 2003 PRB CAPP WBIT Eliminations Consolidated
Coal sales ...... $409,352 ¢ 917,981 $ 108,155 % —  $1,435,488
Income from

equity

investments . . . — — 19,707 14,683 34,390
Income (loss)

from

operations . ... 57,118 (43,872) 22,951 4,174 40,371
Total assets .. ... 975,796 1,964,384 1,087,508 (1,640,039) 2,387,649
Equity

investments . .. — — 146,180 25,865 172,045
Depreciation,

depletion and

amortization .. 44,202 64,980 18,851 30,431 158,464
Capital

expenditures . . 18,351 47,527 8,971 57,578 132,427
Operating cost

perton....... 5.45 30.87 15.41
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Corporate,
‘ Other and
December 31, 2002 PRB CAPP ) WBIT Eliminations Consolidated
Coal sales ........ $390,097 $ 966,514 $113,440 § 3,507 $1,473,558
Income from equity '
investments. .. .. — — 7,774 2,318 10,092
Income from
operations. ..... 31,942 5547 -~ 21,842 (30,054) 29,277
Total assets....... 883,249 1,939,567 385,981 (1,025,989) 2,182,808
Equity investments — — 160,787 70,764 231,551
Depreciation, ’ '
depletion and
amortization . . .. 47,992 71,583 21,393 33,784 174,752
Capital ‘
expenditures . . .. 37,333 49,591 14,027 36,138 137,089
Operating cost per
ton............ 5.31 28.26 14.53

Reconciliation of segment income from operations to consohdated income (Ioss) before income
taxes and cumulative effect of accounting change:

‘ 2004 2003 2002
Total Segment Income from Operations . . e $178,046 340,371  $29,277
Interest expense. . ... ... (62,634) (50,133) (51,922)
INterest iNCOME . ... ovvee e 6,130 2,636 1,083
Other non-operating (expense) income ............. (7,966) 4,256 —
Income (loss) before income taxes and cumulative
effect of accountingchange ................ ... $113,576 $(2,870) $(21,562)

23. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

Quarterly financial data for 2004 and 2003 is summarized below:

March 31 June 30 September 30  December 31
(a)(b)c) (a)(b)(c) (a)(b)d) (a)(b)e)(f)(g)
2004: :
Coalsales...............:... $403,490 $422,778 $527,775 $553,125
Income from operations ... .. 106,909 24,870 26,335 19,932
Net income available to
common shareholders ..... 68,186 9,311 8,979 20,043
Basic earnings per common .
share(l) .................... 1.27 0.17 0.16 0.33
Diluted earnings per common
share(l) ................... 1.14 0.17 0.16 0.32
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March 31 June 30 September 30 December 3;1
(h)(i) (b)) (b)) {a)(b)(k)
2003: '
Coalsales ................... $327,390 $378,892 $354,276 $374,930
Income (loss) from operations . . (6,265) 9,367 6,526 30,743
Net income (loss) available to
common shareholders before
cumulative effect of
accounting change.......... (14,384) (3,254) 9,252 22,137
Net income (loss) available to
common 'shareholders . ... ... (18,038) (3,254) 9,252 22,137
Basic earnings (loss) per
common share(l)............ (0.34) (0.06) 0.18 0.42
Diluted earnings (loss) per
common share(l). ........... (0.34) {(0.06) 0.18 0.40

During 2004 and 2003, the Company sold its investment in Natural Resource Partners in four separate
transactions occurring in December 2003 and March, June and October 2004. The Company recognized a
gain of $42.7 million in the fourth quarter of 2003 and gains of $89 6 million, $0.3 million, $0.3 million and
$1.1 million in the four quarters of 2004, respectively.

In connection with the Company’s repayment of Arch Western's term loans in 2003, the Company
recognized expenses of $8.3 million and $4.3 miliion in 2004 and 2003, respectively, related to the costs
resulting from the termination of hedge accounting for interest rate swaps. For 2004, this amount was
recognized ratably throughout the year. For 2003, amounts recognized were $0.1 million in the second
quarter and $2.1 million in both the third and fourth quarters. During 2004 and 2003, the Company also
recognized expenses of $0.7 million and $4.7 million, respectively, related to early debt extinguishment
costs. Amounts for 2004 were recognized in the fourth quarter, while amounts for 2003 were recognized in
the second quarter. Additionally, subsequent to the termination of hedge accounting for interest rate swaps,
the Company recognized income of $13.4 million in 2003 ($1.0 million in the second quarter, $10.6 million
in the third quarter, and $1.8 million in the fourth quarter) related to changes in the market value of the
swaps.

During the year ending December 31, 2004, Canyon Fuel, which was accounted for under the equity
method through July 31, 2004, began the process of idling its Skyline Mine (the idling process was
completed in May 2004), and incurred severance costs of $3.2 million for the year ended December 31,
2004. The Company's share of these costs totals $2.1 million and is reflected in income from equity
investments. The impact on the 2004 financial results was a charge of $1.2 million during the first quarter
and a charge of $0.9 million in the second quarter.

During the third quarter of 2004, the Company was notified by the IRS that it would receive additional black
lung excise tax refunds and interest related to black lung claims that were originally denied by the IRS in
2002. The Company recognized a gain of $2.8 million ($2.1 million refund and $0.7 million of interest)
related to the claims. The $2.1 million refund was recorded as a component of cost of coal sales, while the
$0.7 million of interest was recorded as interest income,

During the fourth quarter of 2004, the Company assigned its rights and obligations on a parcel of land to a
third party resul_?ting in a gain of $5.8 million. The gain is reflected in other operating income.

During 2004, the Company filed a royalty rate reduction request with the BLM for its West Elk mine in
Colorado. The BLM notified the Company that it would receive a royalty rate reduction for a specified
number of tons representing a retroactive portion for the year totaling $2.7 million. The retroactive portion
was recognized as a component of cost of coal sales in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

In connection with the settlement of tax audits for prior years, the Company recorded interest income of
$2.2 million during the fourth quarter of 2004 related to federal income tax refunds. This amount is
reflected as interest income.
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On January 1, 2003, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 143, Asset
Retirement Obligations. Implementation of this pronouncement resulted in a curnulative effect of account-
ing change of $3.7 million (net of tax).

During the year ending December 31, 2003, the Company instituted ongoing cost reduction efforts
throughout its operations. These cost reduction efforts included the termination of approximately 100 em-
ployees at the Company's corporate headguarters and its Central Appalachia mining operations and the
recognition of expenses related to severance of $2.6 million. Of this amount, $0.6 million was recorded
during the first quarter of 2003, with the remainder recorded during the second quarter.

During the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company was notified by the State of Wyoming of a
favorable ruling relating to the Company’s calculation of coal severance taxes. The ruling resulted in a refund
of previously paid taxes and the reversal of previously accrued taxes payable. The impact on the 2003
financial results was a gain of $3.3 million during the second quarter and expense of $0.8 million in the third
quarter,

During the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company recognized expenses of $15.0 million for amounts earned
under a long-term incentive compensation plan.

The sum of the gquarterly earnings (loss) per common share amounts may not equal earnings (loss) per
common share for the full year because per share amounts are computed independently for each guarter
and for the year based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during each period.
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Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
(1,2,3,5) (1,2,4,5) (6,7,8) (9,10,11) (9.10,12,13)

(In thousands, except per share data)

Statement of Operations Data;

Coal sales revenues .......... $1,907,168 $1,435,488 $1,473,558 $1.403,370 $1,342,171
Income from operations ...... 178,046 40,371 29,277 62,456 73,984
Income (loss) before cumulative

effect of accounting change 113,706 20,340 (2,562) 7,209 (12,736)
Cumulative effect of

accounting change ........ — (3,654) — — —
Net income (loss) ............ 113,706 16,686 (2,562) 7,209 (12,736)
Preferred stock dividends .. ... (7,187) (6,589) — — —
Net income (loss) available to

common shareholders . ... .. $ 106,519 $ 10,097 § (2,562) % 7,209 $ (12,736)

Basic earnings {loss) per

common share before

cumulative effect of

accounting change ...... $ 1.91 § 26 $ (0.05) $ 15§ (0.33)
Diluted earnings (loss) per

common share before

cumulative effect of

accounting change ...... $ 1.78 § 26 % (0.05) $ 15 % (0.33)
Basic earnings (loss) per
common share .......... $ 1.91 % 19 3 (0.05) $ 15 % (0.33)
Diluted earnings (loss) per
common share .......... $ 1.78 % 19 % (0.05) $ A5 % (0.33)
Balance Sheet Data:
Total assets . .............. $3,256,535 $2,387,649 $2,182,808 $2,203,559 $2,232,614
Working capital ........... 355,803 237,007 37,799 49,813 (37,556)
Long-term debt, less current
maturities .............. 1,001,323 700,022 740,242 767,355 1,090,666
Other long-term cbligations 800,332 722,954 653,789 625,819 606,628
Stockholders’ equity ....... $1,079,826 $ 688,035 $ 534,863 § 570,742 $ 219,874
Common Stock Data:
Dividends per share ........ $ 2975 § 23 3 23 % 23 3 23
Shares outstanding at year-
end........ .. 62,143 53,205 52,434 52,353 38,173
Cash Flow Data:
Cash provided by operating
activities. ...l $ 146,728 $ 162,361 $ 176,417 $ 145661 $ 135,772
Depreciation, depletion and
amortization ............ 166,322 158,464 174,752 177,504 201,512
Capital expenditures ....... 292,605 132,427 137,089 123,414 115,080
Dividend payments ........ 24,043 17,481 12,045 11,565 8,778
Operating Data:
TJonssold................. 123,060 100,634 106,691 109,455 105,519
Tons produced ............ 115,861 93,966 99,641 104,471 100,060
Tons purchased from third

parties .............. ... 12,572 6,602 8,060 - . 5,569 5,084
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(1) During 2004 and 2003, the Company sold its investment in Natural Resource Partners in four

(3

)

separate transactions occurring in December 2003 and March, June and October 2004. The
Company recognized a gain of $42.7 million in the fourth quarter of 2003 and gains of
$91.3 million during 2004.

In connection with the Company's repayment of Arch Western's term loans in 2003, the
Company recognized expenses of $8.3 million and $4.3 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively,
related to the costs resulting from the termination of hedge accounting for interest rate swaps.
During 2004 and 2003, the Company also recognized expenses of $0.7 million and $4.7 million,
respectively, related to early debt extinguishment costs. Additionally, subsequent to the termina-
tion of hedge accounting for interest rate swaps, the Company recognized income of $13.4 mil-
tion in 2003 related to changes in the market value of the swaps.

During 2004, the Company assigned its rights and obligations on a parcel of land to a third party
resulting in a gain of $5.8 million. The gain is reflected in other operating income.

(4) On January 1, 2003, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

No. 143, Asset Retirement Obligations. Implementation of this pronouncement resulted in a
cumulative effect of accounting change of $3.7 million (net of tax).

(5) As discussed in Note 15, “Stock Incentive Plan and Other Incentive Plans,” the Company

(6)

=

recognized expenses of $5.5 million and $16.2 million under long-term incentive compensation
plans in 2004 and 2003, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company settled certain coal contracts with a
customer that was partially unwinding its coal supply position and desired to buy out of the
remaining terms of those contracts. The settlements resulted in a pre-tax gain of $5.6 million
which was recognized in other revenues in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

The Company recognized a pre-tax gain of $4.6 million during the year ended December 31,
2002 as a result of a workers’ compensation premium adjustment refund from the State of West
Virginia. During 1998, the Company entered into the West Virginia workers' compensation plan
at one of its subsidiary eperations. The subsidiary paid standard base rates until the West Virginia
Division of Workers’ Compensation could determine the actual rates based on claims experience.
Upon review, the Division of Workers’ Compensation refunded $4.6 million in premiums which
was recognized as an adjustment to cost of coal sales in the Consolidated Statement of
Operations.

During 2002, the Company filed a royalty rate reduction request with the BLM for its West Elk
mine in Colorado. The BLM notified the Company that it would receive a royalty rate reduction
for a specified number of tons representing a retroactive portion for the year totaling $3.3 mil-
fion. The retroactive portion was recognized as a component of cost of coal sales in the
Consolidated Statement of Operations. Additionally in 2002, Canyon Fuel was notified by the
BLM that it would receive a royalty rate reduction for certain tons mined at its Skyline mine. The
rate reduction applies to certain tons mined representing a retroactive refund of $1.1 million.
The retroactive amount was reflected in income from equity investments in the Consolidated
Statement of Operations.

At the West Elk underground mine in Gunnison County Colorado, following the detection of
combustion-related gases in a portion of the mine, the Company idled its operation on
January 28, 2000. On July 12, 2000, after controlling the combustion-related gases, the
Company resumed production at the West Elk mine and started to ramp up to normal levels of
production. The Company recognized partial pre-tax insurance settlements of $31.0 million
during 2000 and a final pre-tax insurance settlement related to the event of $9.4 million during
2001.

The IRS issued a notice outlining the procedures for obtaining tax refunds on certain excise taxes
paid by the industry on export sales tonnage. The notice was the result of a 1998 federal court
decision that found such taxes to be unconstitutional. The Company recorded $12.7 million of
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pre-tax income related to these excise tax recoveries during 2000. During 2001, the Company
recorded an additional $4.6 million of pre-tax income resulting from additional favorable
developments associated with these tax refunds.

(11) The Company recognized a $7.4 million pre-tax gain during 2001 from a state tax credit
covering prior periods.

(12) As a result of adjustments to employee postretlrement medical benefits, the Company recog-

nized $9.8 million of pre-tax curtailment gains in 2000 resulting from prewously unrecognized
postretirement benefit changes which occurred in prior years.

{13) During 2000, the Company settled certain workers' compensation liabilities with the state of
West Virginia partially offset by adjusting other workers’ compensation liabilities resulting in a
net pre-tax gain of $8.3 million.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND STOCKHOLDER INFORMATION

Common Stock

Our common stock is listed and traded on the New York Stock Exchange and also has unlisted
trading privileges on the Chicago Stock Exchange. The ticker symbol is ACI. The following table sets
forth for each period indicated the dividends paid per common share, the high and low sale prices of
our common stock and the closing price of our common stock on the last trading day of the period
indicated.

March 31,  June 30,  September 30, December 31,

Quarter Ended 2004 2004 2004 2004

Dividends per common share. . ... $.0575  $.0800 $.0800 $.0800
High. ... $32.89  $36.99 $36.93 $39.00
LOW .ot $26.20  $27.73 $30.10 $31.86
Close ..o $31.39  $36.59 $35.49 $35.54

March 31,  June 30, September 30, December 31,

Quarter Ended 2003 2003 2003 2003

Dividends per common share........ $.0575  $.0575 $.0575 $.0575
High .o $22.50 32455 $23.60 $32.20
Low ... $16.50 $17.18 $19.12 $22.06
Close ..o $19.01 $22.98 $22.21 $31.17

On March 1, 2005, our common stock closed at $43.50 on the New York Stock Exchange. At
that date, there were 9,902 holders of record of our common stock.

Dividends

In 2004, we paid dividends totaling $16.9 million, or $.2975 per share, on our outstanding
shares of common stock. In 2003, we paid dividends totaling $12.1 million, or $.23 per share, on our
outstanding shares of common stock. There is no assurance as to the amount or payment of
dividends in the future because they are dependent on our future earnings, capital requirements and
financial condition.

Code of Business Conduct

We have established a Code of Business Conduct which operates as our Code of Ethics and
which applies to all of our salaried employees, including our CEQ, CFO and Controller. The Code of
Business Conduct is available on our website at www.archcoal.com under the “Investors” section.

Corporate Governance Guidelines

Our Board of Directors has adopted Corporate Governance Guidelines which address various
matters pertaining to Director selection and duties. The Guidelines are available on our website at
www.archcoal.com under the “Investors” section.

Committee Charters

Each of the Audit, Personnel & Compensation and Nominating & Corporate Governance
Committees of our Board of Directors has adopted and maintains a written Charter. Each of these
Charters is available on our website at www.archcoal.com under the “investors’’ section.
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Stock Information

Questions by stockholders regarding stockholder records, stock transfers, stock certificates,
dividends or other stock inquiries (other than our Dividend Reinvestment and Direct Stock Purchase
Plan) should be directed to:

American Stock Transfer & Trust Company
59 Maiden Lane

Plaza Level -

New York, NY 10038

Toll-free Telephone: (800) 360-4519

Web Site: www.amstock.com

Requests for information about our Dividend Reinvestment and Direct Stock Purchase and Sale
Plan should be directed to:

&

American Stock Transfer & Trust Company
P.O. Box 922

Wall Street Station

New York, NY 10269-0560

Toll-free Telephone: (877) 390-3073
Website: www.amstock.com

Independent Auditors

Ernst & Young LLP -
190 Carondelet Plaza, Suite 1300
St. Louis, MO 63105

Certifications

The most recent certifications by our Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officers pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 are filed as exhibits to our Form 10-K for 2004. Our
Chief Executive Officer's most recent certification to the New York Stock Exchange was submitted on
May 20, 2004.

Document Copies

Copies of the above documents and the Company’s Securities and Exchange Commission
Form 10-K are available without charge. Requests for these documents, as well as inquires from
stockholders and security analysis, should be directed to: '

Investor Relations

Arch Coal, Inc.

One CityPlace Drive, Suite 300
St. Louis, MO 63141

(314) 994-2717

Fax: (314) 994-2878
www.archcoal.com
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STEVEN F. LEER
President and Chief Executive Officer

JOHN W. EAVES
Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer

C. HENRY BESTEN
Senior Vice President, Strategic Development

ROBERT J. MESSEY
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Other Officers

LARRY R. BROWN
Vice President and Chief Information Officer

BRADLEY M. ALLBRITTEN
Vice President, Marketing

SHEILA B. FELDMAN
Vice President, Human Resources

ROBERT G. JONES
Vice President—Law, General Counsel and Secretary

DAVID B. PEUGH
Vice President, Business Development

ROBERT W. SHANKS
Vice President, Western Operations,
esident, Arch Western Resources, LLC
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